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Note by the secretariat

1. The UNFCCC financial procedurest! require that a final audited statement of accounts
for the full financial period be provided to the Conference of the Parties as soon as possible
after the accounts for the financial period have been closed. They also stipulate that the
accounts and financial management of all funds governed by the financial procedures shall
be subject to the internal and external audit process of the United Nations.

2. The United Nations Board of Auditors has audited the financial statements for 2022.
The full text of the Board’s report and of the audited financial statements is included in the
annex and reproduced as received, with the original pagination. The secretariat’s response to
the audit recommendations is contained in the addendum to this document.2

3. The Subsidiary Body for Implementation is invited to take note of the information
contained in the audited financial statements and the report of the Board. It may also wish to
recommend appropriate actions in draft decisions on administrative and financial matters for
consideration and adoption by the Conference of the Parties at its twenty-eighth session, the
Conference of the Parties serving as the meeting of the Parties to the Kyoto Protocol at its
eighteenth session and the Conference of the Parties serving as the meeting of the Parties to
the Paris Agreement at its fifth session.

1 Decision 15/CP.1, annex I.
2 FCCC/SBI/2023/INF.9/Add.1.
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Note
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Report of the Board of Auditors on the financial statements:

audit opinion

Opinion

We have andited the financial statements of the United Nations Framework
Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) which comprise the statement of
financial position (statement I) as at 31 December 2022, the statement of financial
performance (statement IT), the statement of changes in net assets (statement IIT),
the cash flow statement {statement I'V) and the statement of comparison of budgets
te actual amounts (statement V) for the year then ended, and notes to the financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of UNFCCC as at 31 December 2022, and
its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Infernational Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS).

Basts for Opinien

We conducted our amdit in accordance with Imternatiomal Standards om
Auditing (ISA) and the International Standards of Supreme Awudit Institufions
(ISSAT). Our responsibilities under those standards are described in the Aunditor’s
Eesponsibilities for the Andit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We
are independent of UNFCCC in accordance with the ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the financial statements and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropniate to provide a basis for
OUr CpImion.

Informanen other than the Financial Starements and Auditor s Report thereon

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the financial report for the year ended 31 December 2022 included m
chapter IV, but dees not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information
and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility 1s
to read the other information and, in deing so, consider whether the other
information 15 materially imconsistent with the financial statements or ocur
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If based on the work we have performed. we conclude that there iz a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report i this regard.

Responsibilities of the Management and Those Charged with Governance for the
Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in accordance with IPSAS and for such intemnal control as
Management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from materal misstatement. whether due to frand or error.

In preparing the financial statements, Management 13 respomsible for
assessing UNFCCC’s ability to continue as a going concem, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concem basis of
accounting unless Management either intends to liquidate UNFCCC or to cease
operations, of has no realistic alternative but to do so.
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Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing UNFCCC's
financial reporting process.

Anditor’s Responsibilities for the Andit of the Financial Statements

COhr objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatements, whether due to frand
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes owr opinion. Reasonable
assurance 15 a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraund or emor and are considered material if
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with [SAs, we exercise professional
Judgment and mamtain professional scepticism throughout the andit. We also:

(a) Identify and assess the risks of material musstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to frand or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The sk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than
for one resulting from error, as fraud may imvelve cellusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal
control;

(b) Obtain an understanding of infemal control relevant to the andit i order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
UNFCCC’s internal control;

(c) Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounfing eshmates and related disclosures made by
Management;

(d) Conclude on the appropriateness of Management's use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained.
whether a matenial uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on UNFCCC’s ability to continue as 2 going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertanty exsts, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify ouwr opinion. Cur conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of cur auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may canse UNFCCC to cease to continue as
1 going concern; and

(2} Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the finaneial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner
that achieves fair presentation.

We commumicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and fiming of the andit and sigmficant andit findings.
mncluding any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
andit.
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Furthermore, in our opinicn, the transactions of UNFCCC that have come
to our notice or that we have tested as part of our audit have, in all significant
respects, been in accordance with the Financial Regnlations and Rules of UNFCCC
and legislative authority.

In accordance with Article VII of the United Nations Financial Regulations
and Bules, we have also 1ssued a leng-form report on our audit of UNFCCC.

5

Auditor General of the Pecple’s Fepublic of China
Chair of the Board of Auditors

f.? U st

Pierre Moscovici
President of the French Cour des comptes
(Lead Auditor)

1Y | M

Jorge Bermudez
Comptroller General of the Republic of Chile

26 July 2023
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Chapter I1
Long-form Report of the Board of Auditors

Summary

The United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) is
an international environmental treaty adopted in 1992 that entered into force n 1994,
Its ohjective is to stabilize greenhouse gas concenfrations in the atmosphere at a level
that will prevent dangerous human interference with the climate system. The Board of
Aunditors (Beard) andited the financial statements and rewviewed the operations of
UNFCCC for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Audit epinion

The Board has issued an umeualified audit opimion on the fmancial statements for
the peried under review as reflected in chapter L

Overall conclusion

Total revenue have increased by 21 per cent, reaching $112.7 million. UNFCCC
15 mainly fimded through contributions and service fees. In 2022, total contributions
amounted to $75.8 million. These contributions included $33.6 million of indicative
contributions and $40.2 million of voluntary contnibutions. The total revenue increase
15 mainly due to the growth of voluntary contributions. Total expenses have increased
by 42 percent. reaching $132.5 million. This increase s mainky due to the transfer of $20
million to the adaptation fimd and to the retum to normal activities after the Covid-19
pandemic. The total deficit noted m 2022 amoumted to $19.8 million representing 17 per
cent of total revenues received in 2022,

The 2022 financial statements were presented for audit on 31 March 2023, The
Board highlighted and discussed a mumber of 1ssues when reviewing the financial records
of UNFCCC for the year ended 31 December 2022 that were well adjusted by UNFCCC
in the final financial records submitted om 31 May 2023.

Eey findings

Budget and finance

The Board noted the need for several changes in the draft financial statements. m
the notes to the financial statements as well as in the supporting documentation shared
The UNFCCC Secretanat agreed to put in place the actions necessary to enhance the
quality assurance review of the financial statements closing process.

UNFCCC's draft statement of changes in net assets (statement IIT) recorded a
transfer of § 20 million to the Adaptation Fund of the World Bank, but the draft statement
of financial performance (statement IT) did not recognize an equivalent expense.
Following technical exchanges on the applicable accounting freatment, the UNFCCC
Secretanat adjusted its financial statements and notes m lme with the recommendations of
the Board. The Board considers that the addifional information provided complies with
IPSAS requrements.

However, from a broader perspective, the Board notes that this adjustment
lhastrates the difficulties that can arise from the mcreasing complexity of the global
clmate finance landscape and the governance of climate fimds under the responsibility of
the Conference of the Parties.
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Risk Management

The UNFCCC Secretaniat’s risk management framework is outdated and should
notably address three major categories of strategic nsks.

The first cne concems resource risks. Critical risks on resources melude notably the
fact that (i) UNFCCC is facmg difficulties to receive ifs core budget's indicative
contributions m due time, (i} an increasingly important share of the budget relies on
supplementary resources, even for mandated activiies, the collechion of wlich seems
diffienlt and falls far short of the targets set, and (i1} imderspending in some areas and
msufficient reporting to donors could set in, hampermg fimdraising efforts.

A second area of strategic misks 1s of a reputational natme, m the conclusion of
parmerships and the crgamization of the Conference of the Parties. Indeed. the choices
made may jecpardize UNFCCC’s credibility and by nicochet the Convention process itself.
The Secretariat has lately given increasing consideration to the issue, and up-graded its
due diligences. However, the appetite for nsk m this matter still needs to be better defined

A third category concems risks ansing from the absence of jundical persomality of
UNFCCC Secretariat on the mternational plane. UNFCCC Secretaniat has an established
mstitutional linkage with the United Nations which provides a basis for its day-to-day
fimctioning. Clanfications have been obtamed which confirm UNFCCC Secretanat’s
ability to issue its own admimstrative instructions as deemed necessary for improved
controls and efficiencies. This relative autononty induces specific nsks for the UNFCCC
Secretanat, considenng its size and the very large scope of the nules at stake.

UNFCCC Secretariat should also better address the nsks linked to cybersecunty
and to the evolving role of the Regonal Collaboration Centres.

The quality of UNFCCC”s risk management framework at corporate level needs to
be mproved. A mere mature nsk management would mean among other thimgs, (1)
embedding with mternal control and the prevention and handling of misconduct, frand and
coruption, () strengthening oversight, and (i) better articulating with the wider
accountability framework.

Aecess rights to Umoja

Despite the UNFCCC Secretaniat’s efforts to follow of the rules issued by the United
Nations Secretaniat aimed at securing access rights to the Umoja Enterprise Fessource
Planminz IT system. the Board idenfified that some difficulties persist, inclading on
derogations from the prnciple of segregation of duties where greater formalization and
compensatory controls are needed.

Recommendations

The Board has made 11 new recommendations based on its audit. Details of
how they can be implemented are provided throughout the report, notably in
paragraphs immediately following the formmlation of each recommendation. The
Board recommends that TNFCCC:

Budget and finance

(2) formalize a suitable quality assurance process on the financial
statements, notes and financial report:

(b} focus the information in the financial statements notes to its own assets
and financial performance on investments;

Risk Management

(c) define and implement a due diligence process to clear all types of
financial and mnon-financial contributions, commitments and
partnerships with non-Parties stakeholders:
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(d) systematically request to include provisions in Conference of Parties’
host country agreements stipulating that its opinion would be sought on
the sponsoring parmerships:

(2} secure without delay its sub-delegation of authority frameworks;

(f) identifv, assess and mitigate in a svstemic manner critical risks of a
strategic nature, including those concerning finamcial resources,
partnerships and the legal environment:

(g} define and implement mitigation measures to better address
evbersecurity risks;

(h) enhamce its oversight on risks linked to the evolving role of Regional
Collaboration Centers:

(1) better prevent the risks of frauwd, corruption and misconduct by
enhancing and updating detection and treatment svstems:

(33 adopt its own risk management policy with the objectives of reinforcing the
global oversight om risks and better articulating it with the wider
accountability framework.

Access rights to Umaja

(k) conduct a review of all Umoja related UNFCCC relevant internal
processes and rules to mitigate risks related to access rights.

Previous recommendations

Cut of 30 outstindmg recommendations, 14 have been fully implemented
(representing 47 per cent of oufstanding recommendations, compared to 28 per cent in
2021).

Key facts

%112.7 million PFevenue
$132.5 million Expenses
$19.8 million Deficit for the year
%264.7 million  Assets
%170.4 million  Liahilities
%043 million Total net assets
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Mandare, scope and methodology

1. The United Nations Framework Comvention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) 1s an
mnfernational environmental treaty that entered into force mm 1994. Its objective is to
stabilize greenhouse gas concentrations i the atmosphers at a level that will prevent
dangercus man interference with the climate system. In 1997, the Kyoto Protocol has
been conchided and established legally binding obligations for developed countries to
reduce their greenhouse gas emussions. In 2015, the Pans Agreement has adopted
governing emission reductions as from 2020 by means of couniries committing to
Maticnally Determined Contributions. The work of UNFCCC is facilitated by its
secretanat located in Bonn, Germany.

2. The Board of Auditors (Board) has audited the financial statements of TNFCCC and
reviewed its operations for the year ended 31 December 2022 in accordance with General
Assembly resolution 74 (I) of 1946. The audit was conducted in conformity with Article
VI of the Financial Fegnlations and Fules of the United Nations and the amnex thereto
and In accordance with the Infternational Standards on Aundiing (ISA) and the
International Standards of Supreme Andit Institions (ISSATs). These standards require
that the Board comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to cbtan
reasonable assurance as to whether the finamcial statements are free from material
misstatement.

3. The andit was conducted primanly to enable the Board to form an opinion as to
whether the financial statements presented fairly the financial position of UNFCCC as at
31 December 2022, mn accordance with the International Public Sector Accounfing
Standards (IPSAS). This mclheded an assessment as fo whether the expenses recorded m
the financial statements had been inciored for the purpeses approved by the bodies and
whether revenue and expenses had been properly classified and recorded in accordance
with the Umited Mations Fmnancial Fegulations and Fules and financial procedures
approved by the Conference of the Parties (COF) in Decizsion 15/CP.1 and IPSAS. The
audit mchuded a general review of the financial systems and internal controls and a test
examination of the accounting records and other supporting evidence to the extent that
the Beard considered necessary to form an opimion on the financial statements.

4. In addition to auditing accounts and financial transactions, the Board carmed out
reviews of the UNFCCC operaticns under United Nations Financial Regulation 7.5. This
enables the Board to make observations with respect to the efficiency of the financial
procedures, the accounting system internal financial controls and, in general, the
admuimstration and management of UNFCCC operations. The Beard also followed up on
1ts previous recommendations. These matters are addressed in the relevant sections of this
report.

5. The mudit was camed out at the premises and remotely from 03 to
16 December 2022 and from (3 to 21 April 2023. This included the final audit of the
financial statements. The UNFCCC andit meluded a review of the intemal contrels and
accounting systems and procedures only to the extent considered necessary for the
effective performance of our examination.

6. The findmgs and observations should not be regarded as representing a
comprehensive statement of all the weaknesses which may exist m the financial and
management systems at UNFCCC, or as idenfifying all improvements which could be
made to the systems and procedures.

7.  The Board's observations and conclusions were discussed with the UNFCCC
Secretaniat whose views are appropriately reflected im the report.
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B. TFollow-up of previous recommendations and findings

1. Previous recommendations

2. Asat 31 December 2022, there were 30 outstanding recommendations. 16 from the
audit report on financial year 2021, and 14 from previous exercises. The detailed follow-
up of these recommendations is presented in the annex to this report.

9. The mplementation rate of previous recommendations has improved compared to
the previous year even if it still remains low. Fourteen recommendations have been
implemented (representing 47 per cent of the cutstanding recommendations, compared to
28 per cent m 2021), while twelve remain wmder mplementation (40 per cent), three are
not implemented {10 per cent) and one can be considered as overtaken by events (3 per
cent). Seven of the mplemented recommendations relate to the adoption of new policies,
following the policy review carmed-out by the UNFCCC Secretanat in 2021, a process
which requires time to be implemented.

10. The Board is confident that the UNFCCC Secretariat will remain fully commuitted
to contimung its efforts to mmplement the recommendations made m the most effective
and expeditions mamner possible.

11. The recommendation 2021-133 wgmg the UNFCCC Secretanat to “include the
project of establishing an environmental management system based on an infernationally
recognized standard in the nextworkplan™is considered as being implemented. The Board
will nevertheless come back to fhus issue, In order to wenfy progress made m
implementing this project.

1. Budget and finance

12. The financial overview shows a total deficit of $19.8 million representing 17 per
cent of total revenues received in 2022, and that net assets have increased by 23 mullion
at year-end 2022 (see section 2.1).

13. Adjustments during the audit were substantial and comprise the accounfing
treatment of a $20 million donation to the Adaptation Fund, illustration of the growing
complexity of climate finance (2.2).

14. The quality check of the financial statements closmg process shows that the
UNFCCC Secretaniat needs enhance its quality assurance review process fo fully
implementrecommendations in previcus Board reports regarding the insuance and the
implementation of a quality assurance process, (2.3).

15. In terms of financial disclosure on mvestment, the Board noted the need to improwve
UNECCC specific information in the notes for the reader of the financial statements (2 4).

21. Financial overview

Revenue and axpenses

16. Total revenue have increased by 21 per cent, reaching $112.7 million (in 2021- $92.8
millien). UNFCCC is mamly fimded through contributions and service fees. In 2022, total
confmbutions amoumted to $75.8 million (in 2021: $67.8 millien). These contributions
included $35.6 million (in 2021: $37.1 million) of indicative contributions and $40.2
million (in 2021: $30.7 mllion) of vohmtary contnbutions. UNFCCC collected Clean
Development Mechansm (CDM) and jomt muplementation (JI} service fees of $32.1
million {in 2021: $22.9 million). The total revenue increase is mainly due to the growth
of voehmtary contributions, wiile the decrease of indicative contnbutions is due to the
exchange loss on euros contributions valumg lower m US dollars.

10
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17. Total expenses have increased by 42 percent, reaching $132.5 million (in 2021:
$93 .5 million). This increase is mainly due to the transfer of $20 million fo the adaptation
fimd as per decision of the Conference of the Parties serving as the meeting of the Parties
to the Kyoto Protocol (CMP) of 13 November 2021 (2(CMP.16). In addition to this
transfer, the expenses have mcreased in 2022 due to the retum to normal activities after
the Covid-19 pandemic. As travel restriction were eased i 2022, most of mestings and
events were conducted physically generating an expense of $12 4 million while only the
COF was held physically the previous year (im 2021: 35.7 million). The other
increases are related to the confractual services amounting to $24.2 million (n 2021:
$20.7 million), the operating expenses amounting to $6.4 nullion (in 2021: $2.2 million)
and the foreign exchange and investments amounting to $6.0 (2021: $2.7 million).
Figure 1.1

Eevenue and expenses
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Source: Analysis made by the Board on the basis the UNFCCC financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2022,

18. In 2022, the reveme/expenses ratio is lower than m 2021 mostly due to a transfer of
$20 million in 2022 from CDM Trust Fund to the Adaptation Trust Fund as per decision
of the Conference of the Parties serving as the meeting of the Parties to the Kyoto Protocol
(CMF) of 13 MNovember 2021 (2/CMP.16). The accounting of this operation raised
questions that are detailed below.

19. The total deficit noted in 2022 amomted to $19.8 million representing 17 per cent
of total revennes received in 2022,

Aszets and liabilities

20. As of 31 December 2022, the two mam elements of the UNFCCC assets are cash
and mvestment balances, winch totaled $233.1 mullion (m 2021: $248 0 mulhon), and
$£232 million of confributions receivables (m 2021: $21.8 mullion). Contributions
receivables represent amounts already due and the cutstanding owver the lifetime of curment

agreements with donors, of which an amount of $4.1 million {in 2021: $2 4 million) is
due in more than one year.

21. The cash and investment balances are managed under a cash pool armangement
operated by the United Nations Secretariat im New York. The retuns on the UNFCCC
cash balances and investments totaled $4.0 million (m 2021: §1.0 million).

22, The most sigmficant component of UNFCCC liabilifies results from employes
benefits liabiliies of $130.9 million (i 2021: $165.8 million). The employes benefits
liabilities represent obligations mcurred at year-end, the largest element being the
estimate cost of after-service health insurance (ASHI) of $120.0 million (i 2021: $152.9
million). The effect of an ncreased discount rate resulted m an overall net actuanal gan

11
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of $40.9 million (in 2021 gain of $6.2 million) cn the ASHI liability as disclosed in note
2 of the financial statements.

23, The second most significant liability of UNFCCC relates to the advance receipt of
condiional vohmtary contributions of $19.3 million (in 2021: $18.2 million) as presented
m note 11. In accordance with IPSAS 23, the advance receipts represent agreements
where the revemme is recognized when the conditions set out in the agreements are met m
fimre financial periods. Seen from UNFCCC's perspective, these advance receipts
Tepresent commitments to denors for the provision of future services. The recognized
amount represents UNFCCC's best estimate that would be required to settle the
obligations defimed in the condifions of the agresments.

24. The Board™ amalysis of capital structure mtios (table IL1} shows that, despite the
competitive environment for donor fimds, the curent financial position of UNFCCC
remams sound, with an mproved asset to labaities ratio of 1.55 (1.34 m 2021). The
analysis of ratios shows relative consistency over the last financial years, with a lower
cash ratio at year-end of 4.13 (3.01 m 2021).

Table L1
Capiral structure ratios

- . 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 Decembear
Description of ratio N 2011 2020 2018

Total assets: total lishilities 135 134 1.31 1.37

Aszgats: liabilites
Current ratio 4.65 5.61 620 6.16
Current assefs: current
lizbilities
Quick ratio 453 540 6.10 6.02
Cash + short-term
mvestments + accounts
receivable: current liabilitiss
Cash ratio 413 50 536
Cash + short-term
myestments:
current liabilities
Sewrce: Board's caloulations based on the UNFCCC financial statements for 2022, 2021, 2020 and
2019,
3 A high ratie is a good indicator of solvency.
b A high ratio indicates an entity’s ability to pay off its current lisbilites.
¢ The quick ratio is more conservative than the current ratio because it exclundes inventory and other
current assets, which are more difficult to turn into cash. A higher ratio means 3 more liquid current
pasition.
d The cash ratio is an indicator of an entity's liguidity. It serves to messure the amount of cash, cash
equivaleats or invested fumds available in current assets to cover cument liabilities.

Ln
[
[=1
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Figure ILIT
Development of investments during the yvears 2018-2022 (Millions of United States
Dollars)
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Source: Analysis made by the Board on the basis the UNFCCC financial statements for 2022, 2021,
2020 and 201%9- accrued interests are excludad.

25, Total mvestments, handled by the Unated Mations Secretariat, have decreased by 10
per cent in 2022 from $220.7 million to $199.6 million (see table 3 above). Long-term
mvestments have increased signmificantly (37 per cent) while shori-term ones have
decreased (28 per cent). Cash and cash equivalents have increased from $27.2 million to
$33.5 million.

Net assets

26. Net assets have increased by $23.2 million at year-end 2022 compared to 2021.The
figure below shows that the increase in net assets is prmanly noted in the decrease of
UNFCCC Employee Liabilities Trust Fund related to the net actuarial gain on the ASHI
Liability (see §22) aswell as the improvement of net assets of the Supplementary Activities
Trust Fumd.

Figure ILIIT

Net assets by fund (Thousands of United States dollars)
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Source: Analysis made by the Board on the basis the UWNFCCC financial statements for 2022, 2021
and 2020.
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Adjustments during the andit

27, Inthe course of the audit of UNFCCC’s financial statements and report for the year
ended 31 December 2022, the Board noticed several tramsactions that-needed to be
correcteddn the draft financial statements, and requested that appropriate comections be
made.

Accounting of a $20 million denation to the Adaptation Fund of the World Bank

28, UNFCCC draft financial statement ITT {changes in net assets and equty) recorded a
transfer of 120 million to the World Bank, however the draft statement IT (financial
performance) did not recognize an equivalent expense. The itial explanation provided
by UNFCCC Secretanat did not comply with IPSAS. The UNFCCC Secretanat agreed to
make the adjustments to its financial statements and notes, m line wath the
recommendations of the Board The Board considers that the addifional information
provided and the comection made fo the financial statements 1s fully compliant with
IPSAS requirements.

29, UNFCCC acts as a trustee for the Trust Fund for the Clean Development Mechamism
(“CDM Fund™). and the World Bank similarly for the Adaptation Fund. The revemme,
expenditure, assets and liabilities of the CDM Fund are recorded within UNFCCC
Financial Statements.

30. In2021, the COP/CMP decided a transfer of $20 million from the CDM Fund to the
Adaptation Fund (CMP decision 2(CMP.16.2 §20). The legal form chosen for the transfer
was a donation. The donation agreement was signed between UNFCCC and the World
Bank on 16 November 2022.

31. This operation was difficult to assess during the audit as UNFCCC had mitially
recorded this fransaction not as a donation but as a direct transfer from its accunmilated
surplus to the Adaptation Fund. As already menfioned above, no expense had been
recognized m the draft statement IT (financial performance).

32, After the Board identified the issue, the UNFCCC Secretariat provided the following
explanations regarding this treatment:

- although the CDM Fund and the Adaptation Fund are administered separately,
the COP/CME is the commeon governing body for both of them:

- adonation agreement was the only instrument acceptable for the World Bank,
but the fransaction remained in essence and substance an inter-trust fimd
transfer and not an expense;

- anexpense can be mourred only when it meets the objectives of the Secretariat
as listed m its 2022-2023 biemmium work programme. The $20 mullion transfer
was not incleded in the objectives of the 2022 work programme of the
Secretariat, so that UNFCCC considered it could not recognize the transaction
as an expense.

33. The Board considered that the UNFCCC’s explanation did not comply with IPSAS
Tequirements.

34. Although being the common governing body of the CDM Fimd and the Adaptation
Fund, the COP/CIMP has no direct control over the assets of these two fimds. Indeed.
UNEFCCC on one hand and the World Bank on the other, are fwo separate accounting
entities, each having a separate control of their respective assets. According to IPSAS 1
§7. “assets are resources controlled by an entity as a result of past events and from which
fiture economic benefits or service potential are expected to flow to the entity™. If the
UNECCC Secretariat were to state that COP/CMP, and not itself, had effective control
over the CDM Fund’s assets, or that UNFCCC did not expect any futme economic
benefits or service potential from these assets, then the latter should not have been

recognized as such within UNFCCC financial statement ITT.

35. When stating that the transaction remamed an mter-trust fund transfer and not an
expense, the UNFCCC Secretanat did not provide an IPSAS defimtion of such “inter-
trust transfer”.
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36. According to IPSAS 1 §7, “expenses are decteases in economic benefits or service
potential duning the reporting period in the form of outflows or consumption of assets or
mcurrences of liabilities that result in decreases in net assets/equity. other than those
relating to distributions to owners.”™ If the assets of the CDM Fund are recognized on the
face of the UNFCCC financial statement 11T, then the transaction fulfills all the conditions
of an IPSAS expense on the face of the statement IT because: (1) for UNFCCC, the
domation agreement represents clearly a “decrease in economic benefits or semvice
potential during the reporting period in the form of cutflows or consumption of assets™
and (11} in the absence of one and same reportmg entity confrolling the assets of both
fimds, the transaction cannot be recognized as a redismbution of accummilated surplus (Le.
a direct transfer to and from a common owner).

37. This applies to the “transfer” of $20 million from the CDM Fund to the Adaptation
Fund as per CMP decision 2/CMP.16.2 § 20, in compliance with IPSAS 1. The Board
therefore concluded that this operation shall be recogmized as an expense in UNFCCC
financial statement IT.

38 On that basis, the UNFCCC Secretariat decided to make an adjustment to its
financial statement I by recognizing an expense of $20 million (as disclosed in the
“return/transfer of donor/CDM Trust Funding™ and m Table 39 of the note 18).

39. The Board considers that the additicnal information provided is compliant with the
IPSAS 1 requirements.

Ilustration of the growing complexity of climate finance

40. From a broader perspective, the Board notes that this adjustment illustrates the
difficulties that can anse from the increasing complexity of the global climate finance
landscape and the governance of climate fimds vmder the responsibility of the COP.

41. The growing complexity of climate finance has regularly been underlined by many
stakeholders and observers.! In a recent report, the United Nations Secretariat underlines
notably that: “Climare fimds under the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate
Change and the Pariz Agreement, such as the Green Climare Fund, must play a eritical
role of delivering to developing countries. (...} There are cwrrently around 73 public or
partially public climate fimds, with 62 multilateral fimds disbursing only 33 billion to $4
illion in total in 2020. Af present, they do not coordinate effectively.” 2

43 The reports of the Standmg Committes on Finance, established to assist the COP in
exercising its fimetions in relation to the Financial Mechanism of the Convention, clearly
document this pattem. The figure below illustrate how public and prvate fimds,
mtervening through mmitilateral, regional, bilateral, domestic or other chanmels,
contmbute directly or indirectly to the different objectives of the climate agenda,
financing, with a vanable level of completedness, cleaner energy, sustainable transport,
climate-frendly infrastructure, construction and industries, among others.

! See for instance CFF2-2023-EMNG-Global-Architecture pdf (climatefundsupdate.org).
* Onr Common Agenda Policy Brief §, Reformes to the Internationzl Financial Architecture, May 2023,
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Figure LIV
Climate finance flows in 2019-2020

Climate finonce flows in 2015-2020
{Billicas of United Stotes dofars, annucized)

Source: J0156_UNFCCC BAS 2022 Summary_Web_AW pdf.

43. The difficulty for the UNFCCC Secretariat in identifying the relevant accounting
treatment of the $ 20 mullion transfer to the Adaptation Fund is part and parcel of the
complexity of the governance of the climate fimds within the COP’s responsibility.

44. UNFCCC, as secretaniat of a global process that rules on climate finance, could be
considered as the apex body of this architecture. In practice however, streamlining this
landscape would imply an involvement of the COP at the highest level. The UNFCCC
Secretanat currently focuses on the transition from the clean development mechanism
inherent to the Kyoto Protocol. to the mechanism set up by article 6.4 of the Pans
Agreement. allowing countries to cooperate with each other to achieve emission reduction
targets set out in their nationally determined contributions.

45. The Board will revert to the issue of the role of the UNFCCC Secretariat on climate
finance m the broader perspective of its ongoing structural reforms (“fit-for-purpose™
ambition).

Other adjustments

46. The UNFCCC Secretariat had overstated its voluntary contnbution receivables by
$2.6 million and understated the other receivables by the same amount. Even though the
total accounts receivables balance was correct. the Board recommended UNFCCC to
correct the presentation of Note 6. UNFCCC accepted the recommendation and corrected
the amounts in the final version of the financial statements.

47. As regards cash and cash equvalents and investments statements. UNFCCC had
proceeded to an off-balance reclassification of the accrual of investment revenue ($1.18
mullion) in the notes from the assets held cash pool (short-term investments) into an “other
accounts receivables” section. The United Nations Secretanat financial statements (Vol.
I). based on the IPSAS 1 and IPSAS 28, report the accrual of investment revenue as part
of Investments assets in the current assets. The Board also noted the same presentation in
UNFCCC 2021 financial statements for $0.2 mullion. As financial statements shall present
a fair presentation of financial position, financial performance and cash flows set out in
IPSAS, the Board recommended that the UNFCCC Secretanat present the accrued
mterest among the current investments assets in order to be comparable with the UN main
cash pool positions, as well as add an explanation in the notes regarding the 2021 amounts.
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The UNFCCC Secretanat accepted this reconmendation and corrected the amownts for
2022.

48 UNFCCC outstanding voluntary contributions amounts to $14.3 million as at 31
December 2022, with a related Allowance For Doubtfil Account (AFDA) of $0.026
mulhon. The UN approach for allowance for doubtfil vohmtary contnbutions recervables
accounts as per the IPSAS policy framework 15 as follows (UN IPSAS Accounfing
mamzal, chapter 13}):

- Specific idenftification - Provisionmg will first go through specific
identification of accounts receivable;

-  Agng: The policy gmdance is b5 percent allowance for receivables
outstanding longer than 12 months, 60 percent for receivables cutstanding
longer than 24 months and 100 percent for receivables ontstanding longer than
36 months.

49 Applying the UN IPSAS policy guidance on the agemng of UNFCCC outstanding
vohmtary contributions as at 31 December 2022 would lead to an AFDA of $1.4 nullion.
In accordance with the principle of prudence when determining at vear end the reasonable
amount of cash to be collected from recervables, the Board recommended that the
UNFCCC Secretaniat provide an analysis of ifs past expenience with similar types of
sponsors and donors and its assessment regarding the probability that the payment will
oceur, notwithstanding that the fiunds have not been transferred at the reporting date. The
UNFCCC Secretanat provided its own nsk and history analysis supporing the level of
allowance of $0.026 nulhon booked at year end and showing that the rest of the accounts
receivables balances $14.3 million do not require any provision for doubtful debts.

50. In2022, UNFCCC disposed four intangible assets of $2.3 million among which two
assets of total of $0.5 million are still in use and will not be effectively decommissioned
until the end of 2023. As the net value of these assets is equal to $0 smee they are fully
amortized, and as UNFCCC has indicated that the assets will be decommissicned m 2023,
the Board recommended to UNFCCC to add an explanation about the un-decommissioned
asset in the note 9 and to proceed to the firll deconmmissioning of these two assets m 2023
UNFCCC accepted the recommendation and added a note on thas subject m table 20, note
9.

31. Furthermore, the Board has have issued vanous comments on UNFCCC's annual
financial reperting for the year ended 31 December 2022 and in particular, on the
consistency and the correct presentation of the notes to the financial statements.

32, UNFCCC has reviewed the differences and revised its financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2022. The Board acknowledges the adjustments inchaded m the
final version of the financial statements for 2022 dunng the clearance process and has
adjusted in accordance with its inifial observations on the presentation assessments
mentioned above.

Quality check of the financial statements closing process

33. The Boeard noted the need for a number of changes in the draft financial statements.
in the notes to the financial statements as well as in the supporting documentation shared.

34, UNFCCC has to deal with a significant munber of stakeholders, including Member
States, vohmtary donors, employees, consultants, and different fimds with ther specific
mechanism, ncluding the special accounts for cost recovery and programme support
costs, as well as the Clean Development Mechanism fimds. Vanous mamial accounting
post-elimmation operations are necessary fo ensure proper neutralization of infemal
transactions (as for the cost recovery fimd) and relevant presenfation of advances,
payables and recervables account balances in the financial statements.

35, The Board have found that on many of these post-ebmination operations, 1t was not
possible to identify the source of data or the rationale for such elimination on the
supporting Excel workbooks provided by UNFCCC. Some information was missing in
these workbooks, while some other information was incomplete.
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56. The imitial documentation and draft financial statements provided to the Board
durng the financial audit final nussion was not of a sufficient quality and led to time-
consuming iterations with the auditee.

57. The UNFCCC Secretariat s needs to confinue enhancing the financial statement
quality review process to implement quality assurance process recommendafion by the
Board n last year's report. The amm of such review should be to ensure the accuracy of
accounting methods, the consistency of the wording used in the financial statements, the
accuracy of figures presented in the financial report, the completeness of the information.
the individual information ameng the report themselves as well as prier-year reports.

58. According to the Amnex I to the UN Financial Eegulations and Fules “The Board of
anditors and its staff shall have free access at all comvenient times to all books, records
and other documentation which are, in the opimon of the Board, necessary for the
performance of the andit.”

59. Sharmg of complete files contaning the entire notes to financial statement
preparation process (notes tabs and details) and idenfifying the significant post-
eliminations (nature, short descrpfion) would make the venfication of the financial
statements and accomming methods more efficient within the allotted time. The lack of
appropriate mformation compromises the obtention of a reliable audit trail. The draft
financial statements cught to be validated by appropriate staff who have not been invelved
in their preparation. and the UNFCCC Secretariat should ensure the availability and
comrect transmission to the Beard of all the information required for the finaneial audit.

60. The Board recommends that the UTNFCCC Secretariat formalize a suitable
quality assurance process on the financial statements, notes and financial report.

61. Forthe 2023 anmual financial statements, the Board considers that, to be timely, this
quality assurance, based on the closing mstmctions shared by UNOG, should be finalized
at the latest by March 2024, and identify the actions to be taken and timelmes, as well as
the quality control plan on the financial documentation ahead of the intervention of the
Board.

62. The UNFCCC Secretariat accepted the recommendation, stating that it is willing to
use a formal euality assurance checklist for firture financial statements submissions.

Financial disclosure on investments

63. UNFCCC mvestments are managed by UN Headouarters. Each year UNFCCC
books its mvestment amounts. The gains and losses ansing from changes in the fair value
of financial instruments are included within the statement of financial performance n the
peticd m which they arise. The change in conditions in 2022 led to a decrease in the
muarket-to-market valuation of financial assets, which result in investment losses of $2.7
million In this regard, UNFCCC agreed to add appropriate mformation on financial
losses in the final version of the notes to the financial statements. The accounting standard
on the presentation of financial statements (TIPSAS 1) recommends that §128 “Notes shall,
as far as practicable, be presented in a systematic manner. Each item on the face of the
statement of financial position, statement of financial performance, statement of changes
m net assets’equity and cash flow statement shall be cross-referenced to any related
mformation in the notes.” In addiion. IPSAS 1 allows to add notes on “mfomation about
items that do not qualify for recognition in those statements™ and other explanatory notes
(521-f). Furthermore, IPSAS 30 on Fmancial Instimment Disclosure notes that §9 “an
enfity shall provide sufficient information to penmit reconciliation to the lme items
presented In the statement of financial position™ and §10 “an entity shall disclose
mformation that enables users of its financial statements to evaluate the significance of
financial instruments for its financial position and performance™.

64. The notes to the financial statements reflect in several tables the sunmmary of assets
and habilities of the main Cash pools managed by the UN Treasury unit, their anmmal
performance and their mterest rate nsk sensitnaty analysis. Tables 3, 6, 8, 9 and 10 show
mformation about the main cash pool, while tables 11, 15 and 16 show only information
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about UNFCCC financial instruments. Furthermore, amenmts related to the mam poel do
not correspond to the sub-totals of the assets and cash flow statement of financial position
of UNFCCC.

65. U headcuarters has confirmed the possibility to provide tables with only UNFCCC
Secretanat portion of the pool alongside with the pool total amounts.

66. The Board recommends the UNFCCC Secretariat to focus the information in
the financial statements notes to its own assets and financial performance on
mvestments.

67. The UNFCCC Secretariat accepted the recommendation and noted that m order to
fully implement the recommendation. it is dependent on the availability of information
that 1s provided by UN headquarters.

Risk Management

68. The audit of the UNFCCC Secretanat’s nsk management has forused on three areas:

- the comprehension of the key risks at stake and the current challenges regarding
some key strategic risks (see section 3.1;
- the implementation to date of the enterprise risk management tools at corporate
level and the way other nsk management tools have been developed mn some
divisions and articulated with the corporate framework: (3.2);
- and the bepefits of a more mature nsk management, allowing a better
articulation with the wider accoumtability framework, including in the areas of
imtemnal control, strategic programmimg, tudgeting and performance (3.3).
69. The UNFCCC Secretanat’s risk management framework is outdated and should
notably address three major categories of strategic msks:

- resource nsks,

- reputational risks, notably in the conclusion of parmerships and the organization
of the COP,

- and msks ansing from the absence of jundical perscmality of UNFCCC
Secretanat on the international plane and its reliance on the instifutional linkage
with the United Naticns which provides the basis for the day to day fimctioning
of the UNFCOCC Secretaniat.

Strategic risks facing UNFCCC

70.  Pisk management at UNFCCC cannot be assessed without a good understanding of
the main risks mvolved and of therr dynamics (a). Critical nisks to address in prionty at a
strategic level melude issues related to core and supplementary resources, reputaticnal
threats linked to the conchosion of parmerships and the organization of the COP, as well
as the legal framework concerming the absence of juridical persemality of TNFCCC
Secretanat on the international plane and the imstitnfional nkage with the United Nations
(b).

a) Better grasping UNFCCC’s risk universe

71. The work cn nsk identification and management at the Umted MNations was
structured progressively, notably with the adoption of the 2012 Enferpmse Fisk
Management (ERM) policy. The UNFCCC Secretanat acknowledged the need to address
nisk management in 2017, when it developed its first enterprise risk management tools.

72. The UNFCCC Secretariat’s nsk management cannot be assessed without first
having a good wmderstanding of the key nsks faced by the enfity m achieving its
objectives. UNFCCC acts n an umstable environment, which carmies several risks. The
main strategic risks identified by UNFCCC, stated in its financial statements for 2022, are
the following:
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- geopolitical situation and/or energy and economic cnsis INpingng on parties’
commutment to urgently combating climate change;

- unclear or incoherent approach to the development of the secretamat as an
organization in support of the implementation of the Pars Agreement;

- unpredictable or insufficient financial rescurces to finance all relevant mandates
from parties.

73.  Answenng the Office of Internal Oversight Service (OI05) annual mterview guide
i September 2022, UNFCCC also underlined that “Public perception on how climate
neutral and environmentally friendly Conference of the Parties are organized and how
participants travel to the respective destmations have a hnge mmpact on the public image
of the UNFCCC. The same is true for potential partnerships and donor fimds from the
fossil fuel mdnstry.”

74. The nsks UNFCCC 15 facing can be classified accordmg fo dufferent crtema:
endogenous versus exogenous nsks, recument versus one-time nsks, sfrategic versus
operational nsks.

75. E=xogenous nisks might be harder to deal with. For instance, the support of parties to
combat climate change cammot be addressed by the UNFCCC Secretamat with a
comprehensive response; only a few preventive actions can be taken, and only in cases
where UNFCCC has room for manceuvte on the identification of the best orgamisation to
fulfil its mandates. Smularly, m the context of a nsing mandate as decided by the
Conference of Parties, the UNFCCC Secretanat has very limited control over the amoumnt
of 1ts core budget voted by the Parties, whilst it is responsible for raising supplementary
fimds.

76. FRecurrent nsks appear easier to anficipate. For instance, the Conference of Parties’
perception by the public is an anmual nsk that UNFCCC has to face, whereas handling an
exceptional cnsis such as the Covid-19 pandemics canmot be subject to the same
anticipation and has been qualified as “unique event”.

77, Another useful categonisation of nisks can differentiate nsks of a strategic nature, m
the sense that they may affect the core of UNFCCC missions, and nsks of a more
operational nature.

T8. A first assessment of these strategic nisks has been carmed out when the only to date
corperate risk register was established m 2017. This register identified three very high
nisks (out of 19): parmenng activities, extrabudgetary fimding and management and
crganizational transformation. The informal nisk assessment of UNFCCC through OIOS’
report confirms that several nisks of a strategic nature remamed eritical such as the nsks
linked to the availability of resources to achieve the objectives mandated by the Parties or
the reputational msks Imked to partmerships or selection of contnbutors, which may
Jeopardize UNFCCC’s credibility and the convention process itself Moreover, nsks arise
from the specific status of UNFCCC.

b} Addressing in priovity three categories of critical risks at a strategic level

79. Cnptical nsks to address in priority at a strategic level nclude issues related to
mobilizing core and supplementary resources, reputational threats linked to the
conclusion of parinerships and the orgamization of the COP, as well as the legal
framework concerning the absence of jundical personality of UNFCCC Secretanat on the
mternafional plane and the msafhonal Imkage with the Umted Nahons.

i. Resource risks

20. Cnfical nsks on resources mclude notably the fact that (1) UNFCCC 15 facing
difficulties to recemve 1fs core budget's indicafive contmbufions m due time, (1) an
mcreasmgly mportant share of the budget relies on supplementary resources, even for
mandated activifies, whose raising appears difficult and well below targets, and (ui)
underspending in some areas and insufficient reporting to donors could set in, hampenng
fimdraising efforts.
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Core contributions

£1. On budgetary matters, UNFCCC 15 torm between several issues which hinder its
capacity to achieve the objectives set by Parties. The risk raises of not being able to keep
up with the mcrease in mandates and mstitwtional work due to resource constramts,
especially concemmg core resources. The fimctioning of UNFCCC Secretanat 1s very
different from the UN Secretariat which has a regular budget for admimistrative functions.
Moreover, the trend is to extend UNFCCC’s mandate in the context of accelerating the
fight against climate change, without increasing Parties” indicative contributions and
relying mereasmgly on impredictable and unsustzmable supplementary  fimds.
Meanwhile, some difficulties m the management of the supplementary budget were alse
noted.

22, UNFCCC biennmm budget for the implementation of activiies mandated by Parties
has been divided in four categories:

- essential activities (category 1);

- long-term activities (category 2);

- short-term activifies (category 3);

- complementary activities (category 4).

83. The first two categories are to be covered by the “Trust Fund for the Core Budget”™,
while the third even though this mcludes mandated activities, and the fourth are supposed
to be covered by the “Trust Fund for Supplementary Activities”. The core budget is
fimded by the Parties’ mdicative contributions, and the supplementary activities by
vohmtary contributions from parties and non-party donaors.

8. In additon UNFCCC mmplements specific activities funded by other fimds,
mcluding: International Transaction Log: Clean Development Mechamism: Joint
Implementation; Special Account for Conferences and other recoverable costs; Bonn
Fund; Trust Fund for Parficipation; Programme Support Cost Fund; the budget for
activities under Article 6, paragraph 4, of the Pans Agreement.

85. A first category of resource risks is linked to the fact that UNFCCC is facing
difficulties to receive its core budget’s indicative contnibutions in due time.

26. On the one hand Parties can withdraw from the Convention, the Kyoto Protocol or
the Panis Agreement. This nsk occurred recently with the largest contmbutor’s withdrawal
from the Pans Agreement: annowmced in Jime 2017, the decision tock effect from
November 2020 to February 2021.

£7. On the other hand, some arrears have been outstanding for several years. For the
fiscal year 2022, 78 percent of the core budget’s mdicative contributions from the Parties
have been collected. As at 1" Aprl 2023, UNFCCC still needed to collect EUR
13,429 860 and $ 134,810 from the Parties in contributions to its core budget (excluding
the outstanding contmbutions for the fiscal year 2023). Chtstanding contributions older
than two years (1996 — 2021) amount to EUR. 3,582,758 and $ 134,810,

88. The gap between the approved budget and the received fimding in due time
confmbutes to hinder programme implementation and achievement of objectives. This
should be dealt with at the planming stage. In the nsk register 1ssued m 2017, the failure
to receive cash contributions was already identified as a crifical nsk. It entals an
operational constraint as contributions are received late. The actions taken to tackle this
nsk seem unforimately not sufficient, beyond the mentioning to the Parties, durmg the
sessions of the Subsidiary Body for Implementation (SBI), of the high level of outstanding
contributions.

Supplementary resources

29. A second category of resource nsks is linked to the fact that the share of
supplementary resources in the budget for mandated activities has increased throughout
the years while the raising of these funds remams difficult and well below the targets. For
the bienniim 2024-2025, the proposed core budget amounts to EUE 82.7 nullion, while
the projected supplementary budget represents EUR. 145.2 million, representing 173
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percent of the proposed core budget. Indeed the need to cover categonies 1 and 2 increased
heavily due notably to the expansion of UNFCCC’s mandate, inflation and staff salaries
revaluation.

20. UNFCCC has endeavored to propose an integrated program budget broken down
between core budget and supplementary budget. Three scenamnos have been bt for the
core budget, including cne proposed to validation by Parties:

- am “actal needs” scenano of the Secretanat, which comes to EUR. 1226 mullion
and covers the categories 1 and 2;

- @ “mandated zero nominal growth™ scenano which retams the core budget to
EUF 62.3 nulhion, at the same nonumnal valee as for the bienmium 20222023,
covers 50.8 percent of the actual needs and results m a 19 percent reduction of
the core budget when considering the cost increases;

- and a “proposed core budget” scenarie which comes to EUR 82.7 million,
covers 674 percent of the needs and shifts a very large part of the category 2
activities to supplementary fimding.

91. However, a reliable forecast of the supplementary budget that will effectively be
available for allocation cannot be readily generated Indeed, UNFCCC has difficulties to
sacure its supplementary fimding. as it is raised on a voluntary basis from Parties and non-
Party stakeholders. For the bienmium 3022-2023, the gross requirement expressed for
supplementary fimding was EUR. 135 million, the fimdraising target (requirement net of
avallable grant balance) was EUR. 76 mullion and the amount effectively raised by April
2023 was EUR. 24 million i.e. 32 percent of the fimdraising target.

The funding of Subsidiary Bodies conferences

UNECCC Secretamat faces new challenges in financing the yearly sessions of the
Subsidiary Bodies (5Bs). The SB36 conference costed a fotal of million § 5.4, including
% 1.0 for the participation of representatives of developing countries.

In the past the 5Bs conferences cost for logistical amangements (excluding the
participation of representatives of developing countries) were covered mainly by the
Bonn Fund, that is supposed to finance additional cost ansing from the location of
UNEFCCC m Bonn, including the orgamization of UNFCCC events (EUE. 3.6 mullion
granted by the German govemment for every biennmmm).

However, the cost of orgamisation of the SBs sessional meetings increased in recent years
due to mses i the cost of the parficipants. SB agenda, mandated events, conference
vemue, labour costs, global supply chain issues, virtual platforms mvelved, broader
mflation and COVID-19 measures.

For the SB36 conference, § 1.2 million came from the Boon Fund and UNFCCC had a
EUR 2.9 million fimding gap to fill. Less than one month before the event, UNFCCC
requested supplementary fimding from the Parties and non-Parties stakeholders. It also
used § 0.2 million of available unearmarked funding.

In addition, in order to pay the suppliers, especially the World Conference Centre Bonn,
UNECCC had to temporally advance $ 3.1 nulhon taken from the Programme Support
Cost Fimd. This loan was almost entirely retumned to the Fund when UNFCCC succeeded
to raising the required funding. The balance will be paid when the value added tax claims
are settled.

This example illustrates the difficulties of budget planning ansng from the lack of
predictable resources covering the funding needs of recurrent events, implying a lot of
efforts trying to find altemative solutions, m a context of cost increase and without
prejudice to the conchasion that could be drawn from an assessment of the relevance of
the design and price of the event.

Potential underspending and insufficient reporting to donors

92. Uncertainty about the financing of activities weakens the management of projects
and can paradoxically alse result m an inder-execution of supplementary funds that, m
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tum, can jeopardize the ability to raise fimds on the long-term. This vicious circle is
acknowledged by UNFCCC, which, in its draft priontized workplan for 2023, identified
several risks linked to supplementary fimds seeking, such as: “overall low axpenditure
rate by divisions (30 percent as of 31 December 2022 for the year 2022) under several
key donor granis”.

23. UNFCCC’s budgeting process does not prevent some under-consumption of fimds
in specific areas. For instance, the divisions Mitigation and Means of Inmplementation
respectively spent 24 and 27 percent of ther 2022-2023 mtegrated budget for mandated
activities in 2022. This simation is notably due to delays in some projects and
recruitments, as well as to difficulties to mobilise the stakeholders targeted by a project
in order to deliver the expected outputs. In the case of projects fimded through the transfer
of § 55 nmllien from the Trust Fund for the Clean Development Meachamsm. followmg a
decision from the COP (2/CMP.16), the consumption rates versus proposed amounts for
2022 were respectively 30, 10 and 0 percent for projects SB-014990, SB-019082 and SB-
019083.

24. Reporting on resource nisk is also key and needs to be improved and coupled with
reporting on programme achievements. The nsk “exfrabudgetary finding and
management” 1dentified in the nsk register issued m 2017 as cnfical, shll appears
relevant; nevertheless, some of the mitigation measures identified have not yet been fully
implemented six years later, such as the capacity to provide a sufficient and timely
reporting. The issue on reportng is still accurate, as indicated in the nsks identified m the
2023 draft priontized workplan for UNFCCC wluch states “insufficient/delayed donor
reporting that undermines resource mobilization opporfunities and the secretariar’s
creditability to deliver”. This insufficient donor reporting has been observed on a sample
of projects: for the five projects reviewed, the details n narrative reports are vanable;
Information provided in section “achievements and measurable reports” 1s insufficient
regarding the nature and mmber of beneficianes or stakeholders mvolved m the project
for mstance.

93, The Board consider that these risks affecting resources are crifical and should be
addressed at strategic level (see recommendation below §164).

ii. Reputational risks linked to the conclusion of partnerships and the
organization of the COP

96. A second area of strategic nsks is of a reputational nature, m the conclusion of
partnerships and the crganization of the COP. Indeed, the choices made may jeopardize
UNECCC’s credibulity and by ricochet the Convention process itself. The Secretariat has
lately given increasing consideration to the issue, and wp-graded ifts due diligence.
However, the appetite for nisk in this matter stll needs to be better defined.

Conclusion of parterships and selection of non-Party contributors

97. Meeting the Pans Agreement goals mmplies achieving net-zero emission. To
develop stronger and clearer standards for non-State entities, the UN Secretary-General
appointed a High-Level Expert Group that in November 2022, the experts issued a report’
concluding that to achieve the objective, the targets must cover all types of greenhouse
gas emissions and all scopes. UN entities were also asked to mplement recommendations
aimed at tackling greemwashing.

98 TUNFCCC, given its mandate, is expected to become one of the frontnmmers on the
road to net-zere. In this endeavor, UNFCCC should seek to align all scopes of activities
with this goal, mcluding the conclusion of parmerships. Indeed, if UNFCCC were to
partner with non-Party stakeholders who are not aligned with this goal, its reputation
could be threatened

99, UNFCCC Secretanat adopted a Guidelines for Parmerships in 2017 that provide a
framework to parmer with stakeholders, excluding Parties and UN entites. This
framework outhines how UNFCCC should select partmers, the purpose, benefits and
guiding principles of parmership, including due diligence process and criteria. UNFCCC

*www.un.org/'sitesun2 un.org/files’high-level_expert_group_n7b.pdf
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Secretaniat also issued a Partnership standard operating procedure (SOF) mn Apnl 2020
that “sefr out criferia and processes for the consistent adminisiration of partmerships”.
The Pesource Mobilization and Parmerships sub-divizsion (RMP) intervenes actively in
the process. Created as a result of the orgamzational reform, this sub-dnision
coordinates the engagements in partnership activities.

100. Fisk management has been a concem of the adnimistration of parmerships. The
2020 S0P states that “Risk Momagement shall be conducted in accordance with
UNFCOCOC's Enterprise Risk Management.” The cument nisk regmster has a nsk rated
“critical” (highest level of nisk) called “Parmering Activities™. While the level of nisk is
appropriate as the orgamzation 1s subject to a high exposure on the public sphere due to
its mandate, its definition appears to miss a sigmficant dimension of the actual nsk
identifiable on partmership, as a specific nsk exists for private stakeholders. Indeed, 1t
does not mention the high reputational risk and it focuses on all kind of commitments
with external stakeholders, such as the wide range of parmers, progressively mchiding
mmfilateral development banks and the provate sector, and the growing expectations on
the part of parmers for more strategic engagement and innevative models.

101. The updated nsk treatment plan of 2021 mentions the full mplementation of the
Parmership Commuttes as a means to mitizate nisks. However, even if this nsk treatment
plan of 2021 identifies the head of EMP as the nsk treatment owner, it is not formalized
in an actual risk register. The register in place, dating from 2017, does not identify PMP
as sk owner. Thus, de facio, EMP does not have the lead to manage the nsk and does
not have the resources to secure all parmerships conclnded by UNFCCC.

102. When solicited, the Parinership Committes has an oversight position as per the SOP.
Since 2022, the Partnership Comnutter has recommended mcluding nsk mutigation
clauses in agreements. This good practice will be reflected in the updated gmdelines for
partnerships. However, the conumittes does not have sufficient tools to achieve its
ISSI00.

103. On the one hand, the risk tolerance of UNFCCC is not clearly defined Omly the
2017 Gudelines for Parmership mention exchision critena, which are not related to
UNFCCC’s commitments on climate change. As a result, the Parmership Commuttes,
when solicited. does not have the fully operational tools o recommend whether or not to
conclude an agreement with a company with regards to the level of reputational nsk. In
2021, UNFCCC signed a parmership agreement with Bank A for a total amount of §
750,000.00. This partnership was concluded at the end of the parmership process m
accordance with the Parmership SOP although the due diligence report highlighted the
potential high nsk. This decision implies 2 high residual reputational nsk for UNFCCC.

104, On the other hand. the due diligence that were used until early 2023 did not fully
reflect the Global Compact and the net-zero ambition. Diligences appearsd to have
shortcomings to analyze the structuration of non-Party stakeholders and emvironmental
topics. The checklist is not adapted to the organization of glebal plavers which have
philanthropic actions through foundation directly and exchisively fimanced (or almost)
and mandated by the parent company. The discussion duning the Partnership Committes
of October 2022 on the link between the Foumdation of Bank B and the Bank B group is
a meanmgful llustration. Furthermore, due diligence is not adapted to respond to the
(lobal Compact principle 7 “businesses should support a precautionary approach to
environmental challenges” and principle 8 “undertake inifiatives fo promote greater
emvironmenial responsibility”. Indeed, 1t does not have a question related to the financing
of non-sustainable energy infrastmcthures.

105. The due diligence is curently being reviewed. Given the large mumber of
partmerships (broadly defined whether they be formal parmerships, simple grants or
umbrella imtiatives), the number of full-time equivalents (FTEs) of EMP and the number
of FTEs that can be mobilized in the divisions seems low.

106. The Board consider that this reputational risk should be properly addressed and
mutigated (see recommendation below §164).
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107. To that extent, the UNFCCC Secretaniat should balance risks and opportmities and
define its appetite regarding reputational risks linked to the conclusion of partnerships,
understood in their broad definition. A set of cntenia refermng to the commitment of non-
Parties stakeholders to net zero and to the sustamnability of their activities as well as a list
of non-Parties stakeholders with whom UNFCCC divisions are not pemuited to parmer
would benefit to the Organization. Moreover, UNFCCC has to finalize the revision of the
due diligence checklist m order to better take mto account the Global Compact, the net-
zero commitment and the current structuration of non-Party stakeholders, and the process
to provide a comprehensive view of potential parmers orgamization, fimding and activities
to the decision-makers.

108. In June 2022, UNFCCC produced a co ive map of the partmerships sizned.
It concluded that not all of them had followed the established internal parimership process,
mchuding due diligence and review by the Parmership Commuttee. Contmbution
agreements can be concluded by divisions through their direct uploading in the Legal
Portal, where they are reviewed by the finance fimetion and the legal fiunction without an
EMP due diligence. They are intended to be more restrictive than parmership agreements,
especially in terms of opportunities of commumication for the contributor on the link to
UNECCC.

109. For mstance, UNFCCC concluded on 2021 a confribution agreement with the
Foundation of Bank B for a total amount of EUE. 130,000.00 and on 2022 a contmbution
agreement with Company A for a total amount of % 150,000.00. Despite that UNFCCC
has not cleared the agreement with the Foumdation of Bank B through the partmership
procedure (as this was not mandatory in this case according to the SOP), a due diligence
was camed out, in accordance with the 2017 Guideline for parmership, using the
Parmership SOF checklist template (before its revision induced by the Net zero report®).
It states that "As the Foundmfion of the Bank B is linked fo the Bank B, it needs to be
considered that the latter, of the top fossil fiel bankers, had by far the biggest growth in
fossil fuel financing over the past five yems, from 516.9bn in 20186, to 340.8bn in 2020."
The checklist’s conclusion mentions a high reputaticnal sk as the Foumdation of Bank B
15 directly associated to the Bank B group which "has still claims against it ongoing and
was involved i corruption and mongy lmmdering as part of a fossil fuel project "

110. The apgreement with Company A supports a large-scale project at COP 27. The
clause 8 of the agreement states that “The Denor ix mindful of the principles of the UN
Global Compact (hitps-www.amglobalcompact orgwhat-is-go/mission principles) and
shall, in the course of or in relation to this Confribution Agresment, make ity best gffortz
in good faith fo reffain from any act or omission that would depart from these principles.”
The Company A is a signatory of the UN Global Compact. In 1ts last Commmmication on
Progress based on the 2021 sustamability report, Company A has addressed the four
principles (human nghts, labor, environment, anfi-cormiption) as well as fourteen out of
seventeen SDGs. An independent report on the environmental, social, and govemance
(ESG) nsk exposure of an individual company for the past two and ten vears, available
on access through the UN Global Compact, was shared withm UNFCCC (UNFCCC
gained paid access to the UN Global Database from January 2022). It provides a very
different perspective on the ome provided by the Companmy A's self-reporting
Commmmication on Progress. In this report, for instance, Company A 1s ranked with a
very high ESG nsk exposure (lower range) for “Human nights abuses and corporate
complicity” and “Vielation of national legislation” over the last two and the ten last vears.
In addition to this report, UNFCCC managers were warned by EMP that “if the Company
A 15 to finance the project, the reputational nsk might be EX'EE‘III‘.'I‘.- high”™. Contrary to the
2017 Gudeline for partnership, no due diligence was conducted and the topic was never
discussed during the Parmership Committes. Despite this waming and the several
potential reputational consequences, the agreement was signed. On the other hand,
Company A takes advantage of the partership by posting simnificantly on UNFCCC and
on COPs on social media.

*www.un.org/'sites/un2 uo.org/files’high-level _expert_group_n7b.pdf
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111. The UNFCCC Secretariat administers a number of imtiatives which support
non-Party stakehelders in confributing to achieving the goals of the Convention and
the Paris Agreement. To that extent, stakeholders in the fashion industry lammched at
COP 24 and renewed at COP 26 a Fashion Industry Charter for Climate Action under the
auspices of UNFCCC.

112, No commuttee or UNFCCC executive under the current regulatory framework is in
a position to prevent a stakeholder from adhering to the Charter principles. During the
adhermg process, UNFCCC conducts a due diligence, using the Parmership SOP checklist
template. However, this due diligence is not binding in the process and is not conducted
thoroughly. To commut fashion stakeholders need cnly to express ther mtent to
implement the principles enshrined in the Charter. For example, Company B primarily
conmmtted m 2020 to engage m the Working Groups established under the Charter. The
due diligence process for Company B concluded that the company should be ncleded in
the Charter signatonies, but it appears to be incomplete as for mstance it does not mention
the collapse of a building, I which the company was manufachming, and does not
mvestigate on the mifigation measures mplemented.

113. The steermg commuittee can however remove an organization from the Charter if this
organization does not perform in accordance with the criteria, in apphication of article 16
of the Fashion Charter. UNFCCC has not applied this mle vnfl now.

114. Crowdfimding 1s considered as a nisk area despite the mfemal controls in place.
Indeed. the platform 15 not an ad hoe development as 1t 15 hosted by the UN Foundation
website. Donation is possible up to $ 10,000.00 without any constraint Above this
threshold, UN Foundation camies out due diligences. Crowdfimding could be seen as an
opportunity and a commmmication strategy be developed specifically.

113. Conscious that the current screening of partmenng activities conducted by different
drvisions in the crgamization have weaknesses, UNFCCC imtiated steps o reform the
partnening earty 2023. This encouraging work is still on-going.

116. The Board recommends that the UNFCCC Secretariat define and implement a
due diligence process to clear all types of financial and non-financial contributions,
commitments and partnerships with non-Parties stakeholders.

117. The Board considers that this process should be overseen by the Resource
Mobilization and Partnerships sub-division of the Secretariat. The Parimership Committes
should also be mformed of all partmership and validate the most sensitive ones.

118. The UNFCCC Secretaniat accepted the recommendation
Risks associated to the organization af the COP

119. COPs’ size has increasmgly srown over the years. The mumber of participants has
sharply nsen over the last three COPs: For COP 27, effective participation (number of
badges issued to participants other than support staff) was 41,342, a 32 percent ncrease
from COP 26 and a 77 percent increase from COP 25 COPs have thus become a very
large event, requesting sigmficant orgamsation and mvolving mamy nsks.

120. COPs" operational preparafion (not including  programmatic  and
engagementpresidency risk management) is steered through two different processes on
the operation’s side:

- the first one gathers representatives both from UNFCCC and the Host Coumtry,
at two different levels: (i) the Steermg Committee gathers high officials from
the host Govemment and addresses oversight amd decision-making on
operations; (1) whereas the Jomt Operational Team cames out the day to day
work regarding several workstreams (aviation, catering, facilifies, health,
sustamability, transport, visas, etc.), through the elaboration of a Rnadmap to
COP, regula.rlj,' up-dated;
the second cne gathers UNFCCC staff. at two different levels as well: 1) the COP
Govenance Board (formerly the COP Project Board) is the body for oversight
and decision-making on COP coordmation; 1) it is alse complemented by
meetings between the Conference Affairs division and other divisions
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(ASHRJICT division, CA, Comnmmumication & Engagement division
Intergovermmental Support and Collective Progress division).

121. Fisk mumagement holds a significant share in COPs prepamtion regarding venue
and convening of participants. The Foadmap to COP identifies for each workstreams:
nisks, their criticality (low, medinm, high) and the reduction actions proposed to address
the nisk. The Foadmap to COP 27, as of 28 October 2022, identified 95 risks, of which

2 were mated as “high”, or “hg rock”. Fisk remedies are identified and Annex to
Poadmap lists both critical reduction actions to be carmied out before COP and cotical
response actions to be cammed out during COP. Although the gramilometry of nsk
identification. and sk reduction actions, are not identical from cne workstream to the
other, all workstreams address the issue. In contrast with activity ownership, which is
clearly attnbuted either to UNFCCC or to the Host Country’s team, the risk owners are
not identified n the roadmap, and the responsibility lies with the Joint Operational Team
as a whole.

122, This risk management exercise is supported by in-depth exercises of post-event
reviews, which identify lessons leamed from the latest COP. These reviews are cammied
out by the Conference Affairs division anmually. However, in 2022, a parallel review was
dlso conducted by the Orgamsational Development and Oversight Umt, which proposed
a follow-up action plan to improve COP management A review of the status of actions”
implementation took place during the Management Team meeting on 15 July 2022.

123, Despite the elaborated risk identification amd anficipation embedded m these
processes, COPs’ organisation systematically faces difficulties. The MT meeting dated 7
December 22 (post COP 27} indicates for mstance that “COP 27 was the first
implementation COP of the Pavis Agresment and achisved many dscizions and
conclusions resulfing in variows deadlines and actions fo be taken. COF 27 was successful
as it achieved the common denominator, but the organization must set the bar higher.
{-..J] From Operations Coordination (OC) perspective, COP 27 has proven to be
unsustainable, both for staff and operations management.” The client survey on
conference services incidentally indicated that the overall expenence of participating in
the conference was rated as “very good’ or good’ by 38 percent of respondents, compared
to a target of 39 percent (rating of the indicator for COP 26).

124, Nonetheless, some of nisks identified m the Roadmap to COP 27 matenialized
although the cormresponding difficulties had already occwred in COP 26 and were
identified m its “review and lessons leamed”, such as the lack of adequate staffing
respurces: COP 26 lessons leamed stated that “Difficulties in finding suitable candidates
led to delays in recruitment, onboarding and training, exacerbating the already heavy
workload for C4 feams ™, but informal feed-back from COP 27 maintained. although the
muuber of UN staff had undergone an & percent increase, that “There should be a
sustainable solution with regards to the staffing issue. To deliver COF af the current scale
requires more human resouwrces. " It was also the case on conditions guarantymg the
quality of facilities: the COP 26 lessons leammed stated that “not having early, unrestricted
access to the COF construction site resulfed in some of the facilifies being poorly designed
and equipped (e.g. registration and security offices, sanitary facilities in the femporary
struciures ameng others)”, however the same problem occurred durmg COP 27, as the
rating of the quality of infrastructure in the client survey shows”.

123, The way prevention and nutigation actions, having been identified through “lessons
leamed” exercizes, are effectively embedded in nsk management tools, 15 not being
reported cn within UNFCCC on a regular basis. While the mimutes of the Govemance
Board hold on 3 March 2022 mention that the techmical mission to Egypt addressed the
recap of lessons leamed from COP 26, there 1s no detailed reporting on how the prevention
or reduction actions to be camed out are being considered.

5 “Many negative commenis referred to poor conference venue infrastructure, including
venue layour, trip hazards, excessive air conditioning, noise level, pavilion marerials,
internet connectivity, lack af sanitary facilities and poor guality and managemenrt af the
SXIZTINE ones. »
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126. This reporting could be strengthened in order to embark the whole administration
mnto an mproved forward planning on the issue, and defining consistent timelines. It could
morecver embark UNFCCC s reflection on the proposal of a reform of the COPs process
to next presidencies. Indeed, MT meeting dated 15 Febmary 2023 indicates, with regard
to an agenda item on the process to strengthen the observer engagement in the UNFCCC
that: “The MT appreciated the propesal and suggested that the discussions are compiled
into a complete package of recommendations fo be put forward to the COP 28 and COF
29 Presidencies on the fiture of COF and reforming the process. Further discussions on
the margins of these recommendations tfo take place among directors are needed.”

27. The reputational nsk associated to the choice of the COP’s sponsors by the Host

Country is not identified in the Roadmap to nisks. However, issues arose during COP 27,
specifically regarding Company C’s sponsorship®.
128. The only nsk prevention tool that UNFCCC has at its disposal on the issue lies in
the specific clause stipulated in the host country agreement (HCA), which states that “The
Government may consulf the secretariat with a view fo obiaining itz advice on entities gf’
concern with which the Government, as the host of the Conference, should not conclude
sponsorship agresments in connection with the Conference”.

129, In this case, the Egyptian Government had requested advice on the list of sponsors.
The request was addressed to the Commmmication & Engagement division, under article
3.16, focusing on logos and emblems that can be displayed. The answer provided did not
raise amy red flag, becanse this kind of partmer had not been identified as an issue m the
past.

130. In addihon, while UNFCCC due diligence checkhst to select parmers through
partnerships agresments are shared with the host country, they are not made mandatory
for the Host Country’s selection of its own sponsers.

131. UNFCCC should therefore consider making the seeking of advice from the Host
Comntry mandatory and organise itself to provide an informed decision on the matter. The
response to be provided to the Host Country could be subnuitted to an intemal commuittes,
rather than he with only ene UNFCCC’s executive.

132. The Board recommends that the UNFCCC Secretariat systematically request
to include provisions in Conference of Parties” host country agreements stipulating
that its opinion would be sought on the sponsoring parmerships.

133. The Board considers that this proposal should be reflected m the host country
agreement template and include a formal transmission of the due diligences adopted by
UNFCCC to the host country.

134. The UNFCCC Secretaniat accepted the recommendation, but renuinded that it canmot
Impose any provision on the host country.

135. Ome of the reputational nisks associated to the COP also lies with the carbon footprint
of the event and at “32 percent “very good” or “good”, perceptions of sustamability of
the conference was the third lowest indicaror” of the participants survey.

136. The standard host coumtry agreement clause however specifies that “In providing

the Conference space, premises, equipment, ufilifies and services referred to in Arficle 3
above, the Government shall ensure the climare neutrality of the Conference [.. J.”

137. COP 26 had been certified IS0 20121 (intemational standard for sustainable event
management) as well as PAS 2060 (intemationally recognized specification for carbon
neutrality). For its part COP 27 aimed only at certification as IS0 20121, which was still
in progress in January 2023, thus representing a lesser ambition that COP 26°s.

6 A petition was signed by 245,260 people around the world, requesting the removal of
Company C as a sponsor.
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iil. Critical risks stemming from the legal environment

138. A third category concerns risks ansing from the absence of jundical persomality of
UNEFCCC Secretariat on the international plane. UNFCCC Secretanat has an established
mstitutional linkage with the Unisted Nations which provides a basis for its day-to-day
fimetionmg,. Clanfications have been obtained which confirm UNFCCC Secretariat’s
ability to issue ifs own admmistrative mstructions as deemed necessary for improved
confrols and efficiencies. This relative autonomy induces specific risks for the UNFCCC
Secretariat, considenng its size and the very large scope of the mles at stake.

Absence of juridical personality on the international plane

139. Pursuant to several recommendations of the Board UNFCCC has scught adwvice
from the Office of Legal Affairs (OLA) of the UN Secretariat on a number of legal 1ssues.

140. The UNFCCC Secretariat’s jurdical personality at intemational lewel is
ambiguons. This situation might hinder its capacity of action with certain stakeholders. If
OLA noted that “UNFCCC secretariar enjoys, in the host country, lsgal capacity in
accordance with the agreement concluded with Germany and the United Nations in
1996” and that in a memorandum of 4 December 1020, UNFCCC Secretariat
mentioned that “it has concluded over 20 host counfry agreements with States that are
hosting the Conference of the Parties (COPF), pursuant fo ad hoc decisions by the COP
authorizing the secretariat fo enter info such agresmenis”, OLA also recalled that in
decision 13/CP 2, the Conference of the Parties “[cfonclude[d] thar the Conference of the
FParties should considsr, in the context of the review af the fimctioning of the instifutional
Imkage of the Convention secretariat fo the United Nations, whether the fimctions that
have to be carried ourt by the secretariat necessitate that it be given juridical personality
on the international plame” and that the Subsidiary Body for Implementation (SBI}
considered the matter and concluded as follows: “[T7he SBI took note of the fact thar the
Comvention secrefariat was vested with juridical personality in Germany where the
headquarters of the secretariat is located and firther noted that the absence of juridical
personality on the international plane had not inhibited the secretariat in the gffective
performance of its fimctions. The 5B decided to hold the issue in absyance and revisit
the matter at a _future date if the status of the secretariat should necessitate thar it be
vested with juridical personality on the mternational plane.” (FCCC/SBL2001/9, paras.
56-58). All this confirms that there is an ambiguity regarding the legal status of UNFCCC
Secretaniat under infernational law.

141. UNFCCC raised the issue to the Subsidiary Body of Implementation m September
2021. Tt stated that- “n this context, UN OLA noted that UNFCCC was not a LN
mbsidiary ovgan and had also not been duly vested by the Parties with a clear juridical
personality on the international plane. The secretariar had alse not been accorded the
appropriate privileges and immunities, including immunity from legal process™ and that
“The UNFCCC secrefariat has recently stmted fo foce difficulfies in being recognized as
an international organization by some of the Parties.”. For instance, the Exropean Union
contribution agreement” supporting the infemational negotiations process, had to be
signed by the UN Secretariat, acting on behalf of UNFCCC Secretaniat. However, the
European Union signed another agreement directly with UNFCCC Secretaniat recently,
regarding the support to the participation of developing countries in COP 26 and related
UN processes®.

142. In amy case, the SBI did not conclude that there was sufficient concemn to act on the
1ssue. It “considered the concems raised by the secretanat in its note on the legal status of
the secretamat. The SBI concluded that selutions have been found for addressing the
concems raised in the note, systemic issues have not ansen and the secretariat has been
fimetioning and conducting its operations effectively.”

143. The possibility of clanfyving its stats with the COP being hampered, UNFCCC
secretaniat should address the comesponding msk (see below §164). Indeed, as the

7 21.020701/2019/817209/5UB/CLIMA A 1.
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probability that the operational difficulties already encountered by UNFCCC secretariat,
liable to impede the achievement of its mussions, could happen agam, TUNFCCC
secretaniat should design appropnate risk response measures.

Institutional linkage with the United Nations

144, The mstitutional linkage between the UNFCCC Secretariat and the United Nations
rased notably questions m the context of the UN Secretary-General’s management
reforms. These reforms included setting out a new policy on delegation of authority under
the UN Staff Pegulations and Fules (UNSEE) and the UN Financial Fegulations and
Bules (UNFRE) (ST/SGB/2019/7). These new policies induced a lot of questions from
UNECCC Secretariat’s side, that echoed some of Board's recommendations, requinng
UNEFCCC Secretaniat to get clanfication from OLA and the United Mations Legal Coumsel
on & number of 1ssues.

143, The exchange of letters between OLA and UNFCCC Secretanat clarified some
1ssues, regarding delegation of autherity from the TN Secretary-General to the Execufive
Secretary, and the fact that UN financial and admumistrative issuances are not per se
mandatory for UNFCCC Secretariat.

146. UNFCCC’s Executive Secretary only needs a delegation of authonty from the UN
Secretary-General for specific areas such as procurement. Under-Secretary-General for
Legal Affairs and United Nations Legal Counsel's letter dated 8 Apnl 2021 specifies that
“The Institufional Arrangement paper* provides that the Executive Secretary is
accountable fo the COP “for the implementation of the policies and programme of work
approved by the [COP] " and to the “Secretary-General as the chigf administrative officer
of the Crganization, including for the observance of the Finaneial and Staff Regulations
and Rules of the United Nations.” With respect to the latter, the Insfinmional
Arrangemenis Faper specifically enumerates ceritgin authorities for the Executive
Secretary of the UNFCCC over the persormel and financial, including physical, resources
of the secretariat of the UNFCCC.” In his letter dated 1 Febmuary 2023, the Under-
Secretary mndicated that “[.. [ the Iustitutional Arrangemenis Paper makes clear that the
Executive Secretary of the UNFOCC has broad muthority over the financial
administration of the secretariat of the UNFCOCC. There ars, however, a few matters in
this area for which the Secretavy-General specifically retained authority under the
Institutional Arrangemenis Paper”.

147. A memorandum setting out a delegation of authonty from the UN Secretariat for

procurement, property management, and inventory conirol was 1ssued in July 2016 to the

Executive Secretary. This delegation specified that “Should your assignment as Execufive

Secretary, UNFOCC expire, or should your delegation of authority be suspended of
withdrawn, all delegations issued by you shall remain in gffect with the responsibility and
accountability reverting to me unless otherwize modified or withdrawn™. This provision

allowed UNFCCC to camy cut its work after the former Executive Secretary’s departure,

specifically regarding procurement, until the mterim delegation of authonty was granted

to the new Executive Secretary (appeinted on 15 Aungust 2027) on 24 October 2022 by

the UN Secretary General, who accepted it on 13 December 2022

148. However, all cascading sub-delegations from the new Execufive Secretary have not
been signed yet. The framework for granting these delegations has moreover been
modified by UNFCCC AL2023/3 Delegation of Authority Policy pronmlgated on 1 March
2023. Yet this policy or the ones that it replaced™”, does not include such clauses as the
one included in section 4.3 of ST/SGB/2019/2, that provides: “[...] When the head of the

? The Institutional Arrangemsnts Paper was endorsed by the Conference of the Parties (“COP™) to the
UNMFCCC by decision 14/1 of the COP of 7 April 1995 (see FCCC/CP/1995/T/Add. 1, pp. 42-43).
Pursuant to paragraph I of its resolution 50/115 of 20 December 1995, the General Assembly alse
endorsed the administrative arrangement set forth in the Institutional Arrangements Paper.

10 Prior to the promulgation of the UNFCCC AI/2023/3 Delegation of Authority Policy on 1 March
2023, the internal UNFCCC delegation of authority framework was set out in the Secretariat Bulletins
Delegation of authority in financial matters (UNFCCC B/2014/2) and HE Delegation of Aunthoriry
(UNFCCC B/2018/2).
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eniity is succeeded by another, the duly appeinted successor will ordinarily be afforded
the same level of delegations as the predecessor [...J. All subdelegations issued by the
predecessor shall remain valid, with the accountability transfarring fo the successor
unless otherwise withdrawn or modified by the successor™. AL2023/3 should therefore be
complemented on this 1ssue.

149. In any case, since the prommlgation of the new delegation of authomty policy
(UNFCCC AL2023/3), the framework of sub-delegations has changed For mstance, this
15 the case for the sub-delegation of uman resources authonties. The new sub-delegations
of authonty from the Executive Secretary should therefore be urgently issued. This
process is cummently being imdertaken by UNFCCC.

130. The Board recommends that the UNFCCC Secretariat secure without delay its
sub-delegation of authority framework.

151. The Board considers that, to that extend. the Secretariat should medify policy
UNFCCC AT2023/3 to include clanses regarding the validity of sub-delegations in the
case of change at the head of the enfity. It should also expedite the siznature of the sub-
delegations of authornty within the relevant divisions. The UNFCCC Secretanat should
moreover conduct an intemal review on the vahdity of documents sizned smee 1 March
2023 by staff endowed with subdelegations of authonity issued before the adoption of
AL202373.

132. The UNFCCC Secretariat accepted the recommendation.

153. The exchange of letters also clanfied UNFCCC” s room for manoeuvre in specifying
the UN financial and staff mules and regulations at its own level. Indeed, OLA’s letter
dated 1 Febmary 2023, indicates that “These issuances [(ST/AL226)], going back almest
Jfive decades, demonsirate that UN Secretariat adminisirafive issuances are meant io
apply only to the UN Secretariat unless explicitly stated otherwise by the Secretary-
General or by an appropriate Under-Secretary-General or Assistant Secretary-General,
or unless expressly accepted and adopred by the executive heads of the separately
administered finds, organs and programmes.”

154, Based on this clanification the UNFCCC Secretanat has accelerated the
implementation of the definition of relevant policies for its operations (see section 9 of
Board's report on financial statements for year 2021). It issued a first overarching
admimstrative instruction (AT), statmg that “the UN Staff Regulations and Fules as well
as the UN Financial Regulations and Fules apply mutatis nmitandis [1.e. with fhe necessary
modifications to make ﬂ:mapp]ifable to UNFCCC] at the UNFCCC secretanat™ and that
“Other UN admimistrative issuances (Secretary General's bulletns, adonimistrative
mstructions, and information circulars) apply only, if and as determined by the Executive
Secretary in the UNFCCC Policy Ccm:lpmcluml The instruction further indicated that
“The Executive Secretary prommlgates policies as deemed necessary for the effective
admimstration of the UNFOCC secretanat through UNFCCC administrative imstructions.
These administrative mstructions are used to 1) promulgate policies specific to the
UNFCCC secretaniat, and 2) specify how UN adnunistrative issuances are adapted as
deemed necessary by the Executive Secretary.”

153. If these steps clanify the UNFCCC Secretariat’s ability to free itself from the UN
Secretaniat issuances that are deemed not relevant for UNFCCC, it infroduces a peniod of
high umcertainty over the prevailing mles, wmtl UNFCCC's policy compendiom is
completed. Indeed, only five new policies envisaged by UNFCCC were approved as of
15 Apml 2023 and 11 were in progress at that time. Feviewing policies in light of the
clarification of UNFCCC’s reom for manceuwvre mught take time. If UNFCCC has
identified a set of policies that needed to be reviewed following the Board s policy review,
other policies might be eligible for review and moreover, every UN issuance applying to
UNECCC should be specified as such. The timeline for a consolidation of the new set of
rules will probably be months or years.

156. A way to mitigate these legal nsks would be for UNFCCC to mplement the policy
compendinm at the earliest, without waiting for all new policies mmder elaboration to be
issued. MNew issuances will request up-dates m the policy compendim, but in the

i1
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meanwhile, rales applying should be made clearly available. To that extent, it should be
considered that UN administrative issuances on which the Execufive Secretary has not
et taken a decision but on which the secretaniat has relied in the past should be considered
valid, umless a specific UNFCCC applies. UNFCCC confirms that it plans con
implementing the Policy Portal in two phases. In the first phase (achieved in mid by May
2023} all UNFCCC issuances will be uploaded. In the second phase all UN administrative
1ssuances that were already used by UNFCCC i the past will be uploaded.

157. In any case, we consider that this legal nsk should be properly addressed amd
mutigated (see recommendation below §164).

158. In this respect, Board's recommendation 2021-92 that requests UNFCCC to bring
Important chznges to UNFCCC admimistrative issuances to the attention of the COP as
the goveming body of the UNFCCC also appears all the more important This
recommendation 15 not implemented yet. The Board will come back in due time on the
1ssue of the content of the reporting to the COP.

139, In order to establish a regular accountability framework on the 1ssue, UNFCCC
should have a definition of the critena allowing to identify administrative mstructions
with significant financial impacts on the balance sheets that need to be recorded in the
regular reports to COP on new administrative 1ssuances. For instance, policies such as the
one relating to Program Support Costs, that deviates from UN standard practice on the
level of autherized accunmlated surplus, which has a significant mupact of UNFCCC's
balance sheet, should be brought to the attention of the COP. In any case, UNFCCC's
legal team is linmted in mumbers. Adpusting UN polices that have been proven
cumbersome in the past and isswng them as UNFCCC pelicies to tallor them to its specific
needs (while abiding by the UNFEE. and UNSER), on all operational areas, will be time-
consuming. Moreover, 1t holds a high potenbal nsk of missing a mmmber of safeguards
that had been constructed over time, throughout the feed-back from difficulties
encountered

160. The lack of clause, in the policy UNFCCC AT/2023/3, relating to the validity of
subdelegations mn the case of change at the head of the enfity. is a clear example of
loopholes that can emetge by tailormg pobicies to UNFCCC's needs.

161. Therefore, even if validation from the UN Secretariat on UNFCCC’s policies is not
necessary from a legal pomnt a view, regular exchanges of views on difficult sitiations and
an external analysis on the potential weaknesses of new pelicies would be valuable to
UNFCCC. Mitigation measures could meclude peer review actions such as organiang
regular meetings on policies with the TUN Secretariat.

iv. Addressing in a systemic manner critical risks of a strategic nature

162. On top of the sectorial measures deemed necessary, critical nisks of a strategic nature
identified above need to be addressed in a systennic manner.

163. The Board recommends that the UNFCCC Secretariat identify, assess and
mitigate in a systemic manner critical risks of a strategic nature, including those
concerning financial resources, partnerships and the legal environment.

164. More specifically, the Board considers that m order to implement ths
recommendation, the UNFCCC Secretariat should:

- include the nsks at stake in the corporate nsk register, regularly assess their
coficality, clearly set targeted measures to m.mgate them and closely monitored
their m]planematon and impact. To succeed in this endeavorr, mifigating
actions should be selective, considenng m a reahisic manmer pre-existing
internal controls as well as the limited additional resources that can be devoted
to this task;

- state clearly upfront that each entical nsk selected can cnly be nutigatable up to
the residual level that the Organization is ready to bear, hence defining its nisk
appetite;
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- regarding resources, table a note at the Management Team meefing assessmg
the nsks faced, explorng their vanous dimensions, idenfifying ther root causes
and consequences, mapping pre-existing nternal controls and defining possible
scenarnios of adequate mitization actions;

- regarding partmerships, clanfy UNFCCC’s policy to keep the reputational risks
at an acceptable level and ensure compliance with the net-zero commitment;

- and regarding msks, seek to address risks induced by the absence of juridical
personality on the infernational plane and by the newly confirmed autonomy in
setting its own financial and admimstrative nules.

165. The UNFCCC Secretariat accepted the recommendation.

UNFCCC's risk management framework

166. The quality of UNFCCC’s risk management framework: at the corporate level needs
to be improved (a). Several divisicns of the Secretanat are already implementing effective
nisk management according to their own tools, inchiding an enterprize nsk management
approach carmied cut at their level (o).

a. Improving the risk management framework at the corporate level

167. In 2017, the first UNFCCC's nsk register was elaborated by using the UN
Secretaniat template.

168. An up-date on the status of the sk response and treatment plan was made to the
Management Team meeting in January 2021. The Management Team acknowledged that
“reporting on key considerafions of the Risk Response and Treamment Plan had been
pending, as highlightad in the 2019 and 2020 {external auditor] reperts ", and that “the
assessment is an important follow up from the recommendation of the UN Board of
Auditors and presents an important fool for the secretariat that needs fo be up to dare™.

169. The rating of the plan indicated that three out of four nsks identified were rated
“partially treated” based on action status (out of 17 actions, 11 were completed and six
remained open). The nsk relating to the organisational transformation was the least
addressed. as all risk treatment actions remamed open.

170. The only risk considered to be addressed was the one relating to “joint inter-agency
operations and parmerng activities”. The rating was motivated by the fact that the
Partnership Commuttee had been created, had developed terms of reference, a strategy and
S0P. However, a new risk assessment should reconsider the closure of this nsk.

171. The Management Team deemed that the three other nsks should be addressed m a
new exercise: "4 new cycle will start that will result in a 2021 enterprise risk assessment
Jfor the whole secretariar”. This new nsk assessment should have reassessed the three
“high” nisks partially treated by the risk treatment plan and addressed the “medium”™ and
“low” misks from the nsk register. This new exercise was to be articulated with the
establishment of each division’s nsk registry.

172. A few divisions have already carried out a specific risk management assessment and
elaborated a treatment plan at their own level, which were spurred by OIOS™ nmltiple
recommendations on nsk management

173. There is however a lack of articulation between these risk exercises at the division
level and risk management at the scale of UNFCCC. Although the nsk assessment camied
out by the divisions might be considered as tackling part of the nisks listed in the nisk
register, such as nsks 1.2.1 (COPs), 3.1.4 (Conference Management). 3.7.1 (ICT strategy
and system implementation), 3.7.2 (secunity and access), there has been no feed-back from
one exercise to the other, althongh through the exercize, mifigation also identified risks
that could be of secretariat-wide relevance.

174. The enterprise risk management tools that have been developed by UNFCCC have
identified nisks that are still relevant for the insttution However, the overall archatecturs
(hierarchy between risks addressed at a corporate level and nisks addressed at division
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level} should be reflected upon and the nsk assessment, ownership and reduction
proposals should be up-dated to reflect the change of missions and context in which
UNFCCC operates. Thus, the recommendation from the Board 2019-188: “the Board
recommends that UNFCCC address the rishs it is exposed to through an up-to-date
entarprise risk management that includes owners and due dates and a documentation™
remains valid.

175. Enterprise risk management governance lies with MT sub-committee on financial
management, whe 15 responsible for “Fisk management: a) updating the anmal Enterprise
Fisk Begister and the Risk Treatment and Mitigation plan; and b) monitormg the
mmplementation of the Enterpnise Fisk Treatment and Mitgation plan.™

176. The implementation of enterprise msk management 1s considered a strategic
objective as 1t 15 directly linked to the DES. This mmussion lies with the Organisational
Development and Oversight Unit, a new fimetion to UNFCCC created m 2021 . The head
of the Organisational Development and Owersight Tinit was the onby staff for over a year.
the wt now has two additional staff members, both of which focus some of their time on
oversight matters. UNFCCC's administrative guideline specifies the Orgamisational
Development and Cwersight Unit manager's tasks and mply that he 15 the cluef nsk
officer in UNFCCC.

177. In terms of nsk response, UNFCCC considers that 1t “manages strategic, financial,
operational and program delivery risks at the level of risk owners where risks are escalated
to the Management Team or Management Team sub-committes on financial management
meetmgs. The Orgamsational Development and Orversight Unit acts as the second “line
of defence™ and 1s responsible for ensurmg a robust framework for enterprise nsk
management and identification. assessment and reporting of related nisk.”™

178. However, the second “line of defence”™ is not limited to the Organisational

Development and Oversight Unit. Indeed, as stated in the UN Guide for managers'! “an

effective fystem of infernal confrol is encompassed within and an miegral part of
entarprise risk management . The second “line of defence”™ will be effectively camed out

through control activities, throughout the crganisation, at all levels and i all fimetions.

Some internal control procedures still need to be elaborated and implemented.

179. Whale the head of the Orgamsational Development and Orversight Unit is a member
of the Management Team meeting, and of the Senior Management Advisory Group., they
are not a permanent member of either the Management Team sub-committees on financial
management (handling risks and enterpnise nsk management) nor the cne on ethies.

b. Handling of operational risks in different divisions

180. A bottom-up approach would benefit to UNFCCC by identifying the accurate risks
of the orgamisation and better mwolving the staff members in the enterprise nsk
management system. UNFCCC could up-date its risks’ hierarchy and identify pricritised
nisks needing the mmediate attention of semor management, both from the previous nsk
register and from divisions feed-backs.

181. Some divisions such as conference affamrs, mmfigation and ICT are already
addressing nsks at their own level. On top of the nisks associated to the organization of
the COP (see above), the Board focused notably on nisks linked to ICT and in particular
cybersecumity (i) as well as the evolving role of Regional Collaboration Centers (i1).

i Risks on ICT, and particularly on cybersecurity

182. The system for controlling nsks within IT secunty within UNFCCC 15 based om a
contimous improvement approach led by the ICT sub-division. It was deemed especially
relevant after an mtrusion attempt to the Secretanat CDM registry from a London based
IP address was detected in 2011. This was part of a broader password phishing scheme

" Department of Management Strategy, Policy and Compliance, Enterprice Risk Management and Internal
Contral Framework, & Guide for managers, February 2021.
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across National Registries imder the Kxyoto Protocol. The attempt to steal Kyoto umits was
unsuccessful. The mtrusion was quickly contained and relevant logs provided to the UK
local suthorities leading to prosecution of the mtruder. Mo financial damage or data loss
was mewrred.

183. Since then, the ICT sub-division has stmved fo desigm and then implement an
articulated approach aimed at bringing IT security risks mmder control. It all the more
necessary, given that UNFCCC acts as a tmusted third party regarding the management of
the carbon credits’ registers. Several projects have been deployed, to modermize the
application base by reducing the techmical debt of the tools. by generalizing business
recovery plans and updating secumity certificates anmually. etc.

184, Dhring preparation and operation of conferences, the secretanat works with the host
country to strengthen ICT security controls fo protect agamst intmusions. This inchades
vulnerability and penetration testing and establishment of a joint Secunity Operaticns
Center (S0C) manned by both the secretariat team and the host country cybersecunty
team.

123. For the ITL* system. disaster recovery plans are organized anmally to measure the
refurn to normal (FTO) times m relation to the contractual deadlines negotiated with the
operator Swisscomm for the commection of the registers of the carbon umats.

126. Concerning the portals developed by the ICT at the request of the Parties®, the
exchanges highlighted that although security issues are included throughout the project
mnchuding durng the design phase of the development of these portals, the nsks of
infrusion are i fact very high due to the very high mmmber of portals and the absence of
1dentified nsk secunty owners for these portals. Moreover, these portals have techmcal
debts and therefore represent potential points of entry into the UNFCCC information
system.

187. In 2021, another incident ocourred. It was an external scam campaign targeting a
non-UNFCCC andience by creating a fake mternet domain name wm-fece.org. Even if
there was neither an “attempt” nor an “intmsion” nor any llegal access to any UNFCCC
ICT senices, classified mformation, or assets as a result of any misconfiguration,
UNECCC wluntanbr took steps with the invelved registrar I:I\Iamacheap} and the ICANN
(Internet Corporation for Assigned Names and Numbers) to report and request closure of
the reported fake doman and later to provide witnessimg input to the German police.

188. As stated m the MT meeting of 29 Janmary 2021 “in 2020, the ICT security audit
was inifiated and finalised in January 2021, The global assessment of the status of

services was positive, with no critical findings. The report would be shared in February
2021 and remediafion will be carried out in 2021.7

189, Aware of the stakes, ICT camed out an enterprize nsk management workshop
July 2021, dedicated to the establishment of the ICT Fisk Register for 2021. This
workshop considered that A starting peint for the elaboration of the ICT Enterprise Risk
Register is fo record inte if the existing UNFCOCC enterprise risks for which the Risk
Cwmer is the ICT subdivision (previously represented by the ICT Divector). ™ It proposed
to shift the risk owner of three nisks identified in the UNFCCC nisk register from the ICT
sub-drvision director to the director of ASHR/ICT division. But it also proposed to adopt
A nisk entry regarding “ICT governance and cyber securify” was also adopted. that should
be owned by the director for ASHTICT division.

190. A new govemnance and decision-makmg framework were adopted by the UNFCCC
m Jamary 2022, which should reflect the new struchure of UNFCCC. Within this

12 The International Transaction Log (ITL) connects registries and secretariat systems that are involved
in the emissions frading mechanizm defined under the KEyoto Protocol and its Doha amendment. One
of the key mandares of the ITL is to ensure an accurate acconnting and verification of transactions
proposed by registries in order to suppert the review and compliance process of the Kyoto Protocol.

" The ICT sub-division regularly develops portals such as the Climate Action Portal, an online
platform on which actors around the world can publish and publicize their commitments to action on
climate change.
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framework, it was decided to reduce the mmber of sub-committees of the MT from four
to two. The MT sub-committes on ICT has been eliminated as oversight is now provided
by the new semior directors of operations and programs. In its terms of reference, the
mandate of the MT is to make strategic policy decisions on specific topics, iInchiding
guiding and ensuning consistency m the development of UNFCCC on substantive issues,
as well as policies and processes in areas such as ICT. In practice, this means that amy
substantive decisions on ICT mwvestments, strategies and nsk management would rest with
MT through the Semor Director, Operations. It 15 therefore essential to comfimue the
imitiative lmmched in 2021 within the framework that could be defined by 2 new enterprise
nisk management policy.

191. The follow-up on this intiative should inchide collecting best practices from other
UN entities regarding cyber threats handling and identifying those that could be relevant
for UNFCCLC.

192, It is therefore essential to strengthen the resources for ICT secumity nsks. This
reinforcement of resources should be part of a comprehensive and arficulated strategy
aimed on the one hand at reviewmng the lines of defence of ICT secunty misks and
procedures, and on the other hand at contimously re-examiming the resilience and
robustness of the control framework. It is therefore usefil to recnut an ICT security
manager who should mitiate action and remediation plans to deal with ICT nsks.

193. The Board recommends that the UNFCCC Secretariat define and implement
mitigation measures to better address cyvbersecurity risks.

194. The Board considers that this notably requests to include the eybersecurity risks in
its risk register and identify comesponding risk owners in charge of mitigating them
Given the size of the ICT orgamzation and the exposure to the nsks of IT mtmsion, the
Beard also suggests to complete the internal contrel system by taking out a cyber threat
msurance confract. The subscription of this msurance contract should be consistent and
articulated with the policy and the roles of the UN Secretariat. The secretariat could
explore within the UN Common System if a cyber threat insurance is being considered
by any other UN enfities.

195. The UNFCCC Secretaniat accepted the recommendation.

ii. Managing risks linked to the evolving role of the Kegional
Collaboration Centers

196. The Mitigation division launched the elaboration of a nisk register throughout 2020,
mitially selely from a sustamable development mechanism (SDM) nisk perspective, then
from a broader nutigation division perspective.

197. This draft msk register addressed both msks at the mufigation division’s or
programme’s level and UNFCCC wide msks. These identified UNFCCC-wide msks
imclude misks such as: “The strategic positioning and impertance of the UNFOCOC
secretarial may be compromized due to the perceived lack of tangible outcomes from the
negetiation processes.” Mifigation®s exercise highlights the importance of the bottom-up
approach of the identification of nsks that should be addressed at the corporate level.

198. The status of this document is however unclear and appears to be more of a cne-shot
exercise. The report on “sfafus of enterprize risk management and Audit” to MT sub-
committee on financial management dated 14 December 2021 however states that
“Mitigation has shaved draft 20212022 Risk Register at the secretariat level for
consideration by Orvganization Development and Oversight office”, implyng that the next
steps to be taken would have to be geared by the Organisational Development and
Orversight Unit.

199, This mitigation divisicn nsk register does not address cne emerging risk which is
related to the evolving role of the Regional Collaboration Centers, whose management in
Bonn is given to the Mitigation division.
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200. Indeed, smee the Panis Azreement, the role of Regional Collaboration Centers has
increased significantly. First established m 2013, the six Regional Collaboration Centers
were initially intended to support Parties m the implementation of the CDM in their
regions, under the coordmation of the Mitigation division in the current orgamization.
After the Pans Agreement, Eemonal Collaboration Centers have been requested by
regional stakeholders and UNFCCC to support a wider range of activifies delivered by
the UNFCCC Secretanat, mcluding support to developing couniries in development and
implementation of their Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs). Now, they endorse
diverse responsibilifies such as regional coordmation, policy suppert, technical capacity,
partership bulding, commmmication and outreach, data collection, logistic ubs. They
deliver a large range of activities, in cocrdination with all UNFCCC programme divisions.

201. As a result, Regional Collaboration Centers benefit from a substantial budget (see
table II.Y). In addition followmng the decision 2/CMP.16, $ 10 million were released from
the CDM Tmst Fund to the Trust Fund for Supplementary Activities to enable the
Supervisory Body for Implementation to provide, through the RCCs, capacity-ulding in
developing countries for applying the Arficle 64 mechamsm and support for the
transiion of CDM project activites and programmes of activities to the Article 6.4
mechanism if they are eligible for transition.

202. The structure of the Fegional Collaboration Centers is evolving in line with
their expanding scope and mandates. This offers oppertunities for enhancing their
programming, budgeting and human resources deployment . Considenng their new
activities, they have had to merease their staff. Composed with UNFCCC staff, alongside
with staff hared by the host crgamization, F.CCs posthions are not all occupied.

203. In consequence, planned activities are not all inder full implementation. The budget
mplementation rate (cf table IL1) highhghts thas pomt, especially for the Fegional
Collaboration Centers of Kampala and Lomé.

Table II2
Regional collaboration centers budget for 2022 and 2023
(in United States dollars)
RCE Alloned Budger Executed budger implemerianon Alloued Budges
-+ 22 2022 e 3022 024
Bangkok 329.430.00 232,596.40 T1% 368,508.00
Drulbrai 31B.330.11 313,980.11 26% 270,244.00
Eampala 265,748 .68 8880834 3% 571,523.00
Lomé 316,586.81 T0,266.02 2% 505,078.00
- - Not provided Not provided -

Panama 34,960.67 by UNFCCC by UNFCCC 184,324.00
St Georges 484,762.92 437,000.83 20% 301,501.00

Total 1,760, 818.10 1,142.751.69 G50 1,101, 178.00

* Allotted by UNMPZCC. In addition, the bost organisation dedicates a budget to the B.CC. Figures do not
include salares of UNFCCC staff aszsizned to B.CCs as Fegional Leads, neither cost of staff provided by
local parmers.

Source: Board of Anditors, UWNFCCC.

204, The Board recommends that the UNFCCC Secretariat enhance its oversight on
risks linked to the evolving role of Regional Collaboration Centers.

205. The Board considers that these risks should notably be included in the UNFCCC
Secretanat’s nsk management framework.

206. The UNFCCC Secretariat acoepted the recommendation
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iii.  Addressing risks at divisions® level

207. As shown by the case studies above, handling risks at the division level might prove
usefnl. Specific divisions can therefore continue to have their own enterpnse msk
management tools, on which they would be requested to report regularly to the
Management team.

208. Moreover, the nsk assessment in divisions could lead to the identification of nsks
that should be owned at the corporate level by the Executive Secretary or the Deputy
Execufive Secretary. These nisks should be escalated to the corporate nisk register, through
a process to be defined. This implies the definition of critena of escalation, for instance
in the view of the crificality, scope, nature (systemic nsks), ete. of the nisk.

209, The UNFCCC Secretanat would benefit from updating risk management exercises
camed out at division level and embed them mn its broader nisk management framework:,
as described below.

Benefits of 2 more mature risk management

210. A more mature nisk management would mean, ameng other things, embedding with
mternal control and the prevention and handling of misconduct, frand and commuption (a),
strengthening oversight (b} and better ariculating with the wider accountability
framework (c).

a. Embedding risk management with internal control and the prevention and
handling of misconduct, frand and corruption

211. Risk management should be able to mcorporate specific mechanisms to deal with
particular nsks, which were either already part of a previous distinctive management
system (see findings on mitigation division risk management and ICT risk management
for instance) or were identified as unacceptable nsks requinng particular confrol
mechanisms set out by mtemal rules.

212, A comprehensive review of mtemal controls and nsks, especially in the areas of
fraud and cormruption, would mmprove the overall nsk management framework. To achieve
this goal, the first “line of defence™ of the nsk management framework should be
strengthened. The internal controls n place cannot easily be 1dentified, as UNFCCC has
not conducted yet a thorough work to map them, although work 1s being camied out the
1ssue. The Board noted that the recommendation on the mireduction of a Statement on
Internal Confrol (5IC) as not vet been mplemented (recommendation 202 1-40).

213. Regarding misconduct, mechanisms are in place. They would benefit to be more
adverised and to become fully operational The anti-frand and anti-cormption
mechanisms are fragmentary and at an early stage. Despite the work in progress,
UNFCCC needs to accelerate the structuration of coherent mechamsms covermg the
entire anf-fraed and cormiption process (prevention, identification. treatment). Dhnng the
last five years, no cases of fraud were 1dentified by management, but the non-ccourrence
of an meident does not mean that the nisk does not exist and meidents might have ocourred
and not having been detected. It could even from a theoretical point of view, point to
weaknesses in infernal controls.

214. Based on the presentation made by UNFCCC and the work on fraud, the Board noted
that the perception im UNFCCC is that mternal controls are mostly limited to confrols
performed by Umoja and confrols conducted by other UN entities. However, there are
other controls in place within the entity, such as mutual controls and hierarchical controls.
UNFCCC also has committees In vanous finctional areas that are relevant to infemnal
confrol, but which have not been comprehensively idenfified at this stage. These have to
ensure that resources are managed efficiently and securely. The Sectetanat
(Orgamsational Development and Crversight Umt) i1z planning to review applicable
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policies and frameworks as well as the system-wide benchmarks for intemal contrel
(frameworks) m the United Mations.

215, In addiion UNFCCC follows a set of UN rules that it has adapted to its
organization, and has translated mto policies. UNFCCC bulletin B2006/2 implements the
UN Secretariat bulletin ST/SGB/2003/21 on “Protection against retaliafion for reporting
mizconduct and for cooperating with duly authorized audits or investigations”, while
the UNFCCC bulletin B2011/1 implements the UN Secretariat ST/SGB2008/5 on
“FProhibition of discrimination, harassment, including sexual harassment, and abuse af
authority” for the UNFCCC Secretaniat..

216. The misconduct management within the UNFCCC needs to be updated and clanified.
Currently. it relies on the UN-wide system. UNFCCC applies the UN Code of conduct
and a list of UN Ethics Offices 15 made available on the infranet to know who to contact
i case of problems. Meanwhile, a MT subcommuttee on ethics is tasked to prevent and
manage cases of conflicts of Interest, leaks of sensitive mformation, and discnmination
and harassment, mchiding sexmal harassment However, this sub-commuittee did not meet
since February 2017.

217. UNFCCC developed a code of conduct to events it hosts, which is being updated to
make it broader. This set of rules, oriented toward sesmal harassment and sexmal
exploitation an abuse is available online. Alse, the e-mail address** managed by the UN
Department of Safety and Security (UNDSS), was made available to report suspicion of
cases. In the framework of COP 27, three cases of sexmal harassment, one case of
suspicious behavicur or sexual nature, three cases of harassment and one case of person
not feeling comfortable walking arcund in the Blue Zone late were reported.

218. More specifically, on anfi-frind and cormiption issues, the mechamisms could be
mmproved to ensure an efficient management of the risks. Followmg the recommendation
of the Board 2017-138, a fraud nisk assessment was conducted from the end of 2022
UNFCCC hured a consultant to develop an assessment checkbist. 44 nsks were 1denbfied
on seven areas of work (accounting and reporting; fraund control enviromment; fimding
and mvestments; treasury; procurement; travel; Human Fesources). The document was
filled by UNFCCC staff. Self-assessment is a practice that can be fragile insofar as the
gaze can be subjective.

219. Nevertheless, the frand nsk assessment is fragmentary and seems to be Inaccurate.
The analysis does not cover all financial and management processes. For example, with
regard fo procurement, the nsks mnduced by the pre-selection of badders dunng closed
procurement procedures of during shopping and requests for quotation have not been
assessed. Simularly, the assessment does not address the risks of conflicts of inferest in
decision-making commuttees, such as the partnership committee. Confrols in place
mapped n the assessment focus on prevenfion, and sometimes deserve to be
complemented by reduction-oriented actions.

220. UNFCCC identified five high risks for which treatment actions are to be defined
For mstance, the segregation of duties for 1ssmng purchase orders, between the requesting
fimetion and the procurement fimetion. do not prevent sufficientty the nisk of conflict of
interests. According to the risk assessment, the new delegation of authonity framewordk is
supposed to mitigate the risk as approving officers abstain from approving purchase
orders relating to goodsiservices required m areas for which they bear immediate
responsibility. This mmplementation 15 in progress.

221. The above-mentioned controls contrbute to prevent fraud and comuption, as well as
the available UN trammg “Preveniing frand and cormaption”. 82 percent of the UNFCCC
staff completed this trammng.

212, The mechanisms to detect cases of frand and cormption are msufficient. For
mstance, no mdependent focal point whom te report to 1s identified and there is no
advertisement for this challenge The identification of cases only relies on two shallow
mechanisms: the possibility to handle suspicions to the management, for UNFCCC staff
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only, and the exstence of a webpage dedicated to handle fraud and an e-mail address'*
available onlme. A SOP frames the provision of this email address. Nevertheless, it
concems the “handling of fraudulsnt emails received at the secretariat’s generic email
account” and not the general reporting of cases of fraud or comuption.

223, However, no procedure is implemented in the organization to treat suspicions and
cases of fraud and cormuption. No dedicated governance 1s in place. No investigation body
15 appointed The MT sub-commmitee on ethics 15 not nussioned to endorse these
responsibiliies. The secunty and the safety of wlistle-blowers as well as witnesses are
not ensured by a UNFCCC specific mechanism with the exception of UNFCCC bulletin
B/2006/2 implements the UN Secretaniat bulletin ST'5GB/2005/21 on “Protection against
retaliation for reporting misconduct and for cooperating with duly authonzed audits or
mvestigations. This bulletin refers to the UN Secretariat framework of action.

224, The Board recommends that the UNFCCC Secretariat better prevent the risks
of fraud, corruption and misconduct by enhancing and updating detection and
treatment svstems.

225. The Board considers that, to that extent UNFCCC should (i) develop a
comprehensive anfi-frand, anti-commuption and misconduct framework to prevent, identify
and treat cases, (ii) review the Terms of Feference of the MT sub-committes on ethics to
add the nussion of anh-fraud and cormupton system overseemng, and (1) Infegrate and
update regularty the frand risk assessment in the Enterpnise Fisk Management system.

226. The UNFCCC Secretariat accepted the recommendation.

b. Strengthening oversight

227 UNFCCC’s enterprise nisk management framework needs to be updated (see
Board’s recommendation 2019 — 188) and its formal ERM management dynamics is ata
standstill since early 2021. The constitution of the new mmplementing and monitoring
structure has however imtiated a new dynamic to ERM management that should allow to
move forward on the 1ssue.

228. A workplan has thus been established for 2022 — 2023. Begarding specifically the
enterprise risk management framework, the Organisational Development and Owversight
Unit 15 charged to:

- “Review applicable policies and frameworls as well as system-wide
benchmaris for ERM in the United Nations (1. JIU reports) (by the end of
first quarter 2023).

- “Iotwe  clarifications  owadiusiments fo applicable enterprize risk
management policies and guidelines for the UNFCCC, inchuding: Enterprise
risk management Committes(s), clear roles and responsibilities for risk
identification, reporting, and mitigation plans; [the Organisational
Development and Cversight Unit]'s role in advising on approprints
mitigation methods " (by the end of second quarter 2023).

- “Revamp UNFCCC risk register, and consider infroducing a risk
management dashboard” (by the end of second quarter 2023).

- Complete the audit recommendation ~... that UNFCOCOC addresses the risks
it i exposed fo through an up-fo-date enterprise risk management that
includes owners and due dates and a documentation ™" (by the end of third
quarter 2023).

229, These actions have not been implemented yet.

230. Due consideration should however be given to the goverming body in charge of EFM
management. The lack of activity of the MT sub-commuttes on ethics, can be considered
an Issue, as addressing frand, commuption, mismanagement, ete. should be moved forward
{see above and the Board's recommendation 2017-138). Moreover, the MT sub-
commuttee on financial management is focusing on menitoring expenditures, allocatmg

¥ sacretafat@unfocc. int
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fimds, and monitormg biennium budget preparations. It mainly acts on a narrow scope of
1ts missions to the detriment of risk management. Besides, as the sub-commuttee acts as
the first “line of defence™ for mmercus financial issues, giving it the role of second “line
of defence”™ on risk management 1s not suitable.

231. The MT sub-commuittee on ethucs, for 1ts part, should be in charge of the respect of
the principles of mtegmity, conformity and accountabality. Giving ERMs oversight to this
sub-commuttee, m addition to fraud and cormuption management (see above), would be
more consistent

232, Shifting the govemance of sk management to this commuittes would also give room
to specific discussions on UNFCCC’s nisk appetite. Indeed, defining the Organization’s
appetite regarding the most cotical msks 15 a necessary step that should also imply its
goveming bodies. Reflecting on the nsk appetite of UNFCCC could help buildng more
consensns among stakeholders and priontizing risk response measures.

233, To thus extent, UNFCCC could consider shiftmg nsk management oversight from
the MT sub-committee on financial management to a MT sub-committee on ethics and
nisk management The Organisational Development and Orversight Unit’s manager, acting
as Choef Fisk Officer, should be part of this commuttee. This could be settled through the
review of the MT sub-commuttess” framework, 1e. the terms of reference, the
composition, the reciurence and the nanming.

234, UNFCCC should also consider imvolving on a more regular basis its goveming
bodies, including the SBI and the COP, i the strategic decisions regarding the
management of the most critical nsks.

235, These developments should form part of a broader reflection on the definition of
gemune policy dedicated to nsk management (see below).

¢. Better articulating with the wider accountability framework

236. The adoption of the Paris Agreement marked a fummg peint in the global process
to combat climate change. Parties should now be in the implementation stage, and the
focus In negotiations has shifted from setting target to delivering on goals. This implies a
new era for UNFCCC, as reflected in its recent restructuring.

237. However, the adaptation of UNFCCC to this new environment 1s far from achieved.
The assessment of the benefits of the restructuring is not camed out yet and an overall
reflection on its being “fit for purpose”™ will go on.

238, In this context, the new Executive Secretary lavmched an internal initiative to reflect
on the long-term vision of UNFCCC with senior management.

239, The Executive Secretary also launched an mitiative to strengthen the accountability
framework of UNFCCC by elaborating a UNFCCC-wide prionitised workplan for 2023,
coordinated by the Orgamisational Development and Cversight Umnit, that foreshadows a
results-based management ponciple. The purpose of the work plan 15: *1) fo provide a
clear overview of deliverables and priorities of the work of the secretariar for 2023 1) to
puide the agenda-setting of the fumre MIT meefings and other regular coordination
mgetings; i) to identify and manage risks associated with the deliverables ™ This
mtiative 15 particularly useful msofar as the areas of work of UNFCCC are particularly
numerous and diverse.

240. The identification of non-delivery nsks 1s also very useful. These nsks belong to
three main categories: political, teclnical and financial The next steps would then consist
in identifying the relevant actions to be undertaken by UNFCCC to mitizate those risks.
241. The link between the pricrities identified in the work plan and the proposed
allocation of financial resources doesn't exist vet Enhancing the accountability
framework by quantifying the resources allocated to each priority would also be very
usefil.
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242, In any case, a more mature nsk management through an updated ERM policy should
contnbute to strengthen the overall accoumtability framework of UNFCCC, as nsk
management 1s inherently linked to programme planming and budgeting, assessing results
and performance, and implementing infernal control.

Figure [LV
Risk management and accountability framework

programime
planning and
budget

risk
management

Source: Board of Anditors.

243, The clanfication on UNFCCC’s absence of obligation to implement UN issuances
as such allows UNFCCC to develop its own policy on enterprise nsk management. This
would allow to address both the enterprise risk management govemance and overall
architecture of the enterprise risk management framework, setting-up a procedure to
identify risks addressed at the corporate level and risks addressed at divizsion level. This
policy should be consistent with the UN enterpnise risk management and infernal policy
(2011} and the guide for manager, and deviations kept to the need to adapt the policy to
UNFCCC constraints.

244 The Board recommends that the UNFCCC Secretariat adopt its own risk
management policy with the objectives of reinforcing the global oversight on risks
and better articulating it with the wider accountability framework

245, The Board considers that fhis risk management policy should notably aim at
covermg both corporate level and operational level nsks, mcludmg at divisien level, and
better streamlining nsk management with internal confrel, strategic programmung,
budgeting and reporting on performance. This framework would also gain to be endorsed
at the level of UNFCCC’s legislative body.

246. The UNFCCC Secretaniat accepted the recommendation.

Access rights to Umaoja

247. Despite the UNFCCC Secretariat’s efforts to follow of the mles issued by the United
Nations Secretanat aimed at secunng access nights to the Umoja IT system, the Board
identified that some difficulties persist, incleding on derogations from the principle of
segregation of duties where greater formalization and the mtroduction of compensatory
confrols are needed.
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41. Risks at stake and need to simplify Umoja “roles”

248. The Board noted risks denived from the architecture of “roles” defining the job of a
user and the “transaction”, making it possible to camy out a particular task of the job of
the user1 6, m UNFCCC-Umaoja.

249 If the Secunty Liaison Officer contributes to the creation of employess access to
Umoja, medifies access in the context of changing fimctions or finally terminates access
nights to the system, only the system admimistrator is authonized to mtervene to modify or
develop the architecture of “roles™ and permissions m Umoja.

250. Yet, the Board noted vanous mstances where employees of companies have access
to transactions that could present risks regarding integrity of management data, financial
statements and even frand

251, At UNFCCC’s scale, the architecture of “roles”™ in Umoja seems oversized
conapared to the needs of users in terms of number of “roles™ and “transactions™. In the
Umoja system, the archatecture of “roles™ adopted seems very complex. There are 25,761
roles to potentially mm wp to 125096 framsactions. In this Information and
Commmication Technology (ICT) configuration, a total of 424 users access 111 Umoja
“roles™ which allow to execute up to 1,566 transactions. 57 users were identified who can
access between 300 and up to 1,566 transactions.

252, A smplhification of the content of the roles which is based on the use of fransactions
15 therefore essential to reduce the nsks and improve performance In user management.
Thus simplification could also provide an opportumty fo review access to ransactions that
allow launching confidential reperts in the system that do not fall within the scope of
employess. This simplification should be requested by the UNFCCC secretanat to the UN
secretanat.

4.2, Need for precision in job descriptions with Umoja “roles” and “transactions™

253. The Umoja user access provisioning procedure states that the provisioning of Umoja
“user roles” is based on a process between the staff the supervisor and the Secumity
Liaison Officer. Only the Head of Secunty Liaison officer has the authonzations to add
o remove roles from user files with the suppoert of the "fimetional approver”.

254 Umoja “role” assizmment requests are drafted by the UNFOCC Secunty Liaison
officer, then confirmed by the user and approved by the supersor of the user. “The head
Secmt_', Liaison officer (at the UN office n Geneva] then submuits these requests for new
Umeja “role”™ assignments to the Umeja service desk at the UN Secretariat. Depending
on the requested roles, further approvals are required by fimetional approvers (Umoja
“role” owners). For new staff members designated to perfonnﬂ:te same role as an existing
staff member, the Umoja “roles™ assigned to the existing staff member may be used as
reference.

255, In a confext marked by the absence of an annex to the job descnption which would
specify the “roles™ and “fransactions” necessary to camry out the tasks without risk in the
system the use as a reference base of the “roles” and “transactions™ of the employees
already created m the system mught be nsky. In some cases, the roles could be
meompatible with each other or not adapted for employeas.

256, An ammex to an SOP on Umoja nghts could list a "Core Model” of the “roles”™ and
Umoja “transactions” necessary for the different fimetions that are proposed i job
descriptions. The amival at the UNFCCC of a new Secunity Liaison officer in October
2022 could be an opportunity to review the allocation process on the basis of job

14 “Tole™ in the Umoja system contains several SAP “transactions™ codes. The ‘role’ defines the
job of a user (example: accountant, supplier) and the SAP transacton code makes it possible to
carry out @ specific task of the job of the user (example: mnning reports or creating a purchaze
arder)”.
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descriptions and not on the basis of the roles formerly assigned to employees already
created in the system.

257. For non-permument emplovees who can work within the UNFCCC for up to two
vears, all Umoja “role”™ requests nmst have an end date corresponding to the end date of
the contract. Otherwise, the responsible Secunty Tiaison officer may reject the Umoja
“role” assignment request When the contract is extended the UNFCCC must request an
extension of the role assignment. For fixed-term staff end dates are not required by the
UN Secretaniat in Umoja user records. Indeed, almost all fixed-term staff contracts are
extended Additionally, HF. notifies Secunity Liaison officer (via broadcast email) of staff
departures, who notifies Security Liaison officer in order to take action m Umoja. Incases
where staff are not extended. ICT deactivates their UNFCOCC account, which mcludes
access to Umoja. The closing of this access should in pnneiple also make it possible to
terminate access to Umeja, even if this may occur between 3 and 4 weeks after the
employee's departure from the UNFCCC organization However, no effective imbedded
controls in that respect were identified. and no formal process is implemented to ensure
that the users moving from UNFCCC are deprovisioned of thelr previous roles.

4.3, Oversight on derogations to the segregation of duties principle

258, UNFCCC does not sufficiently formalize, document and motivate its practice of the
segregation of duty rules. It is also not in a position to present to the Board compensatory
controls in cases of risky combination of Tmoja “roles™.

259, The assessment of the risks related to the segregation of duties in Umoja falls under
the responsibility of the UNFCCC Secretanat, and the segregation of dubies rules issued
by the UN Secretariat are considered as indicative. However, if the UNFCCC Secretanat
decides to derogate from the segregation of duties nules, it should imperatively justify it
on a case-by-case basis I Light of the issues and nisks that this decision could generate.

260. It is also essential to document that the appropnate confrols to check how this
derogation is implemented are in place, a stem from a well-formalized procedure. For amy
derogation from segregation of duties rules that could expose the UNFCCC to critical
nisks, it is essential to define and formalize the compensating controls to track and mitigate
the nisks.

261. A total of 21 users were identified, who access risky “role” crossovers with roles
that do not respect the sepamtion of duties Im Umoja. A total of 85 role association
sitmations present risks. Regardless of the number of users, the launched nisk analysis
finally displays nine cross-nisk associations. For & situations, the UNFCCC justifies it by
the fact that « This segregation of duty vielation was considered low misk by the UNFCCC
and granted by the owner of the role of the UN Secretanat after the UNFCCC requested
an exception. With the above Umeja “roles™, users can initiate “transactions”, but those
“transactions” are only published after a Cerfifying Agent *and* an Approving Agent
approves them Therefore, the UNFCCC considered assigning these roles to the same
low-risk wser”. It is however essential for UNFCCC to demonstrate through a pesterion
checks that the “transactions” entered into Umoja by these users have been sulbject to
double validation

262. For the last simation of nisky combination of roles, UNFCCC considers that “The
LIV Secretariat has recently determined that these roles are in conflict, where they were
not previously. This segregation of duty conflict is now being handled with the Security
Ligison officer, User Section Chigf and ASHRICT" Director. The offending role will
either be revoked or, if deemed an acceptable risk, an exception reguest will be made fo
the UN Secretariat”. The response of the UNFCCC Secretaniat to this sitnation of nisky
association of roles needs to be locked at. Compensatory controls should be defimed.
formalized, documented and implemented.

263. In conclusion the management of access rights to Umoja for UNFCCC users should
be secured by a remediation plan aimed at controlling the nisks. First of all, the Umaoja
“roles™ of UNFCCC users nherit, from the architecture of nghts adopted by the system

17 Administrative Services, Human Resources, & Information and Communication Technology.
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administrators, three nisky points which mmst be dealt with without delay: the UNFCCC
secretanat should make a request to the Umoja system administrator to solve these issues.
Then, a simplification of the authorizations could be addressed by adapting to the needs
and practice of the users as well as by the definfion of a “Core Model” of UMOJA nghts
by fimction. Finally, the degree of applicababity and/or derogation to the segregation of
duties miles nmst be formalized documented, motivated and compensatory controls mmst
be presented to the Board for any situation of nsky combination of Umoja “roles™

264, The Board recommends that the UNFCCC Secretariat conduct a review of all
Umaoja-ralated UNFCCC relevant internal processes and rules to mitigate risks
related to access rights.

263. The Board considers that this review should pay particular attention to the way the
prnciple of segregation of duty is ensured m the context of the delegation of authority
framework. Any detogation should be exceptional, duly justified and closely momitored.

266. The UNFCCC Secretaniat accepted the recommendation. It stated that 1t would issue
a standard operating procedure outlining the processes for:

- assignment of Umoja “Toles™;

- addressing segregation of duty viclations;

-  removing access to Umoja and'or deprovisiomng of roles wpon a staff
member’'s movement o separation;

- an amnex will be attached which will contain a list of standard roles
associated with specific fimetions (Finance Officer, Travel Assistant, etc.)
These role-associations will be used as a starting point of refence only. They
may be modified as the actual duties of the individual calls for.

Transmission of information by management

Write-off of losses of cash, receivables and non-expendable property

267. UNFCCC reported to the Board that a pledze of $8.890 of outstanding travel
advances paid to participants to UNFCCC events were deemed wmcollectible and
subsequently written off during the vear ended 31 December 2022 No wnite-offs of losses
of property were reported. Fespective supporting documents were available for all cases.
The write-offs were conducted in accordance with Financial Fule 106.7 (a).

Ex gratia payments

268. UNFCCC stated that ex gratia payments were not made 1 2022

Cases of fraud and presumptive frand

260. In accordance with the International Standards on Auditing (ISA 240), the
Board plans its audits of the financial statements so that it has a reasonable
expectation of idenfifying matenial misstatements and imegularities (including
those resulting from fraud). The Board’s audit, however, should not be relied upon
to identify all misstatements or irregularities. Primary responsibility for preventing
and detecting fraud rests with Management.

270. During the audit, the Board made enquiries of Management regarding the
oversight responsibility for assessing the risks of material frand and the processes
mn place for identifying and responding to the nsks of fraud, ncluding any specific
risks that Management has identified or that have been brought to Management's
attention. The Board also enguired whether Management had any knowledge of any
actual, suspected or alleged fraud. This includes enquiries of the Office of Internal
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Oversight Services. The additional terms of reference goveming external audit
include cases of fraud and presumptive fraud in the list of matters that should be
referred to in its report.

271. UNFCCC stated that there was no case of fraud or presumptive fraud for the
financial year ended 31 December 2022.

272. The Board has not identified any instances of fraud in its audit, and no cases
have come to the Board’s attention as a result of the review.
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Status of implementation of recommendations up to the financial vear ended 31 December 2021

United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change

N Audit report Report
No.
year reference

Board s recommendation

Managements response

Board s assessment

Status after verification

FCCC/SBY/
2018/
1 2017 INF.11
chap. IL.
para. 60

FCCC/SBL
2018/
2 2017 INF 11
chap. IL.
para 117

FCCC/SBY
2018/
3 2017 INF.11
chap. IL,
para. 138

FCCC/SBY
2019/ INF 9

4 2018

The Board recommends that UNFCCC
review its funding policy for after-
service health insurance and repatriation
liabilities, in particular the duration of
the accumulation phase. and seek a COP
decision on the funding plan.

The Board recommends that UNFCCC
expedite the revision process of its
procurement policy and procedures in
order to provide an up-to-date basis for
its procurement activities

The Board recommends that UNFCCC
perform a fraud risk assessment in line
with or embedded in the enterprise risk
management

The Board recommends that UNFCCC
incorporate the liabilities incurred by
staff financed from indicative

SBI56 has considered and took
note of pessible long-term
financing strategies for
secretariat employee benefit
liabilities, namely the options
"pay as you ge", "monthly
accrual” and "ene-time payment
followed by annual
adjustments”.

UNFCCC expedited the revision
process of its procurement
policy and standard operating
procedures in the context of the
policy review which was
initiated in 2022. The update
benefitted from important legal
clarifications and a bread in-
house review process.

UNFCCC performed a frand
nsk assessment across several
business areas, including
amongst other things accounting
and reporting, treasury services,
and procurement. Future
iterations will be embedded in a
revamped enterprise risk
management system, supported
by an adequate internal control
framework to assess the
completeness and effectiveness
of mitigation actions.

See No.1 above

The recommendation is
considered to be
implemented

The recommendation is
considered to be under
implementation. The
Board 1s still waiting
for the final signed
version of the Policy
and their SOPs

A fraud assessment has
been camied out on
several areas

The recommendation is
considered to be
implemented.

Under Not Overtake
L nby
on d evenrs
X
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Status after verification

Overtake
nby

evenis

chap. IL
para. 47

FCCC/SBIY
2019/ INF.9
chap. IL,
para. 55

5 2018

FCCC/SBIY
2019/ INF.9
chap. IL
para. 63

6 2018

FCCC/SBIY
2019/ INF9
chap 1L,
para. 70

7 2018

FCCC/SBIY
2019/ INF.9
chap. IL,
para. 135

g 2018

contributions in its funding policy
review for employee benefits and seek a
COP decision.

The Board recommends that UNFCCC
assess the possibilities of investment
approaches within the cash pool for the
Teserves set aside to cover for the after-
service health insurance liabilities, in
consultation with United Nations
Treasury.

The Board recommends that UNFCCC
consult with the actuary and United
Nations Headquarters on the data basis
for the actuarial valuation of employee
benefits liabilities to enhance the
accuracy of the actuarial valuation

The Board recommends that UNFCCC
assess, in consultation with United
Nations Headquarters, whether it is
beneficial to conclude agreements with
the organizations of incoming and
leaving UNFCCC staff to gain legal
assurance on the employee benefit
liabilities incurred for those staff
members

The Board recommends that UNFCCC
adopt the United Nations staff selection
policies system in the then applicable

UNFCCC assessed possibilities
of investment approaches both
within and outside of the cash
pool, in consultation with UN
Treasury. Decisions on future
investment decisions will be
informed by this.

UNFCCC clarified the data
basis for the actuarial valuation
of employee benefits liabilities
by distinguishing entry of duty
dates for staff members
depending on their service for
UNFCCC and the UN system as
a whole.

Based on data from the actuary,
UNFCCC clarified that the
census data includes both EOD
dates in UNFCCC and the UN
commeon system to calculate the
actuarial valuation In addition,
eligibility requirements which
contributes towards the
organizations’ financial liability
can be determined against the
EOD dates, but also against
assignment histery, contract
type (fixed term appointments),
age upon separation and other
criteria.

In accordance with the
institutional linkage of the
UNFCCC secretariat to the
United Nations (UN), the
UNFCCC Executive Secretary

The recommendation is
considered to be under
implementation

The Board 1s still
waiting for the proof of
assessment carried out
by UNFCCC

The recommendation is
considered to be
implemented.

The recommendation is
considered to be
implemented.

AT/2023/5 has been
approved by the ES and
entered into force on 15
February 2023

Under Not
4 . "
on d
X
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Overtake
n by

evenis

FCCC/SBI
2020/ INF.9
chap. IL.
para. 145

9 2019

FCCC/SBL
10 2020/ INF.9
2019 chap. IL
para 188

wersion or request approval of deviations
by the end of December 2019

The Board recommends that UNFCCC
ensure that the intended results of the
restructuring such as efficiency gains
and “being fit for purpese™ are
measured, tracked and evaluated.

The Board recommends that UNFCCC
address the risks it is exposed to through
an up-to-date enterprise risk
management that includes owners and
due dates and a documentation

has broad authority over the
personnel administration of the
UNFCCC secretariat. This
includes the authority to
promulgate the policies and
procedures for such
administration provided they are
consistent with decisions of the
Conference of the Parties and
the UN Staff Regulations and
Rules. On 15 February 2022 the
new UNFCCC staff selection
process became effective
through UNFCCC
administrative instruction
Al/2023/5.

UNFCCC has tracked main
indicators of efficiency and fit-
for-purposeless of the structural
reform and intends to complete
its evaluation of the data by
year-end with data for the entire
20

/23 biennium.

Work on ERM has progressed as
pari of the ODO workplan and
will gain momenium in the
second half af 2023

UNFCCC received
confirmation from the
Office of Legal Affairs
that the Executive
Secretary has the
authoerity to approve
policies applicable to
UNFCCC’s secretariat.

Therefore, adoption of
the UN policy or
request for deviation is
not necessary.

The recommendation is
considered overtaken by
events.

A first list of indicators
has been communicated
to the Board This
proposal still needs to be
shared and approved
within the Secretariat

The recommendation 1s
considered under
implementations.

This year, the Board
will propose
recommendations on
risk management that
will complement this
recommendation, that
still remains valid.

Considering
Organizational
Development and
Oversight {ODO)'s
workplan, the
recommendation can be

Under Not
on d
X
X
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Status after verification

FCCC/SBI/

2021/INF 4
chap. II,
para.33

FCCC/SBL
2021/INF 4
chap. II,
para.i1

FCCC/SBU
2021/INE 4
chap II,
para.6l

13 2020

FCCC/SBL
2021/INE 4
chap II,
para.81

14 2020

The Board recommends that UNFCCC
Teview its financial statement discussion
and analysis (chapter IV) to improve
adherence to RPG 2.

The Board recommends that UNFCCC
describe the annual process and
management of cost recovery in a
procedural guideline approved by the
Executive Secretary. This guideline
should include potential measures in
case of excessive surpluses or deficits
from the cost recovery scheme.

The Board recommends that UNFCCC
describe the annual process and
management of programme support
costs in a procedural guideline approved
by the Executive Secretary. Based on
further analysis of prior years — the
guideline should include potential
measures in case of excessive surpluses
or deficits from programme support
costs and incorporate them into the
procedural guideline.

The Board recommends that UNFCCC
comply with the Procurement Manual in
further low value acquisition processes.

UNFCCC has reviewed and
enhanced chapter IV of the 2022
financial statement and will do
s0 for the future ones as well.

In progress.

In progress.

Clarity has been reached as te
the fact that there is no provision
in the institutional arrangements
between the UN Secretariat and
UNFCCC that would mmply any

considered under
implementation.

The recommendation is
considered to be
implemented.

The Board is waiting for
the final FS submission

The recommendation is
considered to be under
implementation. The
Board shared with
UNFCCC suggestions
and remarks to be
included in the Policy
regarding the
management of
potential surplus and
deficit

The Board is waiting
for the final version
signed by ES

The recommendation is
considered to be under
implementation. The
Board shared with
UNFCCC suggestions
and remarks to be
included in the Policy.

The Board is waiting
for the final version
signed by ES

AT/2023/1 indicates that
the UN Procurement
Manual is higher in the
hierarchy of norms than
any UNFCCC’s

Under Not QOvertaie
i imp " by
on d evenis
X
X
X
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UNECCC
20227
chap. II,
para.24

15 201

UNFCCC
120224
chap. IL
para 28

16 2021

UNECCC

20227

The Board recommends that UNFCCC
formalize alternative kinds of
inventories such as permanent inventory
of PP&E as alternatives to annual
inventory.

The Board recommends that UNFCCC
enhance the quality assurance for
drafting the financial statements and the
financial report

The Board recommends that UNFCCC
continue to closely monitor
developments in financial accounting

authority on the part of UN
OICT over UNFCCC ICT, its
set-up or operations. The draft
new UNFCCC procurement
policy and related SOPs thus
stipulate clearance of ICT
requirements by UNFCCC ICT
division.

UNFCCC initiated
implementation of a
configuration management
database in ServiceNow which
will be able to give permanent
update on the inventory

UNFCCC acknowledges this
recommendation and will take
action to implement it.

This has been implemented as
requested.

administrative
nstructions

UNFCCC will only be
able to deviate from the
Procurement Manmal if
it is specified in the
final delegation of
autherity from the UN
Secretary General to the
Executive Secretary on
procurement.

The recommendation is
considered to be under
implementation

UNFCCC has shared
with the Board the
estimated
implementation date of
the configuration
management database
in ServiceNow which is
fixed to the end of June
2023

The recommendation is
considered under
implementation

No update shared with
the Board regarding this
recommendation and
the same observation
was noted during the
audit of 2022 Financial
Statements

The recommendation is
considered to be
implemented.

Under Not Overtake
ed  imp s nby
an d avents
X
X
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Ne. X i P Board's recommendation Management s response Board 5 a: ment d imp 1 n by
year reference
: on d vents
chap. IL standards and briefly analyze which
para.33 upcoming changes may affect the entity.
For the changes that have potentially
UNFCCC far-reaching impacts, the Board further Th dat
2022/ recommends that UNFCCC analyses This has been implemented as © recommendaion 1s
18 2021 - considered to be
chap 1L these impacts in detail, develop requested
. R implemented.
para.34 implementation plans and discuss them
with stakeholders
UNFCCC  The Board recommends that UNFCCC ~ UNFCCC has not started this The implementation has
R L N not started and the
10 2031 120221 reconsider introducing a SIC based on activity due to staff constraints, recommendation is x
- chap. II the SIC signed by the Secretary-General  but will do so shortly after a X
- . . considered not
para.40 in 2021. critical position was filled. X 3
implemented yet.
At its third meeting (November
2023), the SB adopted the
Article 6.4 Mechanism Resource
UNFCCE The Board recommends that UNFCCC Allocation Plan 2023. Table 2 of
2023/ revise the project descriptions for the RAP specifies 2023 The recommendation is
20 2021 e projects financed by the CDM transfer resourcing requirements te considered to be
chap. 1L L X o X
arad9 so that the amount and timing of the deliver the activities and outputs  implemented
para- transfer can be reasonably justified. required to operationalize the
mechanism. The plan also
provides indicative resource
requirements for 2024 and 2023,
UNFCCC issued the Policy
Compendium to provide an TI“IAI provided
accessible platform called (AL/2023/2) only
The Board recommends that UNFCCC “Policies Portal” and source for authorizes the
UNFCCE have a catalogue of all rules, including all ) compendium, but the
20227 those rules to which applicable rules UNFCCC FDhCl_ﬂ- The content compendium does not
1 2021 ]; "ﬁ refer, irrespective of whether they are of the C‘)’g‘i’e‘}d};‘mﬁ "“Iil l_;;f . appear as such on the X
cuap- UNFCCC's own rules or United Nations o ntathed by the Legal Atfairs SIA: there ismo
para.63 division, as the

rules. This catalogue would need to be
maintained on a regular basis.

custodian of the administrative
issuances that apply to the
UNFCCC

compilation of mles set
according to the
categories stated in
AT2023/2.

o
-
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Ne. i P EBoard s recommendation Management s response Boards assessment imp i n by
year reference
: on d events
The recommendation is
considered to be under
implementation.
Administrative
instruction AI.2023/1
has been promulgated
UNFCCC clarified in its and specifies that the
UNECCC The Board recommends that UNFCCC promulgation of UNFCCC FRE. SRR and
- , 033/ add an u.‘.'e.-rarchmg clause to each of its ad.n:‘ujni’s‘h:nive issuances Procurement Manual
22 2021 chap. IL own policies that the financial rules (:'\I.-_O._B- 1) that the UN . prevail over UNECCC
para.67 (FRE) and the staff rules (SRR) take financial and staff rules take administrative
precedence. precedence over UNFCCC istuances
administrative instructions.
The recommendation is
considered
implemented.
The Board has
identified several
policies that
contradicted the staff
rules and regulations
The UNFCCC has established a and others that
In additien, the Board recommends that proper drafling, review and . conflicted with the
UNFCCC eliminate all shortcomings in approval process for reviewing procurement manual.
23 2021 N - R all shortcomings that were . X
UNFCCC policies that were identified in = . These pelicies are being
: - identified in UNFCCC policies X
the policy review as soon as possible. N N reviewed, but new
and has started issuing new L
X . . policies are not
administrative instructions
promulgated yet.
The recommendation is
therefore considered as
being under
implementation.
The Board recommends that UNFCCC UNFCCC “’ce“‘e‘? leial .
ligise with OLA to clarify to what extent  2ssusance that ST/AL286 is not The recommendation is
5 N the COP can approve a reserve that is applicable to the UNFCCC and -
24 2021 that it can issue its own considered to be

supposed to be significantly higher than
specified in the United Nations
instructions.

administrative instruction on this
matter. Hence, the UNFCCC can
approve a reserve that differs

implemented.
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No. Board s recommendation Managements response Board s assessment pl i I nby
year reference
on d events
from the one applicable to the
UN Secretariat under ST/AL286
The Board also recommends that UNFCCC received legal
UNECCC UNFCCC, in case UNFCCC may assurance that ST/AI/286 is not The recommendation is
25 2001 2022/ deviate from the United Nations applicable to the UNFCCC and considered to be under x
- - chap II, administrative mstruction ST/AL286, that it can issue its own -
. A . . - . . implementation
para.90 revise the administrative instruction in administrative instruction on this
order to comply with 15/CP.1 matter
OLA clanfied that UN
Secretariat
administrative issuances
are meant to apply
“only to the UN
Secretariat unless
explicitly stated
otherwise by the
Secretary-General or by
vnrcce  Lbe Boardrecommends Mat UNFCCC  yrvpece received legal an appropriate Under-
0 ; seek clarification from OLA in how far : = Secretary-General or
2 2001 120220 UNFCCC is bound by United Nations  Soneace that it can issue its :
) i chap. IL ad:mimstrati\‘e issuances in financial own adwinistrative issuances in Assistant Secrefary-
para.96 financial matters. General, or unless
matters. expressly accepted and
adopted by the
executive heads of the
separately administered
funds, organs and
programmes”
The recommendation is
considered
implemented.
Important changes to UNFCCC
UNECCE The Board further r ds that d rative issuances will be
2033/ UNFCCC should bring important summarized in a yet to be The recommendation is
27 2021 ch_ap_ I changes to UNFCCC administrative identified format and document considered not X
para:‘}g. issuances to the attention of the COP as and brought te the attention of implemented yet.

the governing body of the UNFCCC.

COP28 in December 2023, and
subsequently to future COPs_
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Ne. i Board s recommendation Managements response Board s assessment d imp i imp n by
year reference
on d EVEnts
The crowdfunding platform was
launched through a "donate now" The Link provided is
UNFCCC  The Board recommends that UNFCCC bottom on the UNFCCC budget ~ efficient and leads to
28 2021 12022/ officially launch its crowdfunding site, leading to the UNFCCC the donation platform x
- - chap. II, platform and publish the donation web donations platform The recommendation is
para.111 page as soon as possible https://act.unfoundation org/enli considered to be
neactionsmEiPXUG0gEybCkzQS  jmplemented
TMM_w2
There is currently no
Currently. the secretariat does information on the
not directly receive any website explaining how
individual contributions from much contributions
- The Board recommends that UNFCCC crowdfunding, but grants from have been received
UNECCC blish + information about UNF which are channeled v from the crowdfunding
12022/ pu I. Summary iniormation abou L\ w I(‘IHIEC ANne e ‘li:l - e
29 2021 chap. 11 donations from non-Party stakeholders TUNFIP against approved project platform and how it is X
P and members of the public at largze onits  documents. As per current been utihzed (channeled
para.116 website. practice, UNFCCC will publish to projects through the
the donor's name on the website UNFIP grant).
as a donor to the Trust Fund for The recommendation is
Supplementary Activities. considered under
implementation
The project has been prioritized
in 2023 and already translated
UnFece  The Board recommends that UNFOCC “lll:;nd::ﬁ;n"ﬂ’l‘:m;‘le A policy is being
| | include the project of establishing an ’ DUy poucy . drafted on the 1s5ue.
30 2021 12022/ environmental management system sectetatiat aspires fo obain jon i X
- chap. II, . = Y . certification of its environmental ~ 10€ {ecommendanon =
based on an internationally recognized considered to be
para.133 <tandard in the next workplan management against an _
P internationally recognized Lmplemented
standard, such as ISO 14001 or
EMAS.
Total number of recommendations 30 14 12 3 1
Percentage of the total number of recommendations 100 46.7 40 10.0 33

e
n
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Chapter ITI

Certification of the Financial Statements

The financial statements of the United Nations Framework Convention on
Climate Change (UNFCCC) for the year ending 31 December 2022 have been
prepared in accordance with financial mle 106.1. They include all trust funds and
special accounts operated by UNFCCC.

A summary of significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these statements is included as a note to the financial statements. The notes to the
financial statements provide additional information and clarification on the
financial activities undertaken by UNFCCC dunng the period covered by the
statements, for which the Executive Secretary had administrative responsibility.

I certify that the appended financial statements of the United Nations
Framework Convention on Climate Change for the year ending 31 December 2022
are correct.

(Signed) Simon Stiell
Exzecufive Secretary
20 June 2023

Motes to the Sxancial sariuments
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Chapter TV

A

Financial report for the vear ended 31 Decemhber 2022
Introduction

1.  The permanent secretariat of the United Wations Framework Convention on Climate
Change (UNFCCC) was established in Jamary 1996 for the following purposes to (a)
arrange for sessions of the Conference of the Parties and its subsidiary bodies established
under the Convention, the Kyoto Protocol and the Panis Agreement and to provide them
with services as required; (b} compile and transmit reports submitted to it; (c) facilitate
assistance to Parties particularly developing country Parties on request m the compilation
and commmication of information required in accordance with the provisions of the
Convention, the Kyoto Protocol and the Pans Agreement; (d} prepare reports on its
activities and present them to the Conference of the Parfies; (2) ensure the necessary
coordination with the secretarats of other relevant mtemational bodies; (f) enter, wmder
the overall mudance of the Conference of the Parties, mto such administrative and
contractual arrangements as may be required for the effective discharge of its fimetions;
(g) perform other secretanat fimctions specified in the Convention and in any of its
protocels; and (h) imdertake any other fimetions as may be determined by the Conference
of the Parties.

2. The financial statements of the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate
Change (UNFCCC) are prepared m accordance with International Public Sector
Accomnting Standards (TPSAS) and are subnutted to the Conference of Parties (COP) in
accordance with the financial procedures. The financial statements mclude all operations
under the direct authonity of the Executive Secretary including the core budget, extra-
budgetary fimanced activities, and activities wnder the Clean Development Mechanism
(CDM).

3.  This financial report should be read in conjunction with the UNFCOCC audited
financial statements for 2022, but they do not form part of the statements. The financial
report 15 mtended to provide readers of the financial results with a more holishe
understanding of the meaning of the numbers and inform stakeholders about how financial
resources are being managed.

2022 Financial Highlights

Total revenue:

4. Revenue in 2022 totalled USD 112.7 mullion mainly consisting of:

{a)  Themdicative contmbutions to the core budget of USD 34.9 nullion and USD
0.7 mallion to the budget of the Infermational transaction log;

3] Voluntary contributions from doners totalled TSD 40.2 nullion;

(c) Feas for the CDM and Joint Implementation mechamsms USD 32.1 million.
Total expenses:
3. Expensesin 2022 totalled USD 1325 pullion mainly consisting of:

(@) Personne] expenses amownting to USD 38.5 mullion,

(b Travel USD 12 4 million,

(c) Contractual services for USD 24.2 mulhon,

(d) Operating and other expenses for USD 10.8 nulhion.

(e) CDM Trust Fund transfer to the World Bank hosted Adaptation Fund of USD
20.0 nullion. It should be noted that this transfer is treated as an expense to
comply with the Intemational Public Sector Accounting Standards. In
substance and form the transfer was in fulfilment of a decision by the

Motes to the fzancial souments
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Conference of Parties in 2 November 2021 and not a planned expenditure

against the UNFCCC 2022 work programme.

6. Combined Revenue of mdicative and vohmtary contmibutions as well as fees for the
Clean Development Mechanism (CDM) and the Jomt Iniplementation (JI) saw an mereass
in 2022, Indicative contributions revemme decreased moderately to USD 35.6 mullion
(USD 37.1 nullion m 2021) due to the indicative contibutions m EUR. vahung lower in
USD m 2022 as compared to 2021. Vehmtary contributions revenue had a siygmificant nse
to USD 40.2 million (TUSD 30.7 million m 2021} as a result of more effective fimdraising,
There was also a significant increase in CDM and JI fees to TSD 32.1 nullion (USD 22.9
mullion in 2021) attnbuted to higher volumes of Certified Emission Reduction issuances
for emission reduction projects and programmes in 2022 compared to 2021

7. Total Expenses have increased to USD 1325 mallion m 2022 (175D 93.6 million n
2021) mainly due to an increase of contractual services to USD 24.2 mullion (USD 20.7
million m 2021} and Travel to TSD 12.4 million (USD 5.7 million in 2021}). Both are a
reflection of the mereased activities and travel in 2022, increased costs for virtual meeting
platforms and the n-person participation at the COP 27 held in 2022, A transfer of USD
20.0 mullion from the CDM Trust Fund surphus to the World Bank hosted Adaptation
Fund effected in December 2022 in fulfilment of the decision in 2'CMP.16 by the
Conference of the Parties serving as the meeting of the Parties o the Kyoto Protocol 1s
also mcluded in the expenses for the year.

2. Operating result: In 2022, there was an excess of expendifure over revenze of USD
19.8 million (compared to a deficit of USD 0.7 muillion in 2021). The transfer of the USD
20.0 million from the Clean Development Mechanism (CDM) Tust Fimd to the
Adaptation Fund contributed to the deficit resulting in an ammual deficit of TUSD 2.3
millicn for the CDM fund. The deficit for the Core Trust Fund was USD 0.08 nullion
while the deficit for the Trust fimd for participation in the UNFCCC process was USD
1.4 mullion, deficit for the Trust fund for Supplementary activities was USD £ nullion,
and the deficit for the UNFCCC employes liabilities fimd was USD 6.5 nullion.

9. Assets: Total assets as at 31 December 2022 decreased by USD 12.2 muillion to USD
2647 mullion compared to the assets at 31 December 2021 of USD 276.8 million The
major components of UNFCCC’s assets are as follows (thousands of United States
dollars).

Table 1
Summary of assets as at 31 December 2022
(Thousands of United States dollars)

2022 2021

Cash and cash eguivalents 13 515 27 236
Investments 190 576 220 766
Indicative contributions receivable 11 424 14 247
Voluntary contributions receivable 11 727 7 507
Other acconnts receivable 21323 1012
Other assats 5 576 5143
Property, plant, and equipment 110 444
Intangible assets 323 405
Total assets 164 676 176 548

10. The major assets at 31 December 2022 are cash, cash equivalents and mvestments
totallmg USD 233.1 million representing 82 per cent of the total assets, outstanding
indicative contributions from Parties of USD 11.4 mallion (4.3 per cent) and Volmtary
Confributions of USD 11.7 mullion representing 4 4 per cent of the total assets. The
remaming assets consist of other accounts receivable of USD 2.2 mullion, other assets
(primanty advances) of USD 5.6 million, equipment and software of USD 0.6 mullion

Motes to the Sxancial sarements
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11. Cash, cash equivalents and investments: Cash and cash equivalents as well as
mvestments of 1TSD 233. mullion are held in the TN Treasury main cash pool. The overall
levels of these assets have decreased by USD 14.9 million compared to 31 December
2021

12, Accounts receivable: There continue to be delays m paying contributions to the
UNECCC Secretariat by many Parties. In 2022 the situation improved resulting m a
decrease of indicative contributions outstanding of TUSD 2.8 million or 19.8 per cent
compared to amounts outstanding as at 31 December 2021. The decrease in ndicative
contrnbutions receivable is a result of the timely payment of amoumts due by some Parties
and concerted effort by UNFCCC Secretariat to follow up on outstanding contmibutions
with the Parties.

13, Other assets amounting to a total of USD 5.6 million mainly consist of prepayments
of USD 3.5 mulhion and education grant advances of USD 1 mulhon.

14. Liabilities: Liabilities as at 31 December 2022, totalled USD 1704 mullion (IUSD
205.8 omlhon as at 31 December 2021} as follows.

Table 2
Summary of liabilities as at 31 December 2021
(Thousands of United States dollars)

2022 1021

Accounts payable and accruals 7 815 5 074
Advance receipts 20 757 34 185
Employee benefit liabilities 130 915 165 812
Other liabilities 1878 746
Total liabilities 170 385 205 517

13, The most significant habality 1s for the employee benefits eamed by staff members
and retirees but not paid at the reporting date, primarily the lability for Affer Service
Health Insurance (ASHT). The ASHI liabilities total USD 119 4 million, representing 70.1
per cent of UNFCCC’s total liabilities and are explamed in detail in the respective note to
the financial statements.

16. The other sizmficant liability 15 for advance receipts mainly compnsing of mdicative
contmbutions received in advance of the start of the year to which they are relating to,
vohmtary contribution provided by denors that contain condiions requinng the retum of
fimds (1f not spent in accordance with the terms of the agreement), and CDM fees recerved
in advance but not yet eamed by UNFCCC. The balance represents the portion of the
contnbutions as at 31st December that have not been recognized as revemme as they are
not yet eamed by UNFCCC by performng the services covered by the respective
agreements.

17. Net assets: The movements in net assets dunng the year shows an overall merease
of USD 23.3 million, from USD 71 million m 2021 to USD 94 3 mullion at the end of
2022. This is mainly due to the acteanal gams of USD 43.1 million with the addition of
operating swrphus of USD 0.1 mullion. Net assets include the operafing reserves which
amount to USD 49 4 million at the reporting date. (see statement IIT)

Comparison of budgets to actual amounts

18. The Conference of the Parties (COF) approved a Core expenditure budget for 2022
in the biennium 20222023, amounting to EUF. 31.5 million. The 2022 approved budget
for the International transaction log I the bienmnmm 2022-2023 amounted to EUR 1.0
mullicn.

19. Total expenditure as at 31 December 2022 under the core budget in biennium 2(22-
2023 represented 97.0 per cent of the approved core budget. Persomnel expenditure in
2022 15 up by USD 2.2 mullion, mainly due to the retroactive salary adjustment paid in
response to the International Civil Service Commussion (JCSC) review. Confractual
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services and operating expenses are higher in 2022 by USD 3.5 mullion and USD 4.2
mullion respectively, due to the mcreased activity post COVID and the increase of
phiysical meetings. Loss on foreign exchange and investments is also higher by USD 3.4
million due to strengthening of the USD against the EUR. during 2022.

20. The overall expenditure rate umder the Trust Fund for the Infemational Transachon
Log (ITL) was 62.1 per cent for the biennmm 2022-2023 as at 31 December 2022. Owing
to several staff departures, the restucturing of the secretanat and the decrease m
operational activities, the staffing level of the ITL during the reporting pericd was below
the requirements incloded m its budget.

21. The core budget, as well as the budget for the infernational transaction log continues
to be prepared on a modified cash basis in accordance with the UN Financial Regulations.
The overall budgetary results of the 2022 financial peried are summanzed m Statement
V-A to V-C. The differences between the net results on the IPSAS (fiall accrual) basis and
those in accordance with the adopted budgzet are explained in the respective note to the
financial statements.

Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic

21, Duming 2022 the mpact of COVID-19 pandemic on operations was reduced when
compared to the previous year. COP 27 conference was attended i person as a result of
relaxation of travel restnchons across the globe.

Managing (financial) risk and uncertainties

23, The secretariat’s main mcome sources are the mdicative contributions from Parties,
volmtary contributions from doners as well as fee-based income from the mechanisms
supported by the secretariat, mainly the Clean Development Mechanism (CDM).

M. Indicative contributions have been steadily received in the past years and there is no
expectation of a sigmificant change in the comng years. The secretariat is following up
regularly on outstanding contmbutions and does not expect a sigmficant change i the
levels of confributions to be received Expenditure under the core budget are controlled
by the appropriations at the enfity level as per the financial mles and regulations.

25 While fluctuatmg over time, vohmtary contmbutions have been received at
msufficient levels to cover the budgeted requirements for supplementary activities in line
with the mandates given from the different bodies of the Conference of the Parties. Stnmlar
to the core budget, expenditure 1s limited to fimding received and budgets are developed
and implemented to ensure full cost recovery, taking into consideration all direct and
indirect costs.

26.  Although the CDM mechamism is still producing sigmficant levels of mcome, the
Conference of the Parties serving as the meeting of the Parties to the Kyoto Protocol
(CMP) decided at COP 26 to support the development of new mechamsms vmder Article
6 of the Pans Agreement. The secretaniat 15 foreseen as the supporting enfity to the new
mechanism (similar to the CDM process). While the respective budgets to support the
CDM mechanism have been adjusted to the necessary resource levels in bienminm 2022-
2023, sufficient reserves m the CDM trust fimd are available to cover the needs for the
remaiming service period and the CMP has allocated sigmificant resources to the
development of the new mechanisms under Article 6.

27. The financing of the long-term employee benefit liabilities has been addressed by
the secretariat by infroducing a surcharge on the salary costs to set aside fimds to cover
the respective liabiliies under non-core activities following the UN secretariat approach.
Under the core budget, these habilibes are currently imfimded and covered mmder a pay-
as-you-go arrangement financed from the current core budget.

28. The secretaniat manages strategic, financial operational and program delrvery nsks
at the level of risk owners where nisks are escalated to the Management Team (MT) or
MT sub-commmuttee meetings. The Organizational Development and Crversight Unit acts
as the second line of defence and is responsible for ensunng a sound framework for
Enterprise Risk Management and related risk identification, assessment and reporting.
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29, Key nsk factors for the secretanat include: (i) geopolitical situation and/or energy
and economic crisis INpINZNg on parties’ commitment to urgently combating climate
change and (i) unpredictable or insufficient financial resources to finance all relevant
mandates from parties.

30. Mihgation action to address key risk factors inchade strengthenmg the positioning
and relevance of the secretamat through outreach, active engagement i high-level
meetngs and mmproving the organization’s approach to strategic planming and EEM. In
addifion, the secretariat seeks to broaden its resource base for supplementary project to
non-state actors.

Strategic Plan and Objectives

31. The secretanat provides the foundation for global cooperation to address climate
change. It is an authoritative, recognized UN body that empowers all actors to achieve the
objective of the Convention In domg seo, it puts the well-bemg of humanity and
sustanable development at the cenfre of climate action in pursung the full
implementation of the Convention, the Eyote Protocel and the Pans Agreement.

32 The secretamat i its 2022-2023 budget proposals presented the budgetary
requirements along orgamization-wide strategic objectives amd prionties, provided a
comprehensive reference for all stakeholders and a single source for departmental and
divisional budgets, as well as for monitoring and evaluation. The budgets were developed
from the grovmd up through a comprehensive and participatory secretanat-wide effort and
consider all mandated work regardless of the date of adoption of the respective mandate.
33. Durectors of divisions are responsible for therr division’s key objectives and all staff
are subject to anmual performance assessments. The secretanat also reports the budgetary
and work programme performance to Parties anmually.

3. In 20222023 the secretanat’s work continues to be guided by the following
sirategic objectives:

(a)  Facilitate intergovernmental engagement on responding to the threat of
climate change by providing effective crganizational, process, technical and substantive
support for:

L  Ongomg inferpovernmental oversight of established processes and
negotiation of new, revised or enhanced processes, as appropriate;

1. Operating established processes ansing from the decisions of the COP,
the CMP and the Conference of the Parties serving as the meeting of the
Parties to the Pars Agreement (ChMA):;

(b) Enable the constinted bodies to fulfil ther mandates, mchidng by
providing effective organizational, process, techmcal and substantive support;

(c)  Manage a trusted repository of data and information in support of the
mtergovernmental response to the threat of climate change;

(d) Facilitate engagement in the UNFCOCC process in order to promote action

towards the achievement of the objectives and goals of the Convention, the Kyoto Protocol
and the Pans Agresment;

{g)  Owersee and manage the secretaniat effectively.
Programme delivery highlights
35, Dhming the reporting period. the secretanat orgamized SB 56 and COP 27, both of
which took place m person. with a robust virmal component with an imcrease in
complexity and scope compared with previous sessions, as well as around 200 workshops,
capacity-buildmg sessions and meetings in and outside Bomm_
36. Work under all constituted bodies, processes and work programmes supported by
the secretamat progressed in line with the respective mandates and workplans. The
secretanat continued to support the mfergovemnmental process in relation to the curment
Measunng Feporting Verification (MEV) armangements and the Enhanced Transparency
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Framework (ETFE), ncludng by providing technical assistance to developing countries
and framing to experts engaged in the reporting, review and analysis processes. It is
facilitating the operatiomalization of the ETF and work on methodological issues,
including n relation to GHG mventories, REDDH, agriculture, land use, land-use change
and forestry, Infergovenmental Panel on Climate Change (TPCC) guidelmes and commen
metrics.

37. Furthermore, the secretariat facilitated infergovernmental engagement on areas such
as climate finance flows, Article 6 of the Paris Agreement, the Sharm el-Sheikh mitigation
ambition and implementation work programme, adaptation, and loss and damage,
mchiding by supporting the process to fornmlate and implement National Adaptation
Plans (WNAPs), the Namobi Work Programme (NWF), the Warsaw Infernational
Mechanism for loss and damage (WIM) and the Glasgow—Sharm el-Sheikh work
programme on the global goal on adaptation. and managing adaptation-related data and
information.

38. The secretamat also facilitated inftergovemmental engagement on  and
implementation of established processes relatmg to gender, Action for Climate
Empowerment (ACE), youth engagement, observer engagement and global climate action,
including by prepanng reports and events under the gender action plan, crganizing the
ACE Dhalogue, and supporting the Presidency and relevant observer constituencies in
organizing Gender Day and Young and Future Generations Day events, including the
youth-led forum and civil society events at COP 27.

39. More information can be found at:
hitps:/unfece. mt'sites/default resources/sbi2023_06_adv pdf

Motes to the Sxancial sarements
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Motes to the fxancia] somaments

Financial statements for the vear ended 31 December 2022

A,

Statement I: Statement of Financial Posidon as at 31 December 2022

(Thousands of United States dollars)

Note 2022 201
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 5 313515 17 136
Short-term investments 5 134 463 35 951
Indicative contributions receivable 5 11 424 14 247
Voluntary contributions receivable 5 7 585 5130
Orther receivables & 2723 1012
Other current assets 7 5576 5143
Total carrent assets 104 767 238 T10
Non-current assets
Voluntary contributions receivable & 4163 2377
Long-term investments 5 55 112 34 804
Property, plant and equipment 8 310 444
Intangible assets o 113 405
Total non-current assets 60 000 18 110
TOTAL ASSETS 264 676 176 549
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables and accraals 10 T 825 5074
Advance receipts 11 10 757 34185
Employes benefits 12 1418 1557
Other current lisbilities 14 1878 T46
Total carrent liabilities 41 §88 4} 562
Non-current liabilities
Employes benefits 12 128 497 63 255
Total non-current Habilifies 1218 407 163 155
TOTAL LIABILITIES 170 1§35 105 817
NET ASSETS
Accumulated surpluses/{deficits) 44 283 21 527
Reserves 17 40 403 40 504
TOTAL NET ASSETS 04 101 71032
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS/EQUITY 164 676 176 §49

Note: The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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B. Statement IT: Statement of Financial Performance for the vear ended
31 December 2022

(Thousands of United States dollars)

Note 2022 201
EEVENUE 15
Indicative contributions 35 618 37076
Voluntary contributions 40 128 30 733
CDM and JI service fees 32 072 27 594
Interest Favenus 4 008 1030
Gain on foreign exchange - -
Other/miscellaneons reveans 745 1077
TOTAL EEVENTE 112 672 02 500
EXPENSES 16
Perzonnel expenditure 58 462 56 300
Travel 12 418 572
Contracmal services 24 230 20 733
Operating expenses 6 393 2158
Other expenses 4 405 4915
Depreciation of equipment 133 110
Amortization of intangible assets 171 176
Betum/transfer of denor/CDM Trust Fund Transfer I 27318 564
Loss on foreign exchange and investments 6013 2 663
TOTAL EXPENSES 132 507 03 §51
SURPLUS/DEFICIT) FOE THE PERIOD (19 §35) (742)

Note: The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

1% Thiz amount includes USD 200 million transfer from the CDM Trust Fund to the World Bank hosted Adaptation Fund
pursuant te the decizion in 2/CMP.16
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C.

Motes to the Sxancial sariuments

Statement ITI: Statement of Changes in Net Assets for the vear ended

31 December 2022

(Thousands of United States dollars)

Arcumuiated Total Net

Surpius _ Reserves Aiseis

Balance as at 01 January 2022 21 527 40 504 71032

Surplus/(Deficit) for the current peried (19 835) — (19.835)

Actuarizl gains (losses) on employes benefits liabilities 43 004 _ 43 004
Adjustment to operating reserve amounts against

accummulated surplus 102 (102) -

Balance as at 31 December 2022 44 538 40 403 04 201

Note: The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

G5
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D. Statement IV: Cash Flow Statement for the vear ended 31 December
2022

(Thouzands of United States dellars)

2022 2021
Cash flows from eperating activities
Surplus/(deficit) for the period (19 835) (742)
Diepreciation expsnse 133 110
Amertization of intangible assets 17 176
(Increase)/decrease in accounts receivable (2 609) 7 380
(Increase)/decrease in other assets (433) {1792)
Increase/[decrease) in payables and accruals 2 751 1 006
Increase/(decrease) in advance receipts (4417 7008
Increase/(decrease) in employee benefit liabilities 2197 2 805
Increaszel[decrease) in other liabilites 1132 746
Net cash flows: from operating activities (14 810) 17 957
Cash flows from investing activities
(Increzse)/decreass in equipment - { 204)
(Increzse)/decrease in intangible assets _ (28)
(Increase)/decrease in short-term investments 51 498 (31 770)
(Increase)/decrease in long-term investments (30 308) 15 082
Net cash flows: from investing activities 71 190 (15 9200
Net increase/(decreaze) in cash and cash equivalent: 6170 7 036
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 27 136 75 190
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 33 515 37 236
Overall increaze/{decrease) 5279 7 036
021 2020
Cash flows from operating activities
Surplus/{deficit) for the period {742) (513)
Dieprecistion expense 110 68
Amoertization of intangible assets 276 480
(Increase)’decrease in accounts receivable 2360 5705
(Increase)'decrease in other assefs (1 79I} 1 360
Increase{decrease) in payables and accmals 1006 314
Increaze{dacreass) in advance recaipts 7098 [ 964)
Increasef{decrease) in employee benefit lisbilities B E96 9254
Increase/{decrease) in other liabilites 746 {2)
Net cash flows from operating activities 17 957 15 502
Cash flows from investing activities
(Increase)/'decrease in equipment (204) (204)
(Increase)/decrease in intangible assets {28) 0
(Increase)/Decrease in short-term investments (31 770) {34 702)
(Increase) Decrease in long-term investiments 14 0382 (13 384
Net cash flows from investing activities (158210 (48 300
Cash flows from financing activities [ o
Met increase/{decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 2038 (32 498)

Note: The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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E. Statements V: Statements of Comparison of Budgets to Actual Amounts

1. Budget to Acmual Comparison Core Budget for the vear 2022 and the bienninm 20212

2023
Criginal Final Original Final
Budge: Budget Acmal Difference Budget Budget Acmal Difference
2022% (EUR) (EUR) {EUR) {EUR) (UsD) {UsD) (USD) (UsD)
Executive 19016780 1916780 2014 718 (97938) 2175687 2175687 2114 842 58845
Programmes Coordination 156 040 256 940 271 266 (14 326) 291 6446 201 §46 285 580 G057
Adaptation 3255039 3255039 3584283 (329244) 3604709 36947089 3753068 (58 358)
Mitigation 1870091 1870091 1480552 380539 2122401 2122601 15670218 555664
Means of Implementation 3313247 3313247 2428796 884451 3760780 3760 7BO0 2553 200 1207579
Transparency 6423 302 6423302 6475287 (51985) T290022 7290922 G6E0R060 482 853
Operation Coordination 612178 512 178 725 025 (112 847) 694 867 694 86T 765 712 (70 B43)
Secretariat-wide costs 1435293 1435293 1614 069 (17TB776) 1629 163 1620163 1678620 (49 456)
ASHRICT 1877106 1877106 1661025 216081 21304634 2130654 1751304 370350
Conference Affairs 1300 600 1300600 1474284 (173684) 1476277 1476277 1556355 (RO OTE)
Legal Affairs 1186950 1186060 1177812 D148 1347287 1347287 1239986 107301
Intergovernmental Support and
Collective Progress 2021362 2021362 1778600 242753 21204305 2204305 1E64915 4204380
Communications and Engagement 2 044 830 2 044 839 20246 408 18431 2321043 2321043 2146261 174 782
IPCC 244 755 244 755 144 755 U] 277 815 277 815 268 078 9737
Total appropriation 17 TE8 491 17 758 401 16 965 00 TR 602 31 507 034 31 507 936 18 355 026 3 151 010
Programme support costs 3 608 604 3 608 604 3 445357 163247 4096032 4096032 34660805 435227
Adjustment to working capital
reserve 103 470 103 470 117 4448 117 444
Grand TOTAL 31 470 566 31 470 566 30 411 246 955850 35 721 414 3571 414 32015 831 3 588 138
Contribution from the Host
Government 766 938 766 038 766 938 870 531 870 531 870 531
Income from Indicative
Contributions 30 703 626 30 703 6246 30 703 626 34 850 881 34 850 881 34 B50 881

Net result (budgetary)

1059 318

3 705 581

a7
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2. Budget to Actual Comparison International Transaction Log Budget for the vear 2022
and the bienninm 20222023
Original Original
and Final and Final
Budgst Acmal Difference Budgzet Acmal Difference
2022+ (EUR) (EUR) (EUR) (USD) [UsSD) (USD)
Staff costs 634 740 485 643 169 087 T43 178 513 479 120 600
Consultants 22 500 22 500 25 539 25 530
Travel of staff 12 036 12 036 13 662 13 662
Experts and expert groups
Training 8 000 g 000 %081 9081
General operating expenzes 023 854 525 734 308 222 1 048 758 545 859 507 809
Conmributions to common services 27024 50 625 46 308 110 129 58 240 51889
TOTAL 1718 256 1062 002 G656 21584 1 850 347 1117578 831 Tép
Programme Support costs
(overheads) 223 373 143 513 79 860 153 545 153 139 100 405
Adjustment to working capital
TESETVE (15 655) (17 7693
Grand TOTAL 1825074 1105515 736 114 11861213 12170717 P33 178
Income from indicative
contributions 1925074 1925074 1186113 T67 280
Net resnlt (bndzetary) (503 437)
* Further information is contained in notes 19 and
20
3. Budget to Actual Comparison Conference Services Contingency Budget for the vear
2022
Original and QOriginal and
Final Final
Budget Acrual Difference Budger Aerual Difference
2022 {EUR) (EUR) (EUR) (LS (USD) (TSD)
Object of expenditure
Interpratation 1140 004 1 149 094 1304 306 1 304 308
Documentation
Translation 1014 435 1014 435 1151 459 1151 459
Reproduction and 770 935 779 935 885 284 885 284
distribution
Meetings service support 234 878 234 78 266 604 266 504
Subtotal 3178 342 3178 342 3 607 653 3607 653
Programme support costs 413 185 413 185 468 005 468 995
Working capital reserve 298 007 208 027 338 342 338 362
Total 3 880 614 3 BE9 624 4415 010 4 415 010

*Further information is contained in notes 19 and 20.
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F. DNotes to the Financial Statements

Note 1: The Eeporting Entity

1. The permanent secretaniat of the United Nations Framework Convention cn Climate
Change (UNFCCC) was established m January 1996 for the following purposes:

{a)  To amrange for sessions of the Conference of the Parties and its subsidiary
bodies established under the Comvention, the Kyoto Protocel and the Pans Apreement
and to provide them with services as required;

(b)  To compile and fransmmt reports submutted to it;

(¢}  To facilitate assistance to Parties particularly developing country Parties on
request in the compilation and commumication of information required m accordance with
the provisions of the Convention, the Kyoto Protocol and the Paris Agreement;

(d) To prepare reports on its activities and present them to the Conference of
the Parties;

(2} To ensure the necessary coordination with the secretaniats of other relevant
mtemational bodies;

{fi  To enter, under the overall gudance of the Conference of the Parties, into

such admmistrative and confractual arrangements as may be required for the effective
discharge of its fimetions;

(g To perform other secretanat functions specified m the Convention and in
anry of its protocels; and

(h) Toundertake any other fimetions as may be determined by the Conference
of the Parties.

2. UNFCCC is govemed by the following constituent bodies:

(a)  The Conference of the Parties (COF) 1s the supreme decision-making body
of the Convention. All States that are Parties to the Convention are represented at the COP,
at which they review the implementation of the Convention and any other legal imstruments
that the COP adopts and take decisions necessary to promote the effective implementation
of the Convention, inclnding institutional and admimstrative ammangements.

(b)  The Conference of the Parties serving as the meeting of the Parties to the
Exoto Protocol (CAP): All States that are Parties to the Kyoto Protocol are represented at
the CMP, while States that are not Parties participate as observers. The CMP reviews the
implementation of the Kyoto Protocol and takes decisions to promote its effective
implementation.

(c)  The Subsidiary Body for Implementation (SBI) is one of two permanent
subsidiary bodies to the Convention established by the COP/CMP. It supports the work of
the COP and the CMP through the assessment and review of the effective implementation
of the Convention and its Kxyoto Protocel. A particularly important task in this respect is to
examine the information m the national commmmications and emission mventories
submitted by Parties i order to assess the Convention’s overall effectiveness. The SEI
reviews the financial assistance given to non-Amex I Parties to help them implement their
Convention commitments and provides advice to the COP on guidance to the financial
mechanism {operated by the Global Environment Facility - GEF). The SEI alsc advises the
COP on budgetary and adnministrative matters.

(d)  The Conference of the Parties, the supreme body of the Convention, shall
serve as the meeting of the Parties to the Paris Agreement (CALA). All States that are
Parties to the Paris Agreement are represented at the Conference of the Parties serving as
the meeting of the Parties to the Paris Agreement (ChA), while States that are not Parties
participate as ohservers. The CMA oversees the implementation of the Pans Agreement
and takes decisions to promote its effective Implementation.

(2} The Bureaun of the COP and CMP supports the COP, CMP and the ChMA
through the provision of advice and gmdance regardng the on-geing work umder the
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Convention and its Kyoto Protocol, the orgamization of their sessions and the operation of
the secretariat, especially at times when the COP and the CMP are not in session. The
Burean is elected from representatives of Parties nominated by each of the five Unated
Nations regional groups and small island developing States. The Bureau is mainly
responsible for questions of process management. It assists the President i the performance
of his or her duties by providing advice and by helping with vanous tasks (e.g. members
undertake consultaions on behalf of the Presidenf) The Burean is responsible for
examining the credentials of Parties, reviewing the list of infergovernmental and non-
governmental organizations, seeking acereditation and submitting a repert therecn to the
Conference.

3. UNFCCC is financed by indicative contmbutions paid by Parties to the Convention,
fees derived from services provided by the organization and vehmtary contnibutions from
Parties to the Convention and the Eyoto Protocol and other donors.

4. The Organization enjoys privileges and immmmities as granted under the 1947
Convenfion on Povileges and mmmmmities of the Umted Nabons and the 1996
Headaquarters agreement with the Federal Government of Gemmany, notably being exempt
from most forms of direct and indirect taxation.

Note I1: Basis of Preparation

3. The financial statements of the UNFCCC have been prepared on the accrual basis
of accountmg in accordance with the International Public Sector Accounting Standards
(TIPSAS) using the historic cost convention. The statements are prepared on a going
concern basis given the approval by the Conference of Parties of the programme budget
appropriations for the bienmivm 2022-2023, the historical trend of collection of mdicative
and voluntary contributions over the past years and that the Conference of Parties has not
made any decision to cease operation of UNFCCC.

6. Inaccordance with IPSAS, the 2022 financial statements are presented on an anmual
basis covenng the penod 1 Jammary 2022 to 31 December 2022. These finamcial
statements are certified by the Executive Secretary. The financial statements are submutted
to the United Nations Board of Aunditors on 31 March 2023, Sequentially, the report of
the Board of Aunditors together with the audited financial statements are submutted to the
Conference of the Parties.

7. The cash flow statement is prepared usmg the indirect method.

2. Due to roumding, mumbers presented throughout this document may not add up
precisely to the totals provided and percentages may not precisely reflect the absolute
figures.

1.1 Functional and Presentation Currency

9. The financial statements are presemted in United States dollars, which is the
fimctional and presentation curency of UNFCCC.

1.2 Foreign Currency Translation

10. Transactions in currencies other than United States dollar are translated mto Umnited
States dollar at the prevailing United Nations Operational Rates of Exchange (UNOERE)
which represents the prevailing rate at the time of transaction’®. Assets and liabilifies in
currencies other than Umnited States dollar are translated mto United States dollar at the
UNOEE year-end closing rate. Fesulting net gains and losses are accounted for in the
Statements of Fimancial Performance.

11, The Core budget and the budget for the International transaction log are approved
and assessed in ewros. The contingency budget for conference services of UNFCCC 13
approved by the COP. However, fimds are not accessed unless required. Information on
the Statements of Budget to Actual Compansons for each budget are presented on both
euros and United States dollars.

¥ hmps:/‘reasury.un org/operationalrates/OperationalF.ates php

Motes to the Sxancial sarements
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12. For statements V, euro amounts from the approved budgets for the onginal and final
budget are converted to USD using the UNOEE as at 1 January 2022 while the euro
amounts for the acmals are converted to USD using the applicable monthly UNOEE rate
at the time of the transaction.

1.3 Materiality and the use of judgement and estimates

13, Matenality 15 central to the UNFCCC financial statements. The financial statements
necessanly meclude amownts based on judsments, estimates and assumphions by
management. Actal results may differ from these estimates. Changes in estimates are
reflected in the period in wlich they become known Accruals, equipment depreciation
and employee benefit habiliies are the most sigmficant items for which estmates are
ufilized.

Note 3: Significant Accounting Policies
3.1 Cash and Cash Equivalents

14. Cash and Cash equivalents are held at fair value and comprise cash on hand, cash at
banks, money market and short-term deposits. nvestment revenue is recognized as it
accTues taking info account the effective yield.

3.2 Financial Instruments

15, Financial instroments are mitially measured at fair value. Subsequent measurement
of all financial instruments is at fair valoe except for accounts receivable and accounts
payable, which are measured at amortized cost usimg the effective mterest method except
for indicative and vohmtary contributions balances which are recognized at nominal value
(proxy to far value at the time of recogmition).

16. Financial instruments are recognized when UNFCCC becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the mstrument untl the nghts to receive cash flows from those
assets have expired or have been transfemred and UNFCCC has transferred substantially
all the nisks and rewards of ownership.

17. The Mam cash peol compnses participating entity shares of cash and term deposits,
short-term and long-term mvestments and acerual of mvestment meome, all of which are
managed by the UN Treasury. UNFCCC’s share of the cash pool is disclosed in the notes
to the financial statements and on the Statement of Financial Pesition categorized as cash
and cash equivalents, short-term and long-term mvestments.

18. Gamns or losses ansmg from changes m the fair value of financial mstruments are
included within the statement of financial performance in the period in which they anse.
(Gamns or losses ansing from a change m the fair value of the financial assets held m the
Main Cash Pool are presented in the Statement of Fmancial Performance in the peniod m
which they anse as finance costs 1f net loss or mvestment reverme if net gam.

19. Eeceivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market. UNFCCC’s recervables comprise ndicative
contributions receivable from member countries (Parties) and other accounts receivable
recogmized on the Statement of Financial Position. Recervables are measured at amortized
cost taking into account a provision for Impaimment.

3.3 Imventories

20. UNFCCC does not mamtain an mventory of tangible assets that are held for resale
or consimed in the disbution in renderng of its services. Should mventories be

recogmized in fiture financial statements, these imventories would be recognized at the
lower of cost and net realizable value or at the lower of cost and current replacement cost.

34 Property. Plant and Equipment

21. Equpment with a cost above USD 5,000 1s stated at historical cost less accumulated
depreciation and any inparment losses. UNFCCC is deemed to control equipment if it
can use of otherwise benefit from the asset m the purswt of its objectives and f UNFCCC
can exchude or regulate the access of third parties to the asset.
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22 Depreciation is calculated over their estimated useful life of the equipment using the
straight-lne method

Table 3
The estimated useful life for equipment classes

Cilass of egquipment Extimared wsefl Iife (in years)
Computer equipment 5
Communication and audio eguipment 5
Furniture and fittings 10
Vehicles 10
Leasehold improvements 10 {or leasa term,

whichever is shorter)

3.5 Intangible Assets

23, Intanmble assets are valued at listorical cost less acoummlated amortization and any
impairment losses. Intangible assets acquired externally are capitalised if their costs
exceed the threshold of USD 5,000. Internally developed software is capitalized if its cost
exceeded a threshold of USD 100,000 exchidng research and mamtenance costs and
mchuding directly attnbutable costs such as staff assigned full time to a development
projects, sub-contractors, and consultants.

24, Amortization is provided over the estimated usefinl life of the intangible asset using
the straight-line method

Table 4
The estimated useful lives for intangible asset classes

Cilass of intangible assets Estimated usefui life (in years)
Software acquired externally 3I-10
Internally developed software 3-10
Copyrights Set 8 years or period of copyright,

whichever is shorter
25, Impaimment is assessed at each reporting date for all intangible assets based on
indications that an asset may be impaired and any mpaimment losses are recognized in
the Statement of Financial Performance.

3.6 Pavables, advance receipts, and accruals

26. Accounts payable are financial liabilifies in respect of either goods or services that
have been acquired and received by UNFCCC and for which the mwoices have been
received from the suppliers. They are mmtially recogmized at fair value and when
applicable, subsequently measured at ameortized cost using the effective interest method.
As the accounts payable of UNFCCC generally fall due withm 12 menths, the impact of
discounting is mmaterial, and nominal valees are applied to imtial recogmition and
subsequent measurement.

27, Accruals are liabilities for goods and services that have been received or provided
to UNFCCC during the year and have not been invoiced by suppliers as at the reporting
date.

28,  Advance receipts are prepavments from customers, parties, of donors for subsequent
penods.
3.7 Emplovee Benefits

29, UNFCCC provides the following employee benefits:

(a)  Short-term employee benefits comprise first-time employee benefits
(assignment grants), regular monthly benefits (wages, salaries, allowances), compensated
absences (annual and paid sick leave, matermty/patermity leave) and other short-term
benefits (education grant, reimbursement of taxes) which fall due wholly within twelve
months after the end of the accounting period m which employees render the related service.

Motaes to the fimancial sotaments
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{b)  Post-Employment benefits including ASHI, repatmiation grant, separation
related travel and shipping costs;

(¢}  Other long-term employee benefits inchading accummilated anmual leave
payable on separation; and

{d) Temmmation benefits melnde mdemmities for vohmtary redundancy payable
once a plan has been formally approved.

30. The hability recognized for post-employment benefits 1s the present value of the
defined benefit obligations at the reporting date. An independent actuary using the
projected umt cradit method calculates the defined benefit obligations. The present value
of the defined benefit obligation is determmed by discoumting the estimated firhure cash
outflows wmsing inferest rates of high-grade corporate bonds with matunty dates
approximating those of the mdividual plans.

31. Employes benefits inchading payments to staff members on separation from service
such as repatmation grant, accrued ammual leave, repatriation travel and remowval on
repatmiation are expensed on an accrual basis.

32, Actuanal gains and losses related to post-employment benefits for after service
health msurance are recognised in the period in which they occur on the statement of
changes in net assets as a separate item in net assets/equity.

33, UNFCCC 15 a member crganization participating in the United Nations Joint Staff
Pension Fund (UNJSFE. the Fund). which was established by the United Nations General
Assembly to provide retirement death, disability, and related benefits to employess. The
Fund is a fimded, nmlti-emplover defined benefit plan. As specified by Article 3(b) of the
Fegulations of the Fund. membership n the Fund shall be open to the specialized agencies
and to any other infernational, intergovernmental organization which participates in the
commen system of salanes, allowances, and other conditions of service of the United
MNations and the specialized agencies.

34. The Fund exposes parficipating organizations to actuaral nisks associated with the
current and former employees of other organizations participating in the Fund, with the
result that there is no consistent and reliable basis for allocating the obligation, plan assets,
and costs to indiidual organizations participating m the Fund UNFCCC and the Fund,
mn line with the other participating ergamizations m the Fumd, are not m a posifion to
1dentnfy UNFCCC’s proporionate share of the defined benefit oblization, the plan assets
and the costs associated with the plan with sufficient reliability for accomting purpeses.
Hence UNFCCC has treated this plan as if it were a defined contnbution plan in line with
the requirements of IPSAS 3%: Employee Benefits. UNFCCC’s contnbutions to the Fund
durmg the financial period are recogmized as expenses n the Statement of Financial
Performance.

3.8 Provisions

35. Provision are made for future liabilities and charges where UNFCCC has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events and i1s probable that UNFCCC
will be required to settle the cbligation, and the value can be reliably measured.

3.9 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

36. Contingent liabilities where their existence will be confirmed by the cccumrence or
non-occurrence of cne or more uncertain firure events that are not wholly within the
control of UNFCCC or where the vahse cannot be reliably estimated are disclosed in the
Notes to the financial statements. Contingent Liabilities are assessed confinually to
determine whether an cutflow of resources has become probable. If an cutflow becomes
probable, a provision is recogmized n the financial statements in the period in which
probability occurs. A contingent asset is a possible asset that anses from past events and
whose existence will be confirmed cnly by the oceurrence or non-occwrrence of one or
more uncertain firture events not wholly within the control of the enfity.
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310 Leases

37. Leases, where the lessor retains a significant portion of the nsks and rewards
inherent mn ownership, are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating
leases are charged on the Statement of Financial Performance as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the period of the leass.

3.11 Nom-exchange revenue and receivables

38. Indicative contributions to the Core budget and to the Trust Fimd for the
International fransacthion log from Parties to the Convention are recogmsed at the
begimming of the year to which the assessment relates. The revemme amowmt is determined
based on the approved tudgets and the scale of assessment approved by the General
Assembly as adopted by the Conference of the Parties. Provision of 50 per cent for all
indicative amomts receivable for three years and 100 per cent for all amounts receivable
for four or more years is provided for.

39, Voluntary contributions are recogmsed upon the sigming of a binding agreement
with the donor. Revenue is recognised immediately if no condition is attached If
conditions are attached, including a requirement that fimds not utilized m accordance with
the agreement mmst be refumed to the confributing entity, revenue is recognised only upon
safisfying the conditions. Until such conditions are met a liability (deferred revenue) 1s
recogmsed. Voluntary contmbutions such as pledges and other promised donations which
are not supported by binding agreements are considered confingent assets and are
recogmsed as revemne when received and disclosed in the Notes to the financial
statements if receipt 15 considered probable.  Provision for doubtfidl debts is based on
specific identification basis.

40, Multi-vear voluntary conditional contributions due in firtore financial perieds are
recogmized as receivables on the signing of the agreement along with a liability (deferred
revenue) until the conditions are met.

41. Goods in kind are recogmised at their far value, measured as of the date the donated
assets are received or acquired. Services in kind are not recogmized on the face of the
financial statements but instead disclosing the nature and type of services in-kind m the
notes.

42, PFeceivables are stated at amortized cost less allowances for estimated nrecoverable
amoumnts.

312 Exchange revenue

43. PFevenue from the fees charged in comnection with the Clean Development
Mechanism (CDM) and the Joint Implementation Determination (JI) is recognized upon
completion of the inderlying service for which the fee has been charged A liability is
established covering the estimated amount of fees remmbursable to the applicant. Interest
Income 1s recognized on a fime proportion basis as it accrues, considening the effective
yield.

313 Expenses

44, Expenses ansing from the purchase of goods and services are recognized when the
services of goods have been received and accepted by UNFCCC. Service are considered
received on the date when the service 1s cerfified as rendered. For some service contracts
this process may occur in stages.

J.14 Segment reporting

45 UNFCCC is a single purpose entity with a mandate to assist the signatories of the
UN Framework Convention on Climate Change to linut average global temperature
mmcreases and the resulting climate change, and to cope with whatever mmpacts are
mevitable n part through enforcing the legally binding emussion reduction targets
established in the Eyoto Protocol. Its operations, therefore, consist of a single segment.
However, to provide additional information for use to senior management and Parties to
the Convention and Kyoto Protocel, supplemental disclosures are prepared on a fimd
accounting basis, showing at the end of the penod the consolidated posifion of all

Motes to the Sxancial sarements
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UNFCCC funds. A fimd 15 a self-balancing accoumting entity established to account for
the fransactions of a specified purpose or cbjective. Fumd balances represent the
accumulated residual of reverme and expenses.

46. UNFCCC classifies all projects, operations, and activities into the following ten
fimds and special accoumts:

{a) Trust fimd for the Core Budget of UNFCCC financed from mdicative
contributions (or general-purpose conmbutions from donors);

(b) Tmst fimd for Supplementary Activiies financed flom wvohmtary
contributions;

(c)  Trust fimd for the Parficipation in the UNFCCC process financed from
vohmtary confributions;

(d) Trust fimd for the Clean Development Mechanism financed from fees
charged for registration of projects and issuance of cerfificates;

(2)  Trust find for the Infernational Transactions Log financed from mdicative
contributions (or general-purpose contmbutions from donors);

(f)  Trust fimd for the Special Anmal Contmbution from the Government of
Germany financed from a vohmtary contribution from the government in which the
UNFCCC headquarters is located:

(g)  Special account for Programme Support Costs financed from charges made
to the activities financed from mdicative and veluntary contributions as well as fee financed
activities;

(h)  Special account for conferences and other recoverable costs financed from
vohmtary contributions; and

(i)  Cost recovery find financed from charges made to the activities financed
from indicative and volhmtary contrbutions;

(7} End of service and post employee benefits fimd currently not fully fimded
47, Transactions ocoumng between fimds are accounted for at cost and elimmated on
consolidation.
48, UNFCCC reports on the transactions of each fimd dunng the financial period. and
the balances held at the end of the peniod.

315 Budget comparison

49 UNFCCC's budget 15 prepared on a modified cash basis as per the applicable
financial regulations and miles whereas the financial statements are prepared om a full
accrual basis. Under the modified cash basis, expenses are recogmized on the obligation
principle, i.e. when the organization enters into a fimancial commutment to obtain goods
or services. Costs of equipment acquisition are expensed when the equipment has been
delivered . Cm the other hand the budget expenses does not include costs related to
changes in provisions for employee benefits liabiliies. Income is recognized as per para
70 also for statement V.

30. The budget 15 adopted on a biennial basis and presented in anmual estimates m the
financial statements. Unexpended balances at the end of the first year of the biennium are
camed forward and added to the annual budget estmate for the second vear of the
biennmm

51. Statements V-1 to V-3, Companson of budget and Actual amounts, compare the
final budget to actual amounts caleulated on the same basis as the comesponding approved
budget.

32, As the basis used to prepare the budget and financial statements differ. note 19
provides a reconciliation between the actual amoumts presented in statement V-1 to V-3
and the actual amoumts presented on the Statement of Financial Performance.
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53. The COP approves the bienmial Core budget and the contngent budget for
Conference Services. The CMP approves the budget for the International transaction log.
Budgets may be subsequently amended by the COP or CMP, as applicable, or through the
exercise of delegated authority.

J.16 Update on IPSAS standards

4. IPSAS 41 :Fmancial instruments was issued m 2012 with an nitial effective date of
1 January 2022 which was postpened to 1 January 2023 due to the Covid-19 pandemic.
Its Jmpart on the fimancial statements of UNFCCC upon adoption is currently being
assessed by the United Nations Secretariat Treasury which manages the UNFCCC cash
pool md mvestments. UNFCCC will implement the changes provided by the United
Mations Secretaniat.

55. IPSAS 42: Social benefits was issued m 2020 with an effective date of 1 Jamary
2022 which was postposad to 1 January 2023 due to the Covid-19 pandemme. The standard
15 not applicable to UNFCCC in the foreseeable firture.

36. IPSAS 43 (Leases) was 1ssued in January 2022 with an effective date of 1 Jammary
2025. Its impact on the financial statements of UNFCCC upen adoption is currently being
assessed. The IPSAS board mdicated that entities will benefit from a further assessment
following the implementation of IPSAS 41 and alse finalisation of other IPSAS currently
under development. including revemme, which may result in further amendments to IPSAS
43. Therefore, UNFCCC aims to complete its inifial assessment subsequent to the
implementation of IPSAS 41 and plans to adopt IPSAS 43 effect 1 January 2025.

Note 4: Financial Risks

4.1 Financial rizk factors

57. UNFCCC’s operations may expose it to a vanety of fimancial nisks: market nsk
(mchuding foreign exchange nisk, fair value interest rate nsk, cash flow interest rate nsk
and price nisk), credit risk and lgquidity nisk.

4.2 Market risk

Foreign exchange risk

58, UNFCCC operates mternationally and is exposed to foreign exchange nisk ansing
from various cumrency exposures, pmnanl\ with respect to the euro. Foreign exchange
nisk anses from operating revenue and expenses and recognized assets and liabilities.
Management requires that the Organization manage its currency nisk against its fimctional
currency by struchming contnbutions from its owner organizations and its techmical
cooperation project donors to correspond to the foreign currency needed for operational
purpases.

39, Asat 3] December 2022, if the US dollar had weakened strengthened by 3 per cent
against the eurc with all other variables held constant, the impact on net assets would have
been USD 1 milhion higherlower due to the change in the asset value of recervables
denominated n eure.

Price risk

60. The Organization may be exposed to price nisk because of mvestments held m the
Main cash poel which are classified in the Statement of Financial Position at far value
through surphes or deficit. The share of any realized loss or gain on the Organization’s
holdings in the Main cash pool 15 recognized in surplus or deficit.

Interest rate risk

61. The organization eams ferest revemme denved from swrplus balances that it
maintams in operational and non-operational cash holdings throughout the year. The
implementation of UNFCCC's programme and budget iz not directly dependent on
: t earmings.

Motaes to the fimancial sotaments
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4.3 Credit risk

62, Credit nsk refers to the nsk that counterparty to a financial mstmmment will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in 2 financial loss to the Institute. The camying
value of financial assets equates to the maxinmm exposure to credit sk as at balance date.
The Orgamzation does not hold any collateral as secunty.

Other credit risk dizclosure

63. Vohmtary contmbufions from governments representing the Parties of the
Orgamization comprise the majonity of the Orgamization's voluntary contributions
receivable. Credit risk is considered minimal since most of its donors are SOVErelzm
entities.

4.4 Liguidity risk

64. Cash flow forecasting 15 performed by the Organization n conjunction with the
United Mations Office at Geneva (UNOG) which monitors rolling forecasts of Lquidity
requirements to ensure 1t has sufficient cash to meet operational needs. There are no

restrictions on the amount that UNFCCC may withdraw at any time after providing the
UN Treasury with several days™ notice.

4.5  Cash Pools

63. In addition to directly held cash and cash equivalents and mvestments, the United
Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (“UNFCCC™) participates in the
United Nations Treasury main pool. The main pool conprises of operational bank account
balances n a mmmber of cumencies and mvestments in United States dollars.

66. Poolng the fimds has a positive effect on overall investment performance and nsk,
because of economies of scale, and by the ability to spread yield curve exposures across
a range of maturities. The allocation of cash pool assets (cash and cash equivalents, short-
term mvestments and long-term mvestments) and revemue 13 based on each participating
entity’s principal balance.

67. As at 31 December 2022, the cash pools and the total assets of TUSD 11.873.8
mullion (2021: TTSD 11,7997 pullion), of which USD 233.0 million was due to the

Organization (2021: $248.0 million), and its share of revenme from cash pools in 2022
was TISD 1.29 million (2021: $0.234 nullion).

Table 5
Summary of assets and liabilities of the Cash Pools
(Thousands of United States dollars)

as at as at
31 Docember 1012 31 December 2021

Fair valne through the surplus or deficit

Short-term investments 6789 427 8 830 7212
Long-term investments 3316 880 1 654 430
Total fair value threugh the surpla: or deficit investments 10 1046 2146 10 494 161
Loeans and receivables
Cash and cazh eguivalents 1707288 1294 560
Accmed investment revenue &0 2565 10 203
Total loans and receivables 1 767 553 1 305 563
Total carrving amounnt of financial assets 11 873 860 11 799 724
Cash pool liabilities
Payable to UWFCCC 233091 248 231
Payable to other cash pool participants 11 640 778 11 551 493
Total linbilities 11,873 869 11 798 714
Net assets - -
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Table 6
Summary of revenue and expenses of the Cash Pools
(Thousands of United States dollars)

Motes to the Sxancial serements

For the year

ended

For the year ended il Decembar

il December 2022 2021

Investment revenue 178 645 15377
Unrealized gains / (losses) (137 034) (37 4935
Investment revenue from main pool 41 612 8827
Foreign exchange gains / (losses) (7 670) (1 626)
Bank fees (772 {1805
Operating gains (losses) from main pool {8 447) {3 431)
Eevenue and expenszes from main pool 12 170 51906

Financial risk management

68. The Umted Nations Treasury is responsible for investment and risk management for
the Cash Pools, meluding conducting mvestment activities in accordance with the
Guidelines.

60, The objective of mvestment management 15 to preserve capital and ensure sufficient
ligqudity to meet operating cash requirements while attaining a competitive market rate of
return on each Investment pool. Investment quality, safety and Liquidity are emphasized
over the market rate of refurn component of the objectives.

70. An mvestment committee penodically evaluates investment performance and
assesses compliance with the Guudelines and makes reconmendations for updates thereto.

Financial risk management: credit risk

71.  The Gudelines require ongoing monitoring of issuer and counterparty credit ratings.
Permissible Cash Pool investments may include, but are not restricted to, bank deposits,
commercial paper, supranational securifies, govemment agency securities and
govemment securities with maturities of five years or less. The Cash Pools do not invest
mn denvative instruments such as asset-backed and mortgage-backed secunities or equity

products.

72, The Gudelines require that mvestments are not to be made m issuers whose credit
ratings are below specifications. and also provide for maxinmm concentrations with given
1ssuers. These requirements were met at the time the investments were made.

73. The credit ratings nsed for the Cash Pools are those determined by major credit-
rating agencies; Standard & Poor’s and Moody's and Fitch are used to rate bonds and
discoumted mstruments, and the Fitch viabihity rating 15 used to rate bank term deposits.
At year-end, the credit ratings were as shown below.
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Table 7

Investments of the cash pools by credit ratings as at 31 December

(Percentage)

Alsim pool Barngs as ai 51 December 2027 Rarings as a1 2§ December 2021

Bonds (long-term ratings)

Bonds (long-term ratings)

Near
AAAAAAY Ad+wdAd +0AA A+ NA Add AA+AAA- A+ rased W
L&D EER 65.9% 0.3% | s&p 47 8% 48.1% 04% i
AddA Ad+iAAAA Na'wR | Fitch 51.3% 15. 7% 23.0%
Fitch 61.9% 11.5% 0.4% 15.4%
Ama Aalidadidad Al NA Aaa  Aalidalidal Al
Moody's 66.7% 30.9% 4% | Moody's 61.1% 34.9% 0.4% 3.6%

Commercial papers/certificates of deposit (short-term ratings)

Commercial papers/certificates of deposit (short-term

ratings)
A +id=] A=l +id=1
S5&P 100.0% S&P 100.0%
Fi+/Fi NR Fi+F{ NR
Fitch 97.1% 2.3% | Fitch 96.T% 33%
P-pp2 Pt
Moody's 10:0.0% Moody's 100.0%

Term deposits'demand deposit account (Fitch viability
ratings)

Term deposits demand deposit account (Fitch viability
ratings)
a+iaias NA

§4.1%

ad'da- aad'dg-

34.1%

d+ == a=+'a

65.9%

Fitch 35.0% Fitch

74. The United Nafions Treasury actively mwomitors credit ratings and, grven that the
Organization has mvested only in securities with high credit ratings, management does
not expect any counterparty to fail to meet its obligations, except for any impaired
Investments.

Financial risk management: liquidity risk

75. The cash pool 15 exposed to Liqudity nsk associated with the requirement of
participants to make withdrawals on short notice. It mamtans sufficient cash and
marketable securities to mest participants’ commitments as and when they fall due. The
major portion of cash and cash equivalents and mvestments are available within a day’s
notice to support operational requirements. The cash pool Liqudity nsk is therefore
considered to be low.

Financial risk management: inferest rate risk

76. The cash pool comprises the Organization’s main exposure to interest rate risk with
fixed-rate cash and cash equivalents and mvestments being interest-bearing financial
mnstruments. As at the reporting date. the main pool had invested primarily in securities
with shorter terms to maturity, with the maxmmum beng less than four years (2021: three
vears). The average duration of the mamn pool on 31 December 2022 was (.77 years (2021:
(.49 years), which is considered to be an indicator of low risk.

Cash Pool interest rate risk sensitivity analysis

77. This analysis shows how the fair value of the mam pool as at the reporting date
would increase or decrease should the overall yield curve shift n response to changes in
interest rates. Given that the mvestments are accounted for at fair value through surplus

or deficit, the change in fair value represents the increase or decrease m the surplus or
deficit and net assets. The impact of a shuft up or down of up to 200 basis pomts m the
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yield curve is shown (100 basis pomnts equals 1 per cent). The basis point shifts are
illustrative.

Table 8
Cash Pools interest rate risk sensitiviry analysis as at 31 December 20212

Shift in yield curve
(Basis points) -200 -150 -1 -50 @ +50 +]00 +150 +20

Increaze/(decrease) in fair

value

(Millions of United States

dollars):

Main pool total 16808 126.73 B4.48 42.24 (42.23) (B4.46) (126.69) (168.91)

Table 9
Cash Pools interest rate risk sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2011

Shift in yleld curve

(Basis poins) 200 -170 -100 -3 @ +30 +104 +150 +100
Increase/(decrease) in fair

value

(Millions of United States

dollars):

Main pool total 113.63 $5.22 5681 28B40 0 (28400 (56.80) (85.19) (113.58)

Other market price risk

78. The main pool is not exposed to significant other price nsks becanse it does not sell
short, bormmow securnities or purchase securities on margin, wlich hinmits the potential loss
of capital.

Accounting classifications and fair value — Cash Fool

79, All investments are reported at fair value through surplus and deficit. Cash and cash
equivalents camied at nonumal value are deemed to be an approzimation of fair value.

20. The levels are defined as:

(a)  Level 1: Quoted prices (inadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
habilities;

(b)  Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are
cbservable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (ie.
detived from prices);

(c)  Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liabilities that are not based on observable
murket data (fhat is, imobservable mputs).

21. The far value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted
market prices at the reporting date and is determined by the mdependent custodian based
on valuation of secunties sourced from third parties. A market is regarded as active if
quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer. broker,
industry group, pricing service, of regulatory agency. and those prices represent actual
and regularly ocouwrmng market transactions on an arm's length basis. The quoted market
price usad for financial assets held in the main pool 15 the current bid price.

82, The far value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is
determined by using valuation techniques which maximise the use of observable market
data. If all sigmificant inputs required to determine the fair value of an instnument are
observable, the imstrument is mcluded in Leve] 2.

23. The following fair value hierarchy presents the cash pool assets that are measured at
fair value at the reporting date. There were no Level 3 financial assets, nor any liabilities
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camed at fair value or amy significant transfers of financial assets between far value
hierarchy classifications.

Table 10
Fair value hierarchy as at 31 December: main pool
(Thousands of United States dallars)

31 December 2022 31 Dacember 2011

Level 1 Lavel 2 Toral Lavell Level 2 Toral

Financial aszets at fair value through surplus or deficit

Bonds — corporate 63 200 - 65 200 20 097 - 19 897
Bonds — non-United States agencies 1574 662 - 1974 662 1 595 403 - 1 595 405
Bonds — supranational 789 387 - 780 5%7 £12 530 - B12 530
Bonds — United States treasuries 1348 036 - 1348056 187 390 - 197 390
Bonds — non-United States
sovereizns o6 713 - o6 713 90 163 - 20 163
Main pool — commercial papers - 1747461 1747461 - 3033880 3033 830
Main pool — cartificates of deposit - 21654637 2654637 - 1824787 2824787
Main pool — term deposits - 1430000 1430 000 B 1910000 1010000
Total 4274218 5832098 10106316 2725494 T 768667 10 494 161

Table 11
Summary Financial Instruments
(Thousands of United States dollars)

31 December 2022 31 December 2021

Cash and cash eguivalents 33515 X7 236
Short-term investments 134 443 185 941
Long-term investments 65112 34 804
Accounts receivable 25375 2 766
Accounts payable {2 755) (1347
Total finandial instruments 155 711 169 410

Table 12
Carrving amounts of the contributions receivable
(Thounsands of United States dollars)

Indicarive Foluntary

Cantributions Contriburions

EUR and other currencies 11 289 10 985

UsD 135 3381
Total contributions receivable as at 31 December

2022 11 414 14 337

Table 13
Net indicative contributions past due as at 31 December 2022
(Thousands of United States dollars)

Indicative contributions past due Indicative Contributions

Up to 1 vear 8133
T

1 to 2 year 434

2 to 3 years

Ln

[FT)
L= ]
[

Above 3 years
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Indicative contriburions past due Indicative Contributions
Total net indicative contributions past due as at 31
December 20212 11 424
Table 14

Provision for impaired indicative receivables as at 31 December 2021
(Thounsands of United States dollars)

Provizion for impaired receivables Indicative Contributions
Asat] Jan 2022 2457
Increase in provision during 2022 (267)

Total as at 31 December 2022 7190

Note 5: Cash and eash equivalents, short-term and long-term investments

Table 15
Cash and cash equivalents
(Thousands of United States dollars)

3] December 2022 31 December 2021
Cash held in cash pools 33 515 217 236
Total cash and cash equivalents 13 515 17234

Table 16
Breakdown of short-term and long-term investments
(Thousands of United States dollars)

il December 2022 3l December 2021

Short-term investments (cash pool) 134 463 135 061
Long-term investments (cash pool) 65112 34 204
Total investments 100 &74 110 768

24, UNFCCC cash forms part of a cash pools that are maintained and managed by the
UN Treasury. The cash pools comprise UNFCCC s participating share of cash and term
deposits, short-term and long-term investments and accrual of mvestment income, all of
which are managed in the pool.

23, UNFCCC cash and mvestments mclude USD 29.8 million that are subject fo general
stipulations which did not meet the requurements of condiionality under IPSAS 23. These
sipulations nclude earmarking on the use of fimding, mostly regarding their
programmatic use and eligible expenditure periods. Historically, UNFCCC has had
Ppositive expeniences with regard to receiving payment tranches from donors in accordance
with the agreement and did not have cases where breach of stipulations prompted donors
to demand refimds or reimbursement.

Motes to the Sxancial sariements
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Note 6: Accounts receivable

Table 17
Accounts receivable
(Thousands of United States dollars)

Accounts receivable 3! December 2022 31 December 2021
Indicative contributions due from Parties to the Conventon, the Eyoto Protocol and the
International transaction log

Current 13 614 16 705

Less provision for doubtful debis (2 190) (2 457)
Subtotal for indicative contributions 11 424 14 247

Voluntary contributions

Current T 565 5 130

Non-current 4 163 2377
Subtotal volontary contributions 11 727 T 507

Other receivables (current) 21223 1012
Total account: receivable 15 375 12 764

26. Indicative conmmbufions reflect the contmbutions recervable from Parties to the
Convention, the Eyoto Protocol and the Paris Agreement to fimd the core budget and the
International Transactions log in accordance with the Fmnancial Procedures adopted by
the COP. Current voluntary contributions recervables are confirmed contributions that are
due within twelve months from the reporting date. Other receivables represent amounts
imvoiced to Parties, other UN agencies and individuals for services provided. Provisions
for doubtful receivables have been established covermg mdicative conmbutions
receivables and other receivables equal to 50 per cent of amoumts cutstanding for more
than three but less than four years and 100 per cent of amoumts cutstanding for more than
four years.

87. The full ammmt of volmtary contmbutions receivable are subject to general
stipulations in donor agreements which did not meet the requirements of conditionality
under IPSAS 23, These shpulations nchide earmarking on the use of fimding, mostly
regarding ther programmatic use and eligble expenditme penieds. Historcally,
UNEFCCC has had positive experiences with regard to receiving payments tranches from
doners in accordance with the agreement and did not have cases where breach of
stipulations prompted donors to demand refimds or reimbursement

Note 7: Other current assets
22, Other current assets consist of the following:

Table 18
Cther current assets
(Thousands of United States dollars)

31 Dacember 2022 31 December 2021

Prapayments 3458 3112
Project Clearing 254 654
Travel Advances 234 180
Education Grant Advances 1032 1077

Total 5576 5143

39, Prepayments include advances to vendors and other UN agencies.

90. The project clearing accounts is the current account balance with the United Nations
Development Programme.

Motes to the Ezancial sxtemants
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Note 3: Property, plant and equipment
Table 19

Property, plant and equipment
(Thousands of United States dollars)

Communicartion
and IT  Furniture and

Tehicles Qquipment machinery Total
Cost
At ] Janmary 2022 77 3 488 43 3 610
Additions - - - 0
Dizposal - - (38.83) (38.83)
At 31 December 2022 ™ 3 488 ] 3571
Accumnulated depreciation
At ] January 2027 34 EREE 45 3 167
Depreciation during the year 2 126 - 133
Disposal - - {38.83) (38.83)
At 31 December 2022 42 3213 3 3 261
Net Book Value
At 3] December 2022 34 275 - 310
At 3] December 2021 43 400 1 444

91. Assets are reviewed anmually to determine if there is any indication that assets may
be mpaired in their value. During 2022 there was no indication for any equipment being
impaired.

Note 9: Intangible assets

Table 20
Intangible assets
(Thousands of United States dollars)

Internally developed software

Opening balance 1 Jan 20212 1154
Additions —
Dizposal (see note in para 124 below) 7310

Total as at 31 Dec 2022 837
Accumulated Amortization 1 Jan 2022 1 662
Amortization during the year 171

Dizposal (see note in para 124 below)
Total as at 31 Dec 2022 514

Net Book Value

Net book Value 31 Dec 2022

HNet book Value 31 Dec 2021 405

[
L
—
=]

92, The decommussioning of fully amortized and no longer used mtangible assets of
USD 2.32 million will be completed during 2023.

93, UNFCCC has utilized the transition provision m IPSAS 31, and the value of
intangibles assets has been recognized prospectively begmning with costs mowrred on or
after 1 January 2014.
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Note 10: Payables and Accruals

Table 21
Pavables and Accruals
(Thousands of United States dollars)

31 December 2022 31 December 2021

Vender payables 1430 515
Other payables 1317 732
Accmals for goods and services 5070 3727

Total pavables and accruals T8 5074

24 Payables to vendors relate to amounts due for goods received and services rendered
for which payment has not yet been made.

95, Accruals are liabilities for goods and services that have been received or provided
to UNFCCC during the vear which have not yet been invoiced by suppliers.
Note 11: Advance receipts

Table 22
Advance receipts
{Thousands of United States dollars)

31 December 2022 31 December 2021

Conditional voluntary contributions 19 280 18 208
Indicative contributions received in advance 2 044 0087
CDM fess received in advance 7 542 & 879
Total 19 767 14185

96. UNFCCC recognizes a hiability in cases where conditions are attached to vohmtary
contributions. Conditions are imposed by donors on the use of contmbutions and include
both an obligation to use the donation m a specified manner and an cbligation to refum
amry amount not expended in accordance with performance specified by the donation. The
amount recognized as a liability is the best estimate of the amoumnt that would be required
to settle the obligation at the reporting date. As UNFCCC satisfies the conditions on
vohmtary contributions through performance m the specified manmer, the camrying
amount of the liability is reduced and an amownt of reverme equal to that reduction is
recognized

97. Indicative contnbutions received in advance mchade amounts received before the
actual due date established by the Financial Procedures.

98 CDM and JI fees imeamed represent fees recerved for which UNFCCC has not
completed the delivery of all the services for which fees have been charged.

Note 12: Emplovee Benefits

99, The employee benefits habihifies outstanding at the reporting date are as follows:

Table 23
Emplovee benefit liabilities
(Thousands of United States dollars)

31 December 2022 31 December 2021
Current employee benefit liabilities
After service health insurance 505 4072
Repatriation grant 508 772
Anmnal leave 341 451
Home leave wavel 715 201
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31 December 2022 3] Dacember 202

U5 tax reimbursement 149 41

Total current employee benefit liabilities 7 418 1 557

After service health insurance 119 441 152 387

Repatriation grant 5 166 5373

Annual leave 3 642 4474

Home leave fravel 48 21

Total noen-current employes benefit
liabilities 128 497 163 155
Taotal employes benefit liabilities 130 015 165 317

100. The methodology for estimating the amounts of each hiability is as follows:

101. Education grant: Intemationally recrited staff members are eligible for partial
reimbursement of the amownts paid for the education of dependent children up to
maximum allowances established by the International Civil Service Commission (ICSC).
The liability relates to the amount eamned but not claimed at the reperting date. In case of
education grants advances, 40 per cent of the advance is expensed m the current year
while the balance of 60 per cent is recorded as staff advances under other current assets.

102. After Service Health Insurance (ASHI): Staff members (and ther spouses,
dependent children and survivors) retinng from service at the age of 55 or later are eligible
for ASHI coverage if they have contributory health msurance coverage prior to retirement
for at least five years of service for staff hired before 1 July 2007 and ten years of service
for staff hired after 1 July 2007. Staff hired before 1 July 2007 who retire with less than
ten years but more than 5 years of covered receive imsubsidized coverage umtil enrolled
for 10 years at which time the coverage 15 subsidized. UNFCCC's liability for ASHI is
calculated as the residual hiability after deducting confributions from retirees and a portion
of the contribution from active staff

103. After-service health msurance for retired staff members and their survivors and
dependents of UNFCCC is provided by the United Nations Staff Mutal Insurance
Society against Sickness and Accident (UNSMIS) established under article 6.2 of the
United Mations Staff Regulation. UNSMIS 15 govemed by its General Assembly
consisting of its members which inclndes, in addition to UNFCCC, UNOG (UNCTAD,
OCHA. ECE and OHCHE) as well as ICT, UNHCE, UNDP, UNICEF, WMO, UNV,
UNCCD, UNSCC and UNCC. The General Assembly approves amendments to the
Statutes. An Execufive Commiftee consisting of three members appointed by the
Director-General of the United Nations Office at Geneva, three members appomted by
the Co-ordmating Council of the United Nations at Geneva m consultation with
corresponding bodies of the specialized agencies affiliated to the UNSMIS and one
member appointed by the other six members, is responsible for approving the UNSMIS
accounts and management report.

104. In accordance with Arficle 11 of the Statute, persons msured by UNSMIS shall pay
monthly contributions, the amownt of which shall be fixed by its Intemnal Fules. The
UNFCCC, or other UNSMIS affiliated organizations, shall contribute to the UNSMIS
fimds through the payment of a subsidy, the proportion of which in relation to staff
member confributions shall be fixed by the Director-General of the United Nations Office
at Geneva within the limits of the relevant credited voted by the General Assembly of the
United Nations. The ASHI liability calculation also melude staff members who contribute
to other United Nations insurance plans and accrue ebigibility for after-service health

INSUrance.

105. Repatriation grant and travel: In accordance with UN Staff Fules and Staff
Fegulations, non-locally recruited UNFCCC staff are entitled to a grant calculated based
on length of services and family status on separation from service if they have completed
at least one year of service outside their home country. In addition, nen-locally recnuted
UNFCCC staff are entitled to reimbursement of travel and transport of personal effects
on separation for themselves, their spouse and their dependent children.

L]
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106. Annmal leave: In accordance with UN Staff Fules and Staff Regulations, UNFCCC
staff may acoummlate anmoal leave of up to 60 working days which is payable on
separation from service.

107. Death benefit inclndes hmp-sum benefits to be paid in the event of the death in
service of an official with a long-term confract whe left a dependent spouse or child. In
line with the accoumting practice of the UN sectetanat, this liability 15 no longer recorded
as a long-term employee benefit hability.

108. Home leave: Non-locally recruited UNFCCC staff is entitled to reimbursement for
the costs of travel to their home country in the second year after their initial appointment
and thereafter, every second year. The labiity recorded has been calculated
proportionately reflecting the mmber of months relates to the value of home leave
entitlements that have been eamed by officials since themr last entitlement but not taken at

the reporting date.
109. US taxes: American cifizens that are UNFCCC staff members are reimbursed for
the amount of income taxes payable on the compensation they eam from the organization.

110. An actuanial valuation as at 31 December 2022 camied out n 2023 has been utilized
to determine the UNFCCC’s estimated liability and expenses recognized on the
Statements of Financial Performance and Financial Position for repatnation grants and
travel, accunmilated anmal leave and after-service health insurance at the reporting date.
For 2022, the actuanal study was conducted as a roll-forward of the actuanal valuation of
the End-of-Service schemes as at 31 December 2021.

111. Each year, the UNFCCC reviews and selects assumptions and methods that will be
used by the actuanes in the valuation to deternune the expense and confnbution
requirements for the UNFCCC’s after-service medical care plans and separation benefit
plans. The discount rate is determuined by calculating the expected benefit payments for
each fuure year attnbutable to past service as of the valuation date and then discounting
these benefit payments using spot rates for high quality corporate bonds. A single
equivalent discoumt rate was then determined that resulted in the same past service
obligation.

112. The following assumptions and methods have been used to determune the value of
after-service medical care liabilities for the UNFCCC at 31 December 2022.

Table 24
Kev financial assumptions

Reparriation
ASHT Grant & Travel Annual Leave
Dizcount rate at beginning of period 0.19% T 68% 2. T70%
Discount rate at end of period 2 06% 5.09% 5.10%
General inflation rate at beginning of period 3 20%
General inflation rate at end of period T 20%
Salary increases rate at beginning and end of Based on the age of staff member calculated
period separately for professional and general service staff

Healthcare cost trend rate at beginning of period 3.75% decreasing to 3.75% no downturn

Healthcare cost wend rate at end of period 5.20% decreasing to 4.15% in eleven years

113. The following assumptions were utilized by the actuary in determining the maturity
profile of the defined benefit obligations at 31 December 2021:

114. ASHI scheme: fill elighility is achieved onoe the staff member’s peniod of service
reaches 10 years i duration (3 years if hired before 01.07.2007) and once he/she reaches
35 years old.

115. Repatnation benefits: historically, for disclosure purposes it has been assumed that
full ehzibality 15 achieved from the time when the staff member’s period of service reaches

2 years.
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116. Anmual leave: istorically, for disclosure purpose it has been assumed that full
eligibility is achieved from the time when the staff member has acoummlated 60 days of
leave, 1.2. once the maximim of benefits has been accummulated.

117. The principal financial asmumptions in the valuation of the defined benefit
obligations are the rate at which medical costs are expected to merease m the fufure and
the discoumt rate curve, which 15 caleulated on the basis of corporate bonds. The sensifivity
analysis looks at the change in liability due to changes in the medical cost trend rates and
discount rate. The sensitivity analyses below are based cn a change in cne assumption
while holding all other assumptions constant In practice, this 15 umlikely to ocour as
changes in some of the assumptions may be comelated When calculating the sensifivity
of the defined benefit obligation to significant assumphions, the same method has been
applied as when calculating the pension hability recognized in the statement of financial
position. Should the discoumt rate or the medical cost trend assumption vary by 0.5 per
cent, this would affect the measurement of the defimed-benefit obligations as follows:

Table 25
Impact of change in medical health care cost trend rate
(Thousands of United States dollars)

Motes to the Ezancial sxtemants

Ajfter service
heaith
Change ImIurance
On total defined benefit obligation 0.50% 20 013
(0.50)% (17 601)
On current service cost and interest cost component of 0.50% 1728
liability (0.50)% {1 437)
Table 26
Impact of change in discount rates assumptions and duration
(Thousands of United States dollars)
ASHI PBepatriation Grant Annual Leave
Liability = Change in Liability  Change in Liability  Change in
change Yo changze B changze S
Increase of discount rate by
0.5% (11 745) 1) (234) 4 (160) 4
Decrease of discount rate by
0.5% 13 370 13 145 4 167 4
Duration 25 9 [

118. The liahilities established for defined benefit oblizations and the net service costs
for 2021 are as follows:
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Table 27
Liabilities established for defined benefit obligations and the net service costs for 2022
(Thousands of United States dollars)

Reparriation
Grant & Annual
ASHT Travel Leave
Eeconcilintion of defined benefit obligation
Diefined benefit oblization, beginning of year 152 879 7010 4 825
Current service cost g 207 578 272
Interest cost 287 179 127
Benefits paid (net of participant contribution) {493} (554) [ 4463)
Liakility {zain)loss due to actnarial assumptions and
experience recognised in net assers (40 924) (12082) (B78)
Tatal liability recognized on Statement of Financial
FPosition 120 046 5 811 1083
Annual expense for calendar vear
Current service cost 8207 578 72
Interest cost 287 179 127
Benefits paid {net of participant contribution) ([ 493) [ 654) [ 443)
Taotal charge/{credit) recognized on statement of
financial performance 5081 103 (64)
Estimated benefit payments net of participant contributions
payable in 2022 G06 457 350
Cumulative amount of actuarial (gain)loss recognized in met assets
Liability {zain)/loss due to actmarial assumptions and
experience recognised in net assets 40924 1282 278

Total pertion of comulative liability recoznized in net
assets at end of vear 40924 1182 878

119. Effective 1 Jamuary 2018, a monthly accrual has been implemented to start funding
after-service health msurance habilities relating to extra budgetary activities. For thus
purpose, an accrual rate of 3 per cent is applied on the sum of gross salary and post
adjustment.

120. Under IPSAS 39: Employes benefit, the liabilities for ASHI repatriation grant and
travel and accummlated anmaal leave are considered imfimded and, therefore, no fair value
of plan assets has been recognized and the entire ASHT liability 1s recognized as a Labality
of the UNFCCC.

121. Begmmning in 2014 with the adoption of IPSAS, interest cost and current service cost
related to the defined benefit obligation for ASHI liability, repatnation grant and travel
and acommlated anmual leave are recognized on the statement of financial performance
as a compenent of personnel expenditure. Actuarial gams or losses for defined benefits
plan results from changes in actuanal assumptions or experience adjustments includng
experience adjustments are directly recognized in the consclidated statement of changes
in net assets. The balance of each provision is reviewed anmually and adjusted to reflect
actual experience.

122, Short-term employee benefit liabibties for education grants and home leave are
recogmized at an undiscounted amount. Short-term compensated absences are recognized,
as employees eam their entiflement to firture compensated absences through rendering a
service to the UNFCCC. For non-accunmlating compensating absences an expense is
recognized when the absence cccurs.

123, During 2022, UNFCCC accrued USD 0.7 million for repatmiation grant and travel
and USD 136 mullion for ASHI from all fimds except the core budeget and the
infernational transaction log udget. These amounts are collected in the fimd for employee
benefits and will be used to (partially) fimd fishure payment for ASHI and repatriation
grants relating to the fimds participating in the accrual. Based on the total liability for
ASHI of USD 120 mullion and USD 5.8 million for repatnation grant and the overall
accrued amounts of USD 6.5 million for ASHI and USD 3.1 mullion for repatnation, the
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current fimding ratie amounts to 5.7 per cent for the ASHI and 53 per cent for repatnation
grant liability. For 2022, the estimated amounts for accmal imder ASHI and repatmiation
are USD 1.3 mullien and TSD 0.5 mullion respectively.

124. Based on the staffing ratio as at 31 Dec 2022, 37.3 per cent of the total ASHI and
repatmiation liability equalling TUSD 47.0 mullion relates to core budget fimded positions
while 62.6 per cent of the ASHI and repaimation Labibity comespondmg to USD 78.8
mullicn relates to non-core fimded positions :

United Nations Joint Staff Pension Fund (UNJSPF)

25. UNFCCC 15 a member organization participating in the United Nations Joint Staff
Pension Fund (the “Fumd”), which was established by the United Nations General
Assembly to provide retirement, death, disability, and related benefits to employees. The
Fund is a fimded. multi-employer defined benefit plan. As specified n Article 3(b) of the
Regulations of the Fimd membership m the Fund shall be open to the specialized agencies
and to amy other infemational. intergovernmental crganization which participates i the
common system of salaries, allowances and other conditions of service of the United
Nations and the specialized agencies.

126. The Fund exposes parficipating orgamzations to actuanal nsks associated with the
current and former emplovees of other organizations participating in the Fund, with the
result that there is no consistent and reliable basis for allocating the cbligation, plan assets
and costs to individual crganizations participating m the Fund UNFCCC and the Fund
mn line with the other participating crgamizations i the Fumd, are not m a position to
identify UNFCCC’s proportionate share of the defined benefit obligation, the plan assets
and the costs associated with the plan with sufficient reliability for accounting purposes.
Hence, UNFCCC has treated this plan as if it were a defined contribution plan in line with
the requirements of [IPSAS 39, Employee Benefits. UNFCCC’s conmbutions to the Fund
durng the financial period are recogmzed as expenses in the Statemeent of Fmancial
Performance.

127. The Fund’s Regulations state that the Pension Board shall have an actuaral
valuation made of the Fund at least once every three years by the Consulting Actuary.

The practice of the Pension Board has been to carry out an actuarial valation every two
years using the Open Group Aggregate Method The prmary purpose of the actuanial
valuation is to determine whether the current and estimated firture assets of the Pension
Fund will be sufficient to meet its hiabilities.

128. UNFCCC's financial obligation to the UNISPF conmsists of ifs mandated
conmhutixm, at the rate established by the United Nations General Assembly (currently
at 7.9 per cent for participants and 158 per cent for member organizations) together with
anyy share of any actuanal deficiency payments wmder Article 26 of the Regulations of the
Fund. Such deficiency payments are only payable if and when the United Nations General
Assembly has invoked the provision of Article 26, following determination that there is a
requirement for deficiency payments based on an assessment of the actuarial sufficiency
of the Fund as of the valuation date. Each member organization shall contribute to this
deficiency an amount proportionate to the total contributions which each paid dunng the
three years preceding the valuation date.

129, The latest actuarial valuation for the Fumd was completed as at 31 December 2021,
and a roll forward of the participation data as at 31 December 2021 to 31 December 2022
will be used by the Fund for its 2022 financial statements.

130. The actuanal valuation as of 31 December 2021 resulted mn a funded ratio of
actuarial assets to actuanal babilities of 117.0% (107.1% i the 2019 valuation). The
fimded ratic was 138.2% (144.4 % i the 2019 valuation) when the current system of
pension adjustments was not taken inte account.

131. After assessing the actuanal sufficiency of the Fund the Consulting Actuary
concluded that there was no requirement, as at 31 December 2021, for deficiency
payments under Article 26 of the Regulations of the Fund as the actuanal value of assets
exceaded the actuanial value of all accrued hiabilifies under the plan. In additon, the
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market value of assets also exceeded the actuanal value of all accrued Liabilities as of the
valuation date. At the time of this report, the General Assembly has not invoked the
provision of Article 26.

132. Should Article 26 be mvoked due to an actuanal deficiency, either during the
ongoing operation or due to the termmation of the UNJSPE pension plan, deficiency
payments required from each member organization would be based upon the proportion
of that member organization’s contributions to the total conmbutions paid to the Fund
during the three years preceding the valuation date. Total contributions paid to the
UNISFF during the preceding three years (2019, 2020 and 2021) amoumted to USD
£.505.27 million, of which 0.28 per cent was conmbuted by UNFCCC.

133, During 2022, UNFCCC’s contributions paid to UNJSPF amounted to USD 8.5
million (2021 USD 7.9 million). Expected contributions due m 2023 are USD 8.5 million.

134. Membership of the Fumd may be terminated by decision of the United Nations
General Assembly, wpon the affirmative recommendation of the Pension Board A
proportionate share of the total assets of the Fund at the date of tenmination shall be paid
to the former member orgamization for the exclusive benefit of its staff who were
participants m the Fund at that date, pursuant to an arrangement mutually agreed between
the organization and the Fund. The amount is determined by the United Nations Joint
Staff Pension Board based on an actuanal valuation of the assets and liabilities of the
Fund on the date of termination; no part of the assets which are in excess of the habiliies
are included in the amount.

135, The United Nations Board of Auditors carmies out an anmual andit of the UNJSPF
and reports to the UNJSFF Pension Board on the audit every year. The UNJSPE publishes
quarterly reports on its investments and these can be viewed by visiting the UNJSFF at
www.umjspforg.

Note 13: Provisions

Table 28
Provisions
(Thousands of United States dollars)

3! December 2022 31 December 2021
Provision for legal cases o o
Total 0 0

136. Atyear end, UNFCCC had no pendme cases with the Unifed Nations Admimstrative
Trbumal

Note 14: Other current liabilities

Table 28
Other current liabilities
{Thousands of United States dollars)

31 Dacember 2022 i1 December 2021
Other Liabilities 1878 746
Total 1878 746

Note 15: Revenue

137. Indicative contributions are contributions received from Parties to the Convention,
the Eyoto Protocol and the Paris Agreement to fimd the core tudget and the Infernational
transaction log under the Financial Procedures, based on the United Nations scale of
assessment adjusted for differences In membership. The contributions are based on a
biemnium budget and are recognized as of the first day of the year to which they relate.
Indicative contributions are considered fo be without conditions.

Motes to the Sxancial serements
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Table 30
Indicative contributions
(Thousands of United States dollars)

2022 2021

Core budget to the convention 34 851 35 781
Internationsl transaction log 767 1 205
Total 35 618 37076

138. The below table shows the top fen contmbutors to the indicative contributions
mcluding working capital adjustments requested from the parties.
Table 31

Top ten parties contributing to the core budget
(Thousands of United States dollars)

2022 FPar cont
United States of America o284 2590
China 4226 1183
Germany 3002 .44
Japan 3015 544
United Eingdom of Great Britain and NI 1 603 4.50
France 1558 436
Fussian Federation 1344 176
Iraly 1 165 3.26
Republic of Eorea 930 .60
Eurcpean Union E72 144

139. Vohmtary contribuirtions are recognized as revenue at the point of signature except
where such agreement contains a condition in which case recognition as revemue is
deferred umtil the conditions specified in the donor agreement have been satisfied.

Table 32
Voluntary contributions
(Thousands of United States dollars)

2022 2021
Voluntary contribution to the core budger 271 1002
Participation tmst fund 1982 1509
Trust fund for supplementary activities 20 506 19 138
Special annual contribution from the host country 3 031 7108
Special acconnt for activities for conferences 5 838 4388
Total 40 228 30 723
140. Fee income includes charges for the Clean Development Mechanism (CDM) and
Joint Implementation (JI).
Table 33
Fee Income
(Thousands of United States dollars)
2022 2021
CDM fees 32072 22 504
Total 10T 12 804

141. From 2021, mcome to finance the admimistration of CDM processes consists of
accreditation fees and fees to be charged at issuance of certified emission reductions
(CERs) (share of proceeds) to cover administrative expenses:
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{2}  The accreditation fee for the application for accreditation or reaccreditation
of an entity 1s USD 15,000;

(b}  The share of proceeds to cover administrative expenses are:
(@} USD 0.10 per CER issued for the first 15 000 tonnes of CO2
equivalent for which issuance is requested in a given calendar year;
{n) USD 020 per CEF. 1ssued for any amount mn excess of 15 000 tonnes
of CO2 equivalent for which 1ssuance is requested in a given calendar year;
(i) No share of proceeds are required for activities hosted in least

developed countries.
Table 34
Interest revenue
31 December 2022 il December 2021
Inwestment income — Interest earnad 4008 1030
Total 4008 1030

142. Services in kind are not recognised in the face of the financial statements.

143. Gan/loss on foreign exchange represent gams realized on fransachions ocoumng m
currencies other than United States dollars and umrealized losses resulting from
revaluation of monetary assefs.

Note 16: Expenses

Table 33
Expenses
(Thousands of United States dollars)

2022 2021

Perzonne] expenditure 58 462 56 300
Travel 12 418 5721
Contractual services 24 239 20733
Operating expenses 6303 2150
Orther expenszes 4405 40135
Depreciation of equipment 133 110
Amoertization of intangible assets 171 176
Fetm/transfer of donor funding 20273 S654
Loss on foreizn exchange and investments 6013 7 663
Total 132 507 B3 551

144, Personnel expenditure meludes all infernational and national staff expenses such as
salamies, post adjustments, enfiflements, pension, and health plan contmbutions for
professional and general service category staff. It also includes temporary staff expenses
such as costs relating to the employment of temporanies and supermmmeranes. Pension
and insurance benefits also include the service and mferest cost as per the actuanal
valuation.

Table 36
Personnel expenditure
(Thousands of United States dollars)

3] December 2022 31 December 2021

Salary and wages 34 414 33 200
Pension and insurance benefits 18 719 18 284
Oither benefits 5318 4116

Tatal 58 462 56 309
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145. Travel covers the cost of airfare and other transport cost, daily support allowances
and terminal allowances.

146. Contractual services nclude cost of acquinng goods and services from commercial
providers, mamly for IT related and consultancy services for different service penods.

147. Operating expenses mclude cost of mamtenance, rent, compmmications, joint
activities and other operating expenses.

148. Other expenses melude allowances for doubtful debts, cost for inter-agency and
meeting related expenses as well as write-offs.

149, Pursuant to rule 106.7(a) of the financial Regulations of the United Nations, write-
off cases totallimg USD § 390 were processed for the year 2022 for long outstanding travel
related advances paid to participants to UNFCCC events for prior years. These advances
were deemed imeollectible and subsequently written off

130. Retums of donor fimding includes the amounts of umspent fiunds retumed to donors
upon completion of vohmtary fimded projects in accordance with the respective donor
agreement.

Note 17: Reserves

131. A reserve is established for the core budeet and the budget of the Intematicnal
transaction log as part of the adoption of the budget by the COP. For the CDM trust fimd.
a reserve of USD 45.0 nullion has been established The total reserves at the reporting
date amount to USD 494 million. The Appendix D to the Staff Rules covers staff
members for work related death mjury or illness atmbutable to the performance of
official duties on behalf of the Umted Nations for which UNFCCC maintams a

cormresponding reserve.

Table 37
Eeserves as at 31 December 2022

Thouzand USD

Rezerves for core bndget and ITL 2 927
CDM trust fund reserve 45 000
Beserve for Appendiz D 1475

Total reserves 40 403

Note 15: Fund Accounting and Segment Reporting

132, The UNFCCC 15 a single purpose entity established by the Parties to the Convention
and the United Nations as the joint technical cooperation agency for business aspects of
trade development. The UNFCCC has one major mandate to assist the signatories of the
UN Framework Convention on Climate Change to lmt average global temperature
mncreases and the resulting climate change, and to cope with whatever mmpacts are
mevitable n part through enforcing the legally binding emussion reduction targets
established n the Kyoto Protocol. It, therefore, does not have segments as defined under
IPSAS.

133. However, to provide essenfial information to semor management and owners on the
utilization of resources by fimding source, separate fimds have been established to reflect
the major fimding sowrces of UNFCCC as follows:

(#)  Trust fimd for the Core Budget of UNFCCC financed from mdicative
contnbutions (or general-purpose contributions from doners) supperts the core fimections
of the secretariat;

(&) Trust fimd for the Participation m the UNFCCC process financed from
vohmtary conmbutions supports participation of representatives from eligible developing
country Parties and Parties with economies in fransition in the sessions of the Conference
of the Parties and ifs subsidiary bodies;

Motes to the fmancial strtaments
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(¢} Tmust fimd for Supplementary activities financed from vohmtary
confnbutions mehiding both bilateral fimds mvelving the UNFCCC, a donor and often a
recipient government and programmes to which pmltiple donors make vehmtary
confnbutions supperts mandated activities for which provisions are not made under the
Core budget;

{d) Trust fimd for the Clean Development Mechamsm financed from fees
charged for registration of projects support the adounistration of the clean development
mechanism enabling parties to meet their enission limitation and reduction commitments
by using cerified emission reductions (CEEs) generated from CDM projects;

(e} Trust fimd for the Intemational tramsactions log (ITL) financed from
indicative contributions (or general-purpose contributions from donors). The ITL to venfy
the validity of transactions imdertaken by natonal remstnes of Parties of Annex B of the
Convention and CDM registry. The ITL takes a central role between registries and is an
essenfial component of the settlement infrastructure for emissions trading under the Kyoto
Protocol;

(fi  Trust fimd for the Special Anmal Contribution from the Government of
Gemany financed from a voluntary conmbution from the govemment in which the
UNFCCC headquarters 15 located Fimds are used to finance the logistical amangements
of events taking place m Germany mecluding workshops and sessions of the subsidiary
bodies;

{g)  Special account for Programme Support Costs financed from charges made

to the activities under all operational fimds used to manage the overhead charges payable
on all trust fimds to cover costs relatmg to administrafive services;

(h)  Special account for conferences and other recoverable costs financed from
volhmtary confributions wsed to finance costs associated with the hosting of the
Conference of the Parties umder the host country agreement. Balances m this account are
refinded to the host country;

{1}  Cost recovery fimd financed from charges made to the activities financed
from indicative and vehmtary contributions;
{j)  End of service and post employee benefits fimd not currently financed.

134, Programme Support Fevenue is charged in line with the UN financial procedures
where UNFCCC charges a standard programme support cost rate of 13 per cent on
expendifures ncwrred. For associate experts and Evropean Commission funded projects,
the rate vanes from 7 per cent to 13 per cent.

135, All fimds elimmation includes revemne and expense arising from transfers between
fimds which are accounted for at cost and are elimmated on consolidation.
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Table 38
Statement of financial position by fund
(Thousands of United States dollars)

Kot to the Financial Strtemcat

Special account

F Jor conferences Special accounr
Trust find for ution from Trussfund for  Truse fund for and other  far LNFOOC
the core budger the Government Sunplementarythe Intermarional recaverabie PTOETEMME
ol LNFCCC Drocess of Germany. Ac; ransaction Log Support costs Cost Recgvery |l
ASSETS
Current Assefs
Cash and cash equivalents 12158 2673 628 17 13 1109 1335 431 1345
Short-term investments 48778 10723 23511 107 5430 4440 1022 5354 1730 5306
Indicative contributions
receivable 11 363 62
Voluntary contributions
receivable 5 7 565
Other receivables 445 285 35 36 468 51 184 1113
(Other current assets 511 674 (] 9 61 oo 1548 103 5378
Total current assets 1 804 i3 N7 3130 177 3717 1843 8186 1450 6741 194 767
Non-carrent assets
Other receivables 4163
Long-term investments 13 821 5102 1121 5 26 334 1134 405 23503 838 1613
Property, plant and squipment 42 95 18 100 36
Infangible assets B 13
Total non-current assefs 13 21 3234 11 147 30835 1154 617 2420 838 1613 g9 009
TOTAL ASSET3S 35 515 30 951 4371 315 109 626 T8T1 1 460 10 915 3138 9388 164 676
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payahbles and accruals 1548 003 3 1 663 1] 240 12 538 7815
Advance receipts 7542 265 18414 172 29 767
Employee benefits 186 5 123 12 127 1 1401 2418
Provisions 0
Other curzent liabilities 1878 1878
Total current liabilities 10 375 4273 1768 8 12 081 174 840 140 518 1 401 41 888
Non-carrent liabilities
Employee benafits 4 20 1e 4 115 448 128 487
Advance receipts
Total non-current liabilities 4 20 10 4 118 440 128 407
TOTAL LIABILITIES 10378 4 193 1768 L] 11 100 74 a4 153 13 112 850 170 385
NET ASSETS
Accumulated
surpluses/(deficits) 30135 23 426 1603 316 87 526 74325 1 620 10 662 2570 (120 285)
Haserves 45 000 4 231 171
TOTAL NET ASSETS 75 135 16 658 1 603 316 87 516 7587 1 620 10 662 2670 (120 285)
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND
NET ASSETS/EQUITY 85 515 a0 951 437 315 109 626 7871 1 460 10915 3188 9388 164 676
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Table 39
Statement of financial performance by fund
(Thousands of United States dollars)

Trust fund for the Special account
Trust fiind for Truss find for  Truse fhnd for ~ Special dnnal Truzt find for for conferencer Special account
the Clean the core participation in Comgribution from Truss fund for the and other  far UNFOCC
develaoment budeergf  the UNFCOCCrie Government of Supplementar  International recoverabie Frogramme
mechanizm LNFCOC Process Garmany ¥ Activities Tranzaction Log SUBBOTT COSET TOTAL
REVENUE
Indicative contributions 34851 767 35618
Voluntary centributions & 1982 1031 29 306 5838 40128
CDM and IT service fees 30m 30m
Interest Revenue 1553 312 76 14 1570 124 56 118 48 126 4008
Gain on forsign exchange
Other'miscellaneous revenue 5 05 4 () (8) 3 7182 1857 (% 008) 746
E support income 10059 {10 058) 1
TOTAL REVENUE 33 616 36 048 1763 1049 alome 892 5838 10180 7240 1983 (10 066) 11167
EXPENSES
Personnel expenditure 8139 21382 13 786 2100 501 1536 8 764 3143 8175 {1857) 58 442
Travel 774 1887 3497 0 4078 4 2084 39 § 11418
Contractual services 1314 4133 3 705 14 857 587 2342 503 3263 160 (3730) 24238
Cperating expenses 24 109§ 10 4100 2 234 20 862 6393
Other expenses 3 104 3035 22 263 14335 34 834 1458 55 1 (3422) 4205
Depreciation of equipment 17 31 10 &5 a 133
Amomization of infangible
ansets 162 9 171
Remum/transfer of
donor’CDM Trust Fund 20 000 173 201273
Less on foreign exchange 1199 3154 3 41 087 118 53 113 7 100 6013
Programme support 1485 3 661 420 18 3818 153 m (10 058) [}
TOTAL EXPENSES 36 075 36124 4134 21115 39 030 1419 59051 10027 TN F445 (10 066)
ToTAL (2 449) (76} 1371) (56} {7 260} (516) (63) (747) (114) {8 463) (19 838)

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT})
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Note 19: Budget Comparison and Eeconciliation

156. UNFCCC's budget 15 prepared on a modified cash accounting basis and the
financial statements are prepared on a fill accrual basis in accordance with IPSAS. The
budgets are adopted on a biennial basis and divided into annual amounts for presentation
m the financial statement. Compansen of tudget and actual amovmts compares the final
budget to actual amounts calculated on the same basis as the corresponding tudgetary
appropriations. The comparison is cnly made in respect of budgets adopted by the COP
and CMP as per IPSAS 24,

157. The actual amounts presented on a comparable basis to the budget are not prepared
on a comparable basis to the Statement of Financial Performance. A reconciliation of
the budgetary amoumnts to the amounts presented on the financial statements, identifying
separately any basis and entity differences is presented n table 40. There may also be
differences in formats and classification schemes adopted for presentation of financial
statements and the budget.

158. Basis differences capture the differences resulting from preparing the budget on a
modified cash basis. In order to reconcile the budgetary results to the net results on an
IPSAS basis the non-cash elements such as unliquidated obligations, payments against
prior year obligations and outstanding mdicative confributions are mcluded as basis
differences.

159, Presentation differences are differences in the format and classification schemes m
the Statement of Fmancial Performance and the Statement of Companson of Budget and
Actual Amounts.

160. Entity differences represent fimds other than Core budget, International
Transactions Log and Contingent budget for conference services that are reported in the
Statement of Financial Performance.

161. The reconciliation between the actual amoumts presented in statements V-A, V-B
and V-C and the actual amomts presented on the Statement of Fmancial Performance
15 as follows.

Table 40
Eeconciliation of net result on budgetary and IPSAS basis

Reconciliation of net result on budeetary and IPSAT basis Thousand USD
Actual net result on the Statement of budgets to actual comparizon

Statement V-A Core Budget 3 706
Statement V-B International Transaction Log (503)

Statement V-C Contingent budget of conference services

Actunal net result on budgetary basis 3102

Basis differences

Additional income components under IPSAS 452
Exchange gains/losses (3 366)
Conversion of nnliguidated obligations to delivery principle (297
Capitalization of equipment & intangible assets (17
Changes in provision for doubtful debis (57T)
Sub-total basis differences (3 504)
Entity differences on IP5AS Basis
Trust fund for participation in UNFCCC process {1371
Trust fund for supplementary activities {7 960
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Reconciliation of net resuit on budgetary and IPSAS basis Thousand USD
Trust fund for the Clean development mechanism (2 449)
Trast fund for the Special Anoual Contribution from the Government of
Germany (64)
Special account for conferences and other recoverable costs (63)
Special account for UNFCCC programme support costs (747)
Cost Recovery (1143
UWMFCCC employee liabilities fund (6 463)

Sub-total entity differences (19 233)
Actual net result on the Statement of Financial Performance {19 835)

Note 20: Budget to Actual variance analysis

162. Explanations of material differences between the origmal budget and final budget
and the actual amounts are presented in the budget performance report for biennm
2022-2023 by the Executive Secretary accompanying these statements. See paragraph
18-21 for further details.

Note 21: Related Parties

163. Except otherwise noted in these statements for revemue from non-exchange
transactions meluding contibutions in kind. all transactions made with 3rd parties ocour
within & normal supplier or client'recipient relationship or at arm's length terms and
conditions.

164. The Orgamization reimburses the Umted Nations for the cost of all services

provided at such rates as may from time to time be agreed upon for that purpose by both
organizations.

165. The charges paid to the United Nations (UN Office at Geneva — UNOG) of USD
0.4 million for services related to secumty, payroll, treasury and other services are
considered to be provided on a normal supplier basis.

166. The authority to establish fimds is vested in the Secretary General of the United
Nations with the approval of the Conference of the Parties. All such fimds mmst be
consistent with the objectives of the UN Convention on Climate Chanze The
termmation of any existing find by the Conference of the Parties and the distnbution of
any remaining fund balance is subject to consultation with the Secretary General of the
United Nations.

Table 41
Summary of senior management and related compensation

Questanding advances at 31

Aggregare remuneration Dac 2022 {Tn thousands gf
Number af individuals (in thouzand: ¢f USDY sn)
14 2848 191
167. Durmg 2022, two individuals of semor management left the crganization and two
Joined.

168. The semior management persomnel of UNFCCC are the Executive Secretary,
Deputy Executive Secretary, Semior Directors of the departments and Directors of
divisions, who have the authonty and respomsibility for planning, directing, and
controllng the activities of UNFCCC and mfluencing its strategic direction.

169. Advances are those made agamnst enfilements in accordance with the staff miles
and regulations. There were no loans granted to key management personnel.
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Note 22: Leases, commitments, and contingencies
170. Commitments relating to acquisition of goods and services contracted for, but not

dehvered as at 31 December 2022 amowunt to 4.5 USD malhion (USD 6.3 million in
20217, Details are shown in the table below.

Table 42
Contractual Commitments by Category
(Thousand: of United States dollars)

31 December 2022 31 December 2021

Goods and services 4 051 5 500
Travel related commitments 408 712
Total 4 549 6 302

71. There are no contingent liabilities ansmg from legal actions and claims that are
lLikely to result in a sigmficant hiabality to UNFCCC.

72. There are no contingent assets of which relate fo official pledges made by donors
to UNFCCC for fuure confmbutions at the reporting date.

Note 23: Events after the reporting date

73. UNFCCC’s reporting date is 31 December 2022, The financial statements were
authorized for issue on 31 March 2023, the date at which they were submitted to the
External Auditor. On the date of signing these accounts, there have been no material
events, favourable or wnfavourable, incurred between the reporting date and the date
when the financial statements were authonized for issue that would have mpacted these
statements.

Note 24: In-kind contributions of services

74, The UNFCCC receives in-kind contmbutions from the govemment of the Federal
Fepublic of Germany of the right to use land office space and other faciities in its
operaticns. The Organization has not received title to these properties which remain with
the government. The facilities are provided to UNFCCC without charge. The agreement
umder which the facilities are provided does not entail formal cancellation policies or
timelines. UNFCCC does not recognize the value of m-kind contmbutions of services
mchiding the financial value of the donated night to use the faciliies provided by the
Federal Republic of Germany on the financial statements. In addiion, UNFCCC
receives conference services (imterprefation and document preparation} as m-kind
contribution for the UN secretariat for meeting of the COP and the subsidiary bodies.
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